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INTRODUCTION.

Tu the fourth and (fth decades of the wineteentl century the portion
of the eonst of New Zealand extending from Hicks Hay to
Hawke’s Bay, about 140 miles in length, and now comprised in the counties
of Waiapn, Cook and Wuiren, was comuwonly known the whalers ail
s who frequented it as ©¢The Hust Const, ' and this is the region with
ieh the following vewiniseences are wore fnmediatel; . The
trict is very hilly, the rnges near the coast virying from 200 or 300 fees
to an altitule of over 2000 feet, the highest point jn this part of the island
Teing Mount Hikurangi, which reaches nearly 6000ft. The population wa
to e fonnd generally within a short distanee of the coast, though in a few
favournble loealitics it estended as far as 20 or 30 miles inlamd, the
mountainons prts of the Suterior being altogether without inbabitants,
except that there were fortificd stronghold: places difticult of aeeess, to
which people might retreat whon hardpressed by an eneny.  Accarding
10 the cemsus of 1911 the native population of this district is 6356, but in
the early part of last ceatury theve were probably at least fonr times s
many. As an illustration we may note that the number of males above
ge of fifteen in the whole of the distriet is mow given as 2567,
in 1834 1w pas in the Waiapn Valley, Rangitukin and Whaka-
whitira, taken together, were said to muster no less than 2560 fighting men,

\irow in

COnmeete

In this, a5 in other parts of the eountry, the various tribes were
very frequently at war cither with one another or with distant trib
fends which involved the loss of many lives often deriving their origin
from cireumstances of the most trivial character. Cannibalism was oo
infrequent feature of these wars, the vietors usnally resorting to it as o
method of emphasising their rovenge.  Large numbers, too, of the
vanquishied were carried off as slaves, many of whom were linhle to be
Killed and caten hy the near relations of any chicf of the conquering trile
who might haye fallen in hattle.

Owing to the general fecling of inseeurity, the people of each
Toeality lived in or near a pa, fortified with carthworks and stout palisading,
It was & comparatively easy mattor, therefore, in the early years of the
Mission to get together five hundred or a thousand people, whereas now it
is rurcly possible to assemblo more than 40 or 50, unless somé special
business has Drought people togother from & distanec.

Thore ix no ehvions eonmcetion hetween the intertribal quarrels of
qori people and the British penal scttlements in Australasia; ot
fets had o

the
nevertheless it is n faet that some of the Tasmanian eon
unimportant share in the eirenmstances which led immediately to the raids
of the Ngapuhi of the Bay of Islands on the trihes of the Fast Coast. In
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the 1803 or 1804, as we learn from tho Rev. S. Marsden, a brig called the
Venus was taken possession of by the eonviets at Port Dalrymple, in
Tasmania, and was brought by them to New Zealand. Touching at the
wocth point of the North Island they carried off two women, one of whom
was a sister of a chief at the Bay of Islands, named Te Morenga, and the
other a near relative of the celebrated warrior, Hongi. These women wera
afterwards landed by them, one near Tauranga and the other somewhere
south of the Enst Cape, where they were ultimately killed and caten by
the people of those parts. Their relatives, on hearing of their fate, mady
cnquiries, and when they had ascertained tho facts determined to take their
revenge.  But, owing possibly to the urgeney of matters nearer home, it
was mot until 1818 that any attempt was made to put their design into
cxecution. In January of that year, T Morenga set sail in a floet of
canoes with 400 men and he was followed in February by Hongi, who
called on his way at Hauraki, where a chief named Te Haupa made up his
foree to 900. Both these parties were well supplied with firc-arms, the lack
of which placed the Ngatiporon noar the East Coast at a terrible dia-
advantage. These, conscious of their weaknoss were in great consterna-
tion, and took refuge in their fortified pas. They could not, however, hold
cut for long, the want of food and water soon compelling them to sur-
render. Large numbers were merei and many, i
to the custom of the time, were eaten by the vietors. Of the number of
the Killed there is no record, but the extent of the operations of the two
expeditions may e inferred from the fact that they are stated to have
taken hack with them to the Bay of Tslands about 2000 prisoners.®

Two years after this another expedition started from the Bay of
Islands under under two chiefs named Te Wera, or Hauraki, and Domare.
Landing first at Te Kawakawa, at the south (mouth?) of the river Awatere,
between Hicks Bay and the East Cnpo, they took the strongly fortified pa
on Te Whetu-matarau. From themce they procecded to Waiapu and to
various places along the const s far as Nukutanrua, near Table Cape. On
heir return they earried off forty prisoners, including Te Whareumu, a
chief of Nukutaurua, and Te Rangi-i-paca, a woman <f rank from Tokomaru,
whom Pomare took to wife.t

In 1823 a large force of Ngapuhi had been engaged in an attack on
the Arawa tribe in the Bay of Plenty, and had taken the island of Mokoin
in the Rotorna Lake, where a large number of the Arawa had taken refuge.
Te Wora and Pomare, instead of returning home at once, procceded to the
castward from Maketn, killing large numbers of people at various places
along the coast as far as Whangaparaon. From thence they paid a friendly
visit to Hicks Bay and Waiapu, Pomare bringing his wife, Te Rangi-i-paea.
to visit her relatives. Pomare returned from Tokomaru, but Te Wera came
on to Nukntaurna, bringing with him Te Wharemu, whom he restored to his
own people. At this timo Nukutaurna (or the Mahia Peninsula, as it is
now commonly ealled), was the refuge of a large mumber of the people
of Hawke’s Bay and of the coast to the south; Te Rauparaha, who, like the
Ngapuhi chiefs had been able to procure large quantities of firearms, having
driven the people northwards from Wairarapa. It will appear later on
how, under the over-ruling providenee of God, these sanguinary wars were
made subservient to the extension of the Kingdom of tho Prince of Peace.
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All tho tribes in this district, having suffered so severely at tha
hauds of the Ngapuli, turnod (heir attention, as soon as they had any
respite, to the acquisition of fircarms, that they might be in a position to
defond themselves in.future aghinst any such attacks as they had rocently
cxperienced,  Whaling ships appeared from time to time off the eoss,
the eaptains of which were always ready to purchase pigs and potatoes.
The natives were equally ready to sapply them if by this means they could
procure muskets and ammaonition.  The visits, however, of the whaling
ships were mot very frequent, aml u readier miethod of aequiring the
coveted articles soon presented itself.  The fibre of the phorminm tenas,
or New Zealand flas, the supetior quality of which for the manufacture of
rapes and cordage had heen made Known many years before hy Sir Joseph
Banks, came about that time to he in great demand. Mereantile firms in
Sydney placed agents in convenient positions to purchase the flax from ths
natives, and sent vessels from time to time to colleet it from the varions
stations that it might be placed on the British market. The trade attainesl
its greatest propostions in the year 1831, in which year 1062 tons wers
exported from Sydney, the Navy Board having contracted for the purehase
of 800 tons at the rate of £41 15s per ton. The trade with the natives was
a matter of barter, muskets and ammunition being the chicf commodity
reccived by them in exchange. The fibre in those days was all prepared by
hiand, and so eagerly did the peaple throw themselves into the business
that, for several years, the cultivation of erops and other occupations wero
¢ seriously negleeted. Tn the year 1830 Mo Montefinre and Co., 0f
dney. placed agents in various parts of the eountry, supplying them with
the needful stoek-in-trade for the purehase of flax. One of these, John
Williams Harris, was placed at Poverty Bay and was taken under the
protection of a chiof nanied Turangi. Mis occupation gave hin grens
influence with the peaple, nnd he used to speak of Nimself as having hoen as
that time ““Monarch practienlly of all ke surveyed.”” The building in
which lie lived and stored his goods was of the same unsubstantinl
character as those which the mnatives occupied, hut notwithstanding the
cager demand which there was on all sides for the articles which he hal
to dispose of, the rights of praperty were thoroughly respected. tor had he
exer any reason to complain of the treatment which he veeeived at the
hands of the people amouge whom he sojourned. They fully recognised the
privilege which they enjoyed in having a *‘Pakeha’ to trade with thom,
and were extremoly eareful not to do anything which mizht have the effeet,
of driving him away even though he might have done what under different
Tif T
w one day heating lis mather with o great stick.
cht blow to make

e deadd @ son aboit eight

cireumstances might have cost him b
venrs old whou Harris

Rhocked at sneh undutiful conduet he gave the hoy a sl

Winy desist, Upon this there arose o aogey elmour from all sides in whi

no one joined more lowdly than the v's mother., He had struek the

ehief’s son—au unpardonnhle offence.  Harris listened to the volomes of

wrath and indignation which were uttered by one and another, not knowing

what his fate might be. After much steam had heen blown off Turang
himself stood up and commented for some time on the gravity of the offence,
coneluding with n reference to the ignorance on the part of the Pakeha of
the respeet which was due ta the son of a great chief. “*What clse,”’ ho
said, **eould you expoect from an ignorant Pakeha?’” So the trouble ended
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After the year 1831 the flax trade secms to have declined rapidly,
and, in the course of a fow years, to have altogetlier ceased. The trade,
liowever, while it lasted, seryed to divert the attention of the natives from
the gri , real or imaginary, for which, a ing to their notions, it
was incumbent on them to seck satisfaction from offending tribes. But
these griovances eamo to the front again when the trado slackoned, and
probably assumed larger dimensions from the fact that the injured party
was now well supplied with the weapons by which satisfaction might he
obtained. There was at that time a feud of sowe standing between tho
Ngatiporon trihe of Waiapu and the Whanau-a-Apanui tribe which occupied
the castern portion of the Bay of Plenty. These people had been very
severely handled a few yoars before by the Ngapuhi of the Bay of Islands
under Pomare, and Jarge numbers of them slaughtered. This eircumstanes
would doubtless be regarded as an additional reason why the Ngatiporou
with their recently-nequired fircarms should infliet upon them further
punishment.  But before any definite steps were taken an event oeceurred,
the issues of which had an important bearing upon the introduetion of
Christianity.

An English whale ship, the *“Elizheth,” conmanded by Captain Black,
appeared off the const near the East Cape in April, 1833, The natives, as
usual, were cager to trade, and a canoe was soon alongside. While tho
cunoe was making u trip to the shore a chicf named Rukuata with soven
others remained on board to await her return. In the meantime a strong
breezo from the south sprang up, and Captain Black at once made sail for
the Bay of Tslands and landed his visitors at Rangihoua. The Ngapuhi
chiofs in the ncighborhood looked upon the unfortunate men us fair game
and were procceding to nppropriate them as slaves, when the missionarics
interfored and succoeded in inducing the ehiefs to allow them to be returned
to their own homies in the schooner *“Active " whieh helonged to the Mission.
It was arranged that the Rev. W. Williams and Mr. T. Hamlin should
accompany the natives on honrd the ¢ Active,” and they set sail neeordingly
from Rangihoun on April 30th. After arriving within a fow miles of their
destination they were driven hack by a violent gale from tho south-cast,
and arrived ut the Bay of Islands on May Sth, having soveral of their sails
tadly torn. Rukuata and his companions were then landed at Paikia to
await a more favourable opportunity, and during the nest eight month:
thoy recoived regular instruction from the missionaries. In the following
December the schooner «“Fortitude’ was chartered for the twofold purpose
of taking timber and stores to the newly-formed station at Puriri, on the
Thames, and of restoring Rukuata and his companions to their homes,
togather with a number of others who had been earried off hy Ngapuhi as
slaves in former yoars. The Rev. W, Williams again took charge of the
party and sailed on December 19th, Passengers and cargo having been
landed at Puriri. Hicks Bay was reached on Jamuary Sth, 1834. To the
great delight of the mative passengers a party of people on shore were
found to be their own relatives and friends. Those who had come in the
““Fortitude’” had wwch to tell their friends of their experiences at the Bay
of Islands and of the kind treatment which they had roceived from tho
missionaries.  On the following day they travelled to Waiapu, stopping at
Rungitukia, which was then o large pa said by the natives to contain as
many as 560 fighting men, though on this occasion many of them were
absent.  Another pa, Whakawhitira, about ten miles further up the valley,
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was visited next day. Here there were ahout 1000 perso:
ing about 400 cliildren, but the pa was unusually lurge and was said to
muster ahout 2000 fighting men.  On Sunduy, January 12th, Rukuata an
s friends made arrangements for gotting many as possible of the
peaple together nt Rangitukia to witness a Christion sorviee; and later in
the day a serviee was held also at Whakawhitira, this being the first Sundayv
S0 observed in this district.  Mr. Williams was much struck with the
demeanour of the peaple and with the promis onary
work which appeared to present itself, many of the people huving expressel
arnest desire that Christian teachers should come ta live among them.

present, inchud

-l

ng opening for m

in

Some three years after this a Ngapubi ehief who had roturned from
4 sajourn in the East Cape distriet called on the Kev, W. Williums ut
Wainate, and nsked how it was that no missionary was placed in that
district where the people were all eager for Christian instruction, and had
already begun to abstain from work on Sunday, and to worship th
Christian’s God in intention at least, if not with much understanding. On
enquiry it was aseertained that this state of things was owing to a Waiapy
man named Tamatakura, who had heen carried off hy the Ngapuhi as n
slave, and had lived with his ears at Waimate.  Ther:
e ind attended the mission sehool and had learned to read and write,
though he had never shown amy speeinl interest in Christinn  instenetion,
not even having heen a recagnised eatechumen, In December, 181
Rukuata and his companions were ahout to return to Wainpu, his
wnve him his freedom and allowed him to join the party. After his arrival
among his own people he hegan to impart to as wany as were willing
to Tearn as mueh of the new teaching as he was master of. His apparatus
was one of the simplest dese
liymus and a few texts of Seripture written on scraps of paper. Writin:
tablets were made of flay picces of wood well greased and dusted  with
ashes so that they conld he written on with a sharjipointed picee of stick.
1lis display of estraordinary knowledge made a groat impression upan his
neople. who looked upon him as a ““tohunga,’” wnd probably eredited him
with the possession of occult powers. It appears to have heen in 18:
that an espedition was organised hy the tribes south of the Fast Cape to
attack Tokakuku, a strong pa of Te Whanaua-Apansi, near Te Kaha, in
the Bay of Plenty. Taumataknra was urged to aecompany the expedition,
but wonld not eonsent to do ko until they agreed that there should he oo
cannibalism nor any wanton destruction of canoes or other property. At
Tokakuku he was in the thickest of the Aghting, and the fact that he eams
out of it unseathed was attributed to the proteetive influence of the new
God whom he professed to warship.  Heneo the adoption by his people
of the Christian practice of making Sunday a day of religions rest, anl
their desire for a missionary (o live samong thew,  This readiness (o adopi
the new religion was not, of course, devoid of superstition. A people whose
religious ohservances had hitherto consisted solely in the use of charms
ward off the ieflurnce of malignant spirits cauld not he expeeted
apprehend withont earcfnl and long-continued teaching the meaming of
prayer to a benevolent God whose tender mereies are over all His creatures;
nor could they have any notion of the nature of sin or of the need of
atonement. Tt is instructive, however. to notice how, under the providence
of God, even the Ngupuhi raids and the wars with neighbouring tribes
were made conducivo to the spread of the Gospel.

ter for some

ption.  ITe possessed somo shart prayers anil




In consequence of the information thus brought from the East Coast,
o short wisit was again paid to the district by the Rev. W. Williams in
company with Messrs. Colenso, Stack, and Matthews, in January, 1838,
The party was landed at Hicks Bay, and procceded overland to Poverty
Bay, visiting all the principal settlements on the way. They were warm'y
weleomed everywhere, as were also two ehiefs, who had comc with them as
an embassy of peace from Te Waharoa of Matamata. Many too and urgent
were the applications which were made to them for a resident missionary.

In the following Novemher, six well-instructed Christian natives who
belonged to this part of the country and were competent to do the work of
catechists, were brought from the Bay of Islands by the Rev. H. Williams,
three of whom were placed by him in the Waiapu district and three in
Poverty Bay.

It was afterwards arranged that the Rev, W. Williams should leavs
the school at Waimate, of which he had had the charge since 1835, to the
Iiev. R. Taylor, who had reeently joined the Mission, and should make his
headquarters somewhere on the East Coast. He visited his new sphere of
work with the Rev. R. Taylor, in April, 1839, and was very much struek
with the progress which had alrcady been made by the native catochists.
Everywhere, from Hicks Bay to Tablo Cape, tho people were found to be
most willing learners.  In some places buildings had alrendy been erceted
for the worship of God in which large congregations were in the habit of
assembling every Sunday, and frequent classes for special instruction in
Christian doctrine were very numerously attended. TIn the course of this
journey a site for a Mission station was fixed upon in Poverty Bay, within
a short distance of Orakainpu,} the large pa of the Rongowhakaata tribe,
the warriors from which, in 1769, marehed to Turanganui for the express
purpose of trying to take possession of Captain Cook’s ship, the Endeavour.
as she lay at anchor in the bay. The situation was a ecntral one, giving
casy access to Wainpu and Hicks Bay on the north, and to the Mahia
Peninsula and Hawke’s Bay on the south.

A NEW STATION. ¢
The Rev. W. Williams left Waimate with his family towards the
cnd of December, 1839, and arrived at Poverty Bay early in the following
January. On the oceasion of his visit a few months hefore, he had
arranged with the natives to have a building erected for his accommoda-
tion, and this had been done by them to the best of their ability. Tho
accommodation was of a very rough description, but this was o matter of
course in the formation of a mew mission station, and the very hearty
weleome accorded by the people was no slight compensation for the
inconvenience. The building was a mere shell without doors or windows
or interior partitions, the walls being constructed, according to native
custom, of raupo on a frame of wood, and the roof being thatched with
toetoe grass. The floor, which was formed by the soil on which the building
had been erceted, was found to be swarming with fleas. These resented
the intrusion of any invader and caused him to beat a hasty retreat. Tho
natives, however, had very cffeetive methods of their own for dealing with
the difficulty, and by the judicious application of fire and boiling water,

soon got rid of the vermin. Some of the requisites for making the house *
habitable had been brought from the Bay of Islands, but there was much
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to e done before these could he utilised.  The timler for the flooring and
otlier purposes was still growing in the neighbouring forest, and it had to be
cut and scasoned before it eould be applied to the various purposes for
which it was needed; much of the work toe, in the absence of professional
workmen must be done by the missionary himself, and all of it under his
superintendence. This work, which was neecssary to insure health and
bodily efficiency; eould, owing to cireumstances, o done only hy degrees.
and eansed little lindrance therefarc to elose intereourse with the people.
The three native teachers who had been placed by the Rev. L Williame
Poverty Bay in 1838 had now heen working there for rather more than
W year. As a result of their labours Mr. Williams found that the number
of people who were more or less regularly under instruction, notwithstanding
the diffienltics caused by the inadequate supply of books and other material
und the want of competent teachers in the various villages, was over 1500,
That they had worked to good purpose was shown by the account which
Mr. Williams gave of his first Sunday. ‘In anticipation of tho first
Sunday after our arrival, many strangers had come togother the previous
cvening, and at service the next day there was a congregation of at leas:
1000 persons. We assemblod in the open air, but the woathor was fine,
and the extreme uttention of this large body was a gratefnl commeneemnen:.
of missionary labour. At noon the matives again met for sehool, when
thete were five clusses of men, two numhering seventy each, one fifty, o
a hwundred and ten, ouc a hundred and fifty, besides the boys who were fifty
in mumber. The women were in two clisses, one of a hundred and fifty
and one of twelve. The last, with one of the men’s elasses of seventy,
read in the Testament; the rest, not heing nble to read, were instructed io
the catechism, the whole repeating the answer after the teacher.’’

In the eourse of about three months after his arrival, Mr, Willinms
visited the East Cape district, where the progress made hy the three men
who had heen placed there was oven morc striking thau that at Poverty
Bay. This may have been owing to assistanee receives from Tnumataknta
and others of the party who returned from the Bay of Islands in 1834,
The congregations in that district amounted to upwards of three thousand.
and, in most of tho villages, the people Lind sreeted buildings in which
they might assemble for roligions worship. Tn the course of that journev
thirty-nine persons were seleeted after due exnmination and admitted to the
Sacerament of Baptism, three of the numher being each ehicf of his own
hapu. This was ‘‘the first fruits of an abundant harvest which was to
follow.”’¢

Tn the following sprin vigit was paid to the Mahia Peninsula,
Wairon, and other parts of Hawke's Bay.  No regular teachers had as yet
heen placed in these parts, hut. as in the ease of the Ngatiporou near the
Hast Cape, the way for the preaching of the Gospel had heen paved by
liberated slaves from the north, one of whom had come from the Bay of
Tslands, and two from Rotorna. A considerablo number of the people had
already learned to read, thongh all the literature they had access to
consisted of a fow manuseript pravers and hymns copied from printed hooks,

and at one place therc was a regular congregation of ahout 500 who were
eager for definite Christian instruction. Three chiefs from the eentral part
of Hawke's Bay district had already manifested their own desire and thas
of their people for further instruction by coming overland to Poverty Bay,
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a distance of over 150 miles, and this was an indication of a disposition
which was found to be prevalent throughout the district. The supply of
teachers was by no means equal to the demand, but as soon as it couhl
e arranged some of the mare advanced of the converts in Poverty Bay
were placed in the larger centres of population in Hawke’s Bay to give the
people i ion in the rudi of the Christian religion.

‘The presence of a mlssmnnry seemed to give great impetus to tha

for in the g year the number of people who had

attached themselves to the mission was estimated to be ubout 8600, viz.,

200 at Waiapu and Tokomaru, 2500 at Tolaga Bay and Poverty Bay, and

00 in the southern part of the district. The eatechumens numbered 2115,

and of these 839 were during the year, after earcful and patient examination,

admitted to Holy Baptism, together with 330 of their ehildren, making a
total of 1178,

If we compare the very slow progress of missionary work at the Bay
of Islands in the early days of the mission with the ready amnd even
cnthusiastie reeeption of the Gospel in this distriet, the difference is very
striking. It is to be noted, however, that the circumstances of the two cases
were very different. The northern natives, having rceently hecome
possessed of firearms, were bent upon using them in their quarrels with the
comparatively unarmed southern tribes, and so engrossed were they with
this one object, that one cannot wonder that the Gospel should have made
so little impression on them. In the East Coast district, on the other hand,
the benoficent work of the missionaries had been ly reporterd
upon by a number of persons, who had had experience of it, und the teachini
and preaching in the north during those carly years had thus begun to exert
an important though indirect influence on the southern tribes; and im the
Waiapn district espeeially Taumatakura and those who were brought hack
with him in 1834 had dono much, under the over-ruling providence of God
to dispose their people to n favourable reception of the Gospel.

The genoral cagerness of the people for instruction was evidenced
by the fact that many, even of those who were paxt middle age, hail
learned to read and write, no fewer than cight of the forty-one chiefs of
this distriet who signed the Treaty of Waitangi having written their own
names. The Bible-classes, too, and the classes of the eatechumens wors
attended with great regularity. The fear of invasion by other trihes
having passed away, the fortifications of the pas were allowed to fall into
decay, and the people soon began to spread themselves over the country,
the varions sections of each tribe oceupying small settlements on the land
which was peculiarly their own. This dispersion made the work more
difficult. The usual routine when Mr. Williams was at home was that on
Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday in cach week the morning was devotesl
to three large sections of the Rongowhakaata tribe who lived at no great
distance from the starion, a Bible class heing held on each day for those
who had been baptised, after which there was a elass for the examination
of catechumens. In the morc distant places serviees were held and
instruction regularly given by native teachers, who came to the station on
one day in tho week for their own improvement. There was also on week
days an carly morning school of am clementary character, which was
generally superintended by Mr, Williams or some member of his fam
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In addition to the wsusl Sunday routine as already deserihed it was &
cutinon practico for men und women te commit to memory the colleet for
the day snd the whole or part of the Epistle and Gospel, which they
sepented in the evening, one of the native teachers eatechising them on th:
portions which they had learned. The fow English rosidents in the
weighbionrhood were also accorded some share of attention, Divine Scrviee
whiel they were invited to attend, being held in English every Sundagy
afternoon.

When o movement such as this which was now taking place amon
e Maori people hecomes fashionable there will always he many who witi
Join it from inadequite motives, the rank and file, cven among wmore
eivilised peoples, often heing ready to follow their londors without taking
the trouble 1o exercise their own judpment. Nevertheless there were not
@ few, who, as far us man can judge, showed by a consistent life that the
change which they bad undergone was genuine,  In the case of a number ot
otliors whose conduct was not such as to inspire porfect confidence,
allowanee may be made for imperfect knowlédge, and for the difficult
shich anyone in their circumstances must necessarily experionco in over
coming bad babits which have grown up with them from their infancy.
1t was only to be expeeted that the best of them would advanee with
tattering steps ulong the new path on which they had started. and thaz
there should be wany grievous falls, Tt was not long before the eceasion
arose for the excreise of disciptine in the case of some who, after Baptisny
e fallen into grievous sin. St Paul’s rule to **have 1o company’” with
such offenders, was found by the native Christians to involve mo littie
diffienlty, fiving as they were in close prosimity to one another, and the
insisted therefore, that any who liad so offended, $hould find some other
place of alode, until, on showing signs of repentance, they should be
restored dgain (0 Communion.  This practice in those carly diys becans:
universal throughout this distriet as well as clsewhere, dnd was adopted
hy the natives themselves as the only method by which they coull show
their disapproval of grossly unehristian comduct. There ix nv doubt that in
me eases undue harshness was exereised, but it was o difiealt matter tn
interfere with it without encouraging conmivance at gross sin.

Missionarios had been working @1 the Bay of Isands for mang
years with little apparent suce But in 1838 when they hud begun to
see some fruit of their bours, « Koman Catholic Mission under Bishoy
Pampallier eame first to Hokianga. and afterwards made theie headquarters
at Kororarekn (mow ealled Tussell) at thie Bay of Tslands.  The Bishon
indeed toll the natives that he had no wish ta interfore with the disciples
of the misionarics who had preceded hin  “Let them, he said.
sreantinue quictly ta follow the teaching which thoy had already recoived.
The heathen only are my flock and they all belong to we.'? But whatever
may live hoen his intentions on the subjeet this was not the policy pursued
by s subordinates. Tn 1841 o Koman Catholic priest wus sent {0 Nuku
tawrua, near Table Cape, where there was & numcrons population. He w
received by a small scetion of the people which had kept themselves apart
from these who had embraced Chris

fanity, or showed any leaning towuris

it. Following the example which had already been set by his brethren at
Kororarcka, he told the natives that he would challenge Mr. Williams to a
public diseussion in their presence on the varions points o which he joined
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issue with the Chureh of England missionaries. It was not long hefore the
opportunity was afforded him, for Mr. Williams was then preparing to
visit tho Wairon district, taking Nukutaurua on the way. The proposcd
discussion was accordingly held and kept up for more than four hours.
Such a controversy, carried on by those who presented themselves as
heralds of the same Gospel must have tended rather to the bewilderment
of people who had so recently been won over from heathenism; but as the
teaching which they had received had been dircetly challenged, it was due
to them that the futility of tho grounds on which that teaching had been
impugned should be exposed.  Shortly after this the Roman Catholic priest.
was deserted by a good number of those who had previously weleomed him,
and after some ineffectual attempts to establish himself in some other
places in the neighbourhood, he left the distriet altogether about nimu
months after his arrival.§

ARRIVAL OF THE BISHOP.
Early in 1842 it was decided to hold a conference of missionaries
at the Bay of Islands for the purpose of diseussing matters conneetod with
the progress of the mission, and Mr. Williams accordingly loft Povorty
Bay in the mission schooner Columbine, taking his family with him to
Paihia. He had not been long there when, on June Gth, the news was
brought that Bishop Sclwyn had arrived at Auckland on May 30th. On
Monday ovening, June 20th, while the Rev. H. Williams was engaged with
his usual Bible class, a card was brought to the house which announced that
tho Bishop of New Zealand was on the beach. Mr. W. Williams went
immediately and found tho Bishop with his chaplain, the Rev. W. C. Cotton,
and another Englishman dragging up a boat in which they had rowed
from Cape Brott, n distance of twenty miles, steering for the Paihia
Mission Station hy pocket compnss. The small schooner in which they
had started from Auekland with the Rev. G. A. Kissling and Mrs, Kissling
as fellow-passengors had been becalmed off Cape Brett and the Bishop had
thereforo docided to come on in his own boat, ho and his chaplain both
being good carsmon.

On the following Sunday, June 26th, the Bishop surprised everyone by
preaching to the natives in their own tongue, he having studied the language
on the voyage from Fngland with the help of a native whom he had mev
with in England, and having composed a written sermon for this occasion,
whiel, before delivery, he submitted to experts for amy correction that
might be nceessary. The eoincidence of the Bishop’s arrival with the visit
of the Rev. W. Williams gave tho former an opportunity, of which ha
readily availed himself, of learning something at first hand of the character
and progress of the work on the East Coast, and ono of the Bishop’s first
public acts was the appointment of Mr. Williams as Arehdeacon.

On Mr. Williams’ return to his station, he was accompanicd by the
Rev. W. C. Dudley, who had arrived with the Bishop’s party from Fngland,
and had heen designated for work in the East Const district, with tho view
of his forming @ station at Wairon, in the northern part of Hawke’s Bay.

The Bishop was not long in taking steps to make himself personally
acquainted with somo portion of his large diocese. After a stay of three
wocks at Auckland he visited Nelson and Wellington, spending a few woeks
at each place. From Wellington he went on foot to Whanganui and New
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Plymouth, roturning hy sea to Waikanae, the station of the Rev. 0. Hadficld,
Here he was joinod by Chiof Justice Martin, who travelled with him over-
land to Auckland. Their route lay up the eourse of the river Manawatn
into the Hawke’s Day district. At Te Roto-a-Tara, near Te Aute, on
Noveniber 15th, they were joined by Mr. Williama and the Rev. W. €.
Dudloy, who had come by arrangement from Poverty Bay to meet them
On their arrival at Kaupapa, Mr. Williams’ station, they found that the
new church which the natives had in course of erection had heen wreeked
hy n violent gale a fow days hefore. This would have heen a large building
capable of containing about 1000 people. But notwithstanding thix
disastor, on the following Sunday, Novemher 27th, a congregation of ove=
1000 assembled for Divine Serviee amidst the ruins.  The Bishop preached
from Aects NV, 1617, on Christ repairing the breaches of David’s fallen
tabernaele, that the Gentiles might sock the Lord. During this serviee
Mr. Williams was formally installed as Arehdeacon of Waiapu, *‘After
the marning service,’? the Bishop says, ‘‘the natives formed into their
classes for reading and saying tho eatechism. The native character
appears in this in a most favonrable light; old tattoed warriors standine
side hy side with yonng men and hoys, and submitting to laso their place
for every mistake with the most perfeet good humour.’’**

Trom Poverty Bay the Bishop and the Judge, accompanicd by the
Archdeacon, proceeded to Rangitukia, whera Mr. V. Stack had reeently
formed n mission station, and from this point the Archdeacon returned,
leaving the Rishop and his party to continue their journey to Raukokore,
in the Bay of Plenty, and thenee on to Auekland, visiting the varions
mission stations on the way.

FRESH WORKERS.

The altered cireumstances of the country owing to the spread of
Christianity and the foundation of the Colony had hrought about a feeling
of grenter sceurity on the part of the native population generally, and

Iy the people ging to Wairarapa and the coast south of
Hawkoa’s Bay, who for years past had heen congregated on tho Table Cape
Peninsula, soon began to return to their old hemes. In order to the more
officient prosccution of the work among the people, the Archdeacon
dotermined in October, 1843, to go hy sea to Wellington, and to retura
on foot overland that he might he able to visit them in their re-oceupied
settlements, He was accompanied on this trip hy Mr, W. Colenso, who,
being then o candidate for ordination, was looking forward to ocenpying a
station somewhere in the southern part of Hawke’s Bay. The party
comprised the present writer and several natives who had been engaged tn
carry the small amount of neccssary luggage. Tn consoquence of n
succossion of strong north-westerly gales the schoomer in which we had
embarked was driven hack repeatedly from Cook Strait, and as much time
had thus heen lost, it was deeided to land if the weather would permit
somewhere a little to the north of Cape Palliser. The wind haviny
moderated when the sebiooner was off Flat Point, the hoat was lowered, and as
it wonld not hold all the party, the natives went first. When the hoat
returned the wind had increased agnin to sueh nn extent that another
trip to the shore was out of the question. When the nest Il oceurred, the
schaoner was off Castle Point, whera wa were landed.  We soon fonnd 4
small party of natives at Mataikoua, with whom we stayed till the other
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portion of our party joined us. A start was then made on our northward
journey, the various settlements heing visited on the way. There was
then a large pa at Waitangi, near the mouth of the Ngaruroro, and a sit2
near that pa was fived npon for the station to he occupied by Mr. Colenso.
On reaching Mohaka Mr. Colenso went north through the interior, making
his way back to Auckland and the Bay of Islands. Bishop Selwyn was then
living at Waimate, and in the following Scptember several of tho lay
missionaries wero admitted to Deacon’s Orders, among them being Messrs.
J. Hamlin and W. Colenso.

Up to the time of the Bishop’s visit Mr. Willinms had heen working
single-handed in the distriet extendinyg from Hicks Bay to Wairarapa, but
the rearrangement of the old spheres of work in the north and the arrival
of fresh workers from England rendered possible more thorough occupation
of the field. The Rev. W. C. Dudley, who had joined Mr. Williams on his
roturn from the Bay of Islands, was to have oceupied Wairoa, but in tho
course of the journay to meet the Bishop in November, 1842, ho was seizeldl
swith an affeetion of the brain, which for the time, eompletely deranged
his mental facultics, and he was obliged to return to Auckland for treat-
ment. Mr. James Stack, as already mentioned, had begun work at
Rangitukia shortly hefore the Bishop’s visit, and soon afterwards the
Rev. G. A. Kissling, who had seen sorvice in West Afriea, was placed nt
Kawakawa, hetwoen the East Cape and Hicks Bay, and Mr. C. Baker, who
had heen working at Waikare in the Bay of Tslands, was moved to Tolaga
Bay. In January, 1845, the Rev. J. Hamlin and the Rev. W. Colensn
commenced work at Wairoa and Waitangi. Messrs. Stack and Kissling.
howver, were invalided in 1847, the former retnrning to England, and the
Intter, after n period of rest, taking charge of a school for native girls ar
S. Stephen’s, Parnell. Mr. Kissling’s post was taken by the Rev. C. L.
Reay, but he died at Rangitukia carly in 1848, and after an interval of a
year and nine months was succceded by the Rev. R. Barker, so that for a
tong time, Mr. C. Baker, who was not in Holy Ordors, was the only
missionary to the north of Poverty Pay, while to the sonth the Rev. Mes:
Hamlin and Colenso were only in Dencons?’ Orders. This state of things
made it necessary for the Archdeacon to he much absent from the district
for which he was specially rosponsible. What this involved may be
gatherod from the nccount which he gives of a sojourn of seven wocks in
the Waiapu distriet in the months of July and August, 1849, During that
time at six of the principal centros of population, he cxamined 951
catochumens, of whom 383 werc admitted to tho Sacrament of Holy
Baptism. TInfants to the number of 105 alse were baptised; the Holy
Communion was administered to 737, and thirty-four couples were marriod.

Besides these visits to distant parts of the East Coast district there
was other important work which nceessitated the Arehdeacon’s absence
from homo for several months at 4 time. This was the revision of the
translations of the Prayer Book aud of such portions of the Bible as had
already been translated, which was undortaken by a committec of
missionarios. While he was thus ongaged at Waimate in 1844 his place
v. 0. Williams; and when he was so cngaged
1847, the dis

w¥as taken for a time hy the 1
again at 8. John's College,
R. Burrows.

rict was visited by the Rev.
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OBSTRUCTION.

Among the converts there were, as was only to be expected, some
from time to time who fell away like withered plants from the seed which
fell on the rocky ground where there was ot sufficient deophess of carth;
and though there was nothing that could bhe ealled “‘tribulation or
persceution heeause of the Word,” the enemy could make use of com-
prratively trivial cireumstances to serve his purpose. An instanec of this
whieh ocenrred in 1847 may sevye as an illustration, A young widow was
pressed by the relatives of her late hushand, in accordance with old Muori
custont, to hocome the wife of her brotherdin-aw, She, however, proferred
a suitor helonging to another seetion of the tribe, and persisted until she
tained her object.  The near relatives of her former Inshand then, by
way of marking their resentment, decided to revert to some of the
abandoned practiecs of their heathen days, and hegan to get some of their
yonng men tattoed.  This operation had always heen dis
hy the missionaries heeanse their old superstitions were honnd up with it,
and it was never practised without what were considered the nee
ineantations.  This revival of the old praetice was equivalent therefore to
a rejection of the Christianity which they professed to have adopted, and
was regarded by them as such.  Tappily there were not many wha were
involved in this movement, and after about six months it was given up.
The whole movement was strongly reprobated Ly the hulk of the community,

ountensmeced

e

ary

About a yeur after this, To Whata, the ehief who had taken the leaid
in reviving the practiee of tattacing, but who in the past had not shown
any disposition 1o aceept the new teaching notwithstanding that his wite
and the other members of his family had all heen haptised, put away his
wife and took another woman. As kis relatives very strongly oxpressed
their disappraval of his condnet, he went away to Te Wairoa, where he
met with some people from Ruatahuna who had bheen connceted with the
Roman Catholic Mission, and joined himself to them. Tn the course of a
few months he returned to Poverty Bay, bringing with him onc of his new
friends who acted as bis chaplain.  Tater on, while the Archdencon was
away at Teretannga, in Hawke’s Bay, he was followed by a Roman Ontholie
priest, wha frecly expressed his intention of waiting il the Archdencon’s
return in order that he might expose the falsehood of lis teaching. An
opportunity for doing this was soon afforded and large numbers asscmbled
to hear the discussion; hut he failed to satisfy his audience, and as he
reeeived seant encouragement he, in the course of a fesy months, took his
departuro from the distriet.

GENERAT, CONDITION OF THE PEOPLE.

Tver since the days of the old flax trade European traders had
established themselves at various places along the coust, who with othets
had heen engaged in the whale fishing were the first foreigners who had
came to reside permanently among the natives and were gencrally known
by them as ““Pakeha Maori.”” not hecause, as has sometimes been said, they
were regarded as “strangers turned into natives,”” but to indieate that thew
were of the elass to which they lad heen acenstomed in tle past, and to
distinguish them from the missionaries and others whose oecupations and
habits wero of a different character. Since the foundation of the Colony
Aneckland had heeame the market far all produce, nnd throngh the agency
of the traders the natives were able to procure readily any articles of
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clothing, together with implements and utensils of various kinds which
made life casicr for them. At first the principal products were maize and
pigs, the latter heing cither killed and salted by the traders or sent away
alivo and sold in Auckland. The introduction of wheat after a time gave
an extrn stimulus to trade, and as good prices for this wore realised the
people soon began to acquire cattle, horses and agricoltural implemonts,
and to bring much moro land into cultivation.

Except in the increnso of trade the progress of colonisatfon had
very little influence on this part of New Zealand. The Treaty of
Waitangi had been made known to the people and Mr. Williams, as other
missionaries had done, had used such influenco as he conld command to
indnee the principal chiofs on the East Coast to sign it, his name appearing
as witness fto a number of the signatares. Very little land had been
purchased by Furopeans and the title to what had heen purchased had
never heen i hy the i there was thereforo
no influx of settlors into the district. The thirty-ninth parallel of latitude
had been fixed upon as n houndary hetween the provinees of Auckland and
Wellington, and those portions of the district which were to the north of
that line were theoretically in the Provinee of Auckland, and those which
were to the south of it in the Provinee of Wellington, hut practically this
was one of thase outlying regions in which Her Majesty’s Government had
no officer of any kind, and with reference to which all Europeans had been
warned that, if anyone should choose to settle in such a distriet for any
purpose whatever, he must do so at his own risk; and that, if he should get
into any trouble with the natives, or should suffer ill-treatment at their
hands, he must not expect the anthorities to interfere in any way on his
hehalf. There was no government, and it is ta the eredit of all parties that
no serious disturbance of any kind had oceurrod in any part of the distriet,
For many yoars the only attention paid by the Government to this distriet
was the occasional dispatch of a Customs officer when there was any gronnd
to suspect that smuggling of tebacco or spirits had taken place.

ARCHDEACON WILLIAMS VISITS ENGLAND.

For some time previcns to 1850 a controversy had heen proceeding

in the north with considerahle warmth, which, though not hearing directly

on the work of the East Coast, resuited in a dotermination on the part of

Archdeacon W. Willinms to visit England. To explain this a brief digression
is neeessary.

On the conclusion of Heke's War in January, 1846, Governor Grey,

only two months after his nrrival in New Zealand, began to manifest
inary sgainst the mi of the Church :
Society. He said of one of them that, in his opinion, he was in no small
degree responsible for the recent outhresk; and insinuated that others had
heen holding correspondence of a troasonable charneter with the insurgens
natives. Tn a dispatch to the Seeretary of State for the Colonies he eharged
them with asserting claims to land to which they could mot be put in

possession without a large expenditure of British blood and money; and
in letters to the Church Missionary Soeiety ho nceusod them of having
defrauded the natives, assuring the Society at the same time thar,
‘‘unless the old missionaries were removed, there would be no peace in
the northern distriet.”” Much carrespondence, in Bngland as well as in
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New Zealand, arosc out of these statements, and Archdeacon H, Williams,
as the recognised leader of the mis<ion, demanded that His Exeollency
should either establish fully the allegations which he had made or
honourably withdraw them; und repeatedly expressed the readiness of thy
on this being done, to sutrender the Crown grants which they
had received for land which hud been fairly purehased for the henefit
their families long hefore the calonisation of New Zealand was contem-
plated, and of which their families were then in peacenble possession. His
Excellency, however, would neithor produce anything in the way of proof
for the chargos which ha hiad made, nor would he withdraw them. Under
these cirenmstances «n appeal was made to Farl Grey, the Seeretary of
State for the Colonics, roquesting that the missianaries might he pnt i
possession of any chargos made against them by the Governor, and that
they might he afforded an oppartunity of rehntting them. This was deninl
them on the alleged ground that it swould he inconsistent with the respeet
(e to Her Majosty's Reprosentative in the Colony, in whom Her Majesty's
Government had perfeet confidence.  The Bishop in the meantime was
urging the missionaries to acecde ta the demand for the nneonditionnl
sureender of their title decds, and to aceept whatever the Governor might
be pleased to award them. The committee of the Church Missionary
Socicty was much perplexed hy all this controversy, and, heing perhaps
overawed by the Colonial Office, came to the conclusion that it was
impossible to institute any cnquiry into the suliject. The end of it was
that without any investigation, Archdeacon 1L Willinms and Mr. G, Clarks
were formally dismissed from the serviee of the Society. The committee
hy this act scemed to admit as true the charges which had heen madi
against the missionarics hy the Governor, and, on the decision hecoming
knosn in New Zealand in May, 1850, Archdeacon W. Williams deeided that
he would visit England in order that he might coxplain to the socicty the
setual position and vindieate the character of the missionaries from the
groundless and gross aspersions hy which the Soeiety had been misled.
The Rev. T, 8. Grace arrived from England in July, and it was arrange]
that he should take charge of the Turanga station during the Archdeacon ’s
absence,

missionar

Opportunitios of sailing dircel ta England in those days were hy no
means frequent, ships having generally to go elsewhere for a return eargo.
The Archdeacon did not get away till December, when he took passage in
the Jolin Wesley, which lhelonged ta the Wesleyan Mission, arriving in
England on 30th April, 1851. The annual meeting of the C.M. Society was
then close at hand, and he was pressed by the sceretaries to take part in
it; but this he deelined to do until he and his hrother missionaries wore
exonerated from the charges which seemed to have heen admitted and actel
upon by the Society. An opportunity was afterwards afforded him of
meeting the committee, and he bad no difficulty in showing by abundant
documentary evidence, that the eharges made the sionaries
were absolutely withont foundati A i v passed
by the committee in whieh it stated that there was no intention on
the part of the eommittee to give the slightest eolour or countonance to
the charges complained of; and that the conduct of the missionarics
thronghont those trying and eventful times was ealeulatel to engender
in the minds of the natives loyalty towards the British authority and
respeet towards themselve
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Tlaving suceceded in this business the Archdeacon had other matters
to attend to in conncetion with the mission, one of which was sceing
through the press the revised editions of the Maori versions of the New
Testament, and the Book of Common Prayer. He embarked at Gravesend
on his return voyage in October, 1352, but owing to an extraordinary
snecession of violent south-west gales the ship did not leave the coast of
England till the following January, arriving at Auckland in May, 1853.

The two and a-half years of the Archdeacon’s absence had been a
season of great material prosperity for the Maori population. The
eultivation of wheat for the Auckland market had for some time past
proved very profitable to them, and now the rush of people to the
Australian gold diggings had greatly increased the demand, and, by raising
the price, had stimulated the production. The plough was largely super-
seding the spade, and the use of bullocks in agricultural operations was
beeoming general. Furopeans had in the past provided vessls for the
conveyance of the produce to Auckland, but mow the people were for
purchasing schooners for themsclves that they might got the full henefit
of the prices ruling in Auckland, The cultivation of wheat was general
throughout the distriet, and the Fast Coast was fornishing a very consider-
able proportion of the wheat expoert from Auckland to Australia. To
people who, though mot in a state of destitution, had been acenstomed
generally to live from hand to mouth without the enjoyment of anything
that could be described as wealth, the setting in of such a wave of
prosperity eould not but prove a very serious testing. One deplorable
result of the inercase of wmaterial wealth and of the more frequent
intercourse with English settlements for the purpose of trade was that a
number of the young men hegan to acquire a taste for spirituons liquors,
and that drunkenness, which two or three years previously had heen almost
ontirely unknown among the Maori people, had now hecome hy no means
uncommon. Tt had been often witnessed in the case of white men, but it
used to be looked upon as a Pakelia failing and was generally spoken of
in terms of strong disapprobation. Men of the older genmeration were
greatly concerned at the prevalence of the vice and would have been glad
if they could have put a stop to it. but this was heyond their power.
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CHAPTER 1.

It was not until after my admission to Deason’s Owdors hy the
Rishiop of Londsn in May, 185%, and wy roturn fram Englind at the closs
of that year, that T was direetly connected with the work of the mission
in the East Const district, und, as & missionary of the Chureh Missionare
Socioty, stationed at Turanga in Poverty Bay.

During the six years of my dhsence from New Zealand, n groat
change hil taken pliec in the eirenmstances af the people. The effeets of
the recent discovery of gold in Australia yere felt throughont New Zealand,
Even natives from the East Coast botook themselves to the diggings, ons
of whom, in a letter ta a Pakeha friend, told him that gold was indeed
plentiful where he was, hut that unfortunately it swwould not stay in hiz
pocket, They were mueh hetter fod and clothed than they used ta he.
and the more extended agricultural opérations, temanding s they dil
consideralily more time and attention than had been the ease in years gons
by, tended to promote babits of more rogular and confinuous industry.
But it was noticeable that the desire for instruction on the part of the
people generally wis becoming far less keen than it had formerly heen,
owing to the attraction of cecupations which, fram a worldly point of view,
were found to be abundantly profitable.

An illustration of the generul mate
1854 hy an entertainment which was given by the Rongowhakaata trihe
to a large party of the Tukoc who accupy a mounteinous conntry lying
the north of Lake Waikare-moana, and somewhar difficult of aceess from
the const.  Seme twa or three years before a young Tuhoe ehicf had heen
martied to the danghter of a chief of the Rongowhakanta in Poverty Bay.
and had taken his bride to his home at Ruatahura.  Tn 1854 the young
couple came to reside for a period with the lady's relatives and were
escorted hy a large party of the Tuhoe., Groat preparations were made in
order that the visitors should be roceived with due hospitality, and it was
arranged that they should have n farmal reception at two different places
by two seotions of the Rongowhakaata, At each of the places the frame-
work of a long temporary shed was ronstructed with peles, and on the
arrival of the visitors these were cavered with blankets and picees of
print and ealico, while insile wore placed hundredweight hoxes of hiseut
with quantities of flonr, sugar, tea, tobacco, and yarious other articles, ail
of which were a giff to the visitors in addition to the ordinary food of
the people with which they were shundantly supplied. Tt is hardly
necassary to say that the seantily elad and poorly fed Tuhoe were overcome
fiy such a profusion of Tixury, which was more than they eonld consame,
and most of which they were unable to carry away with them on thei
return to their mountain fastnesses. A few years previously such a disp
would have heen far hevond conception hy the most fertile imagination
af any among the Rongowhakaata themselves; for the general condition
of the peaple, thaugh not hy any means one of destitution, had nevertheless
in the shape of potatoes

ial prosperity was afforded in

been one of comparative poverty, Food indecd,
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and kumara had not heen lncking, hut the whole of their surplus produes
swhich the traders took off their hands was not more than sufficient to
provide the amount of clothing and other articles which they had then
come to regard as neeessarics, So great a change as is indicated by the
profusion of good things with which the Tuhoe visitors were entertained,
coming about as it did in the course of a very fow years, was likely to ba
accompanied with same deeline in the religious fervour of Christians who
had so recently emerged from a state of barbarons heathenism.

Before Archdeacon Williams left for England great preparations
had been made for the crection of a church in the Maori style of
architeeture, swhich was to be 90 feet long and 45 feet in width. A lar,
quantity of totara timber had boen got togother and dressed for the
framework of the walls and for the support of the weighty ridge-pole. The
uprights for the walls were so prepared that they should stand over 15 feet
above the ground. They averaged two feet in width and the inner surface
which would be scen inside the building was claborately earved, the
grotesque caricatures of the human form so common in the earving of
Maori whares heing avoided. The two posts which were to support the
ends of the ridge-pole, and to stand ahout twenty-cight feet above the
ground were also claborately earved from top to bottom. During the
Archdencon’s absence, all being ready for the creetion, the work was
procecded with and the carved timbers were placed in position, the lower
end of each heing firmly fixed in the ground. At this stage a serious
misunderstanding oceurred and the work was abandoned. It was a great
disappointment to the Archdeacon to find on his return that the work ha.i
proceeded no further, and that there seemed to be little prospeet of its
being resumed in the near future with any degree of heartiness. It would
scem to have heen unfortunate that this diffienlty should have arisen while
the Archdeacon was out of the way, as the older people espoeially had been
in the habit of looking to him for ndvice and guidance in any time of
diffieulty.  His place was supplicd to a cortain extent by the Rev. T. &,
Grace, but with his very moderate acquaintance with the langnage anl
habits of the people he ‘could not he the same to them as one whe had
nequired their confidence during many years of residence among them.

At the end of 1853 two vacaneios in the stalf of workers had heen
filled up by the appointment to To Kawaknwa of the Rev. Rota Waitoa,
who had been ordained Deacon in the previeus May, and to Rangitukia, of
the Rev. Charles Baker, who had been ordained Deacen in December of
the same year.

The most urgent need of the mission at this time was that greater
efforts should he made in the matter of edueation. A boarding school for
girls had heen opened on this station in 1848 in a building which had
been erected for the purpose, a steady Maori married couple being placed
in charge, and much of the teaching heing done by members of the
Archdeacon’s family. This was not 7.
Dt 16 was-thp i Viati\ho cipenestancas adpitiion of Hor-scvaral yours
past Sir G. Grey had manifested great interest in Maori sehools, and had
strengthened the hands of the different religions hodies which were working
among the Maoris hy making free grants of land in some cases, and hy
money grants towards the exponses of the sehools. The conditions on
which this was done were generally speeified in the Crawn grants for lnnd
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which was leld in trust for the education of the Maoris, whether the land
was n free gift from the Crown, or had heeu obtained by purehise ur
private gift from the natives. The formula most frequently adopted wis
thatt. the kund was to be hell i trust for the support of o school o long
as religious edueation, industrial training, and instroction in the Englisa
language should be given to the youth clucated therein or maintaine]
thereat,?” The industrial training consisted largely
it would have been impossible otherwise to procure an adequate supply
of food for the pupils, the means at the cnunand of the managers of the
schools Deing very Timited. It was now proposed to establish central
sehools at Turanga for the whole of the Fast Coast dixteict, in one depurt
ment of which young nien should e teined in the hope that some of then
at Toust niight in thue prove to be fit for admission o Holy Orders; ani
the circumstances did not admit of this heing done exeept on the industriul
system mentioned above,  This department was g
It was deeided to wake @ beginning os carly in 1831 as possible with o fow
young men who would be acconmodated in a building which was then
availuble, leaving a school for boys till further provision should be made.

in agriculture, heeause

to be uy spec

Many months elapsed, however, before the work could be said to he
fairly started, in consequence chiefly of the very sevore epidem
For which the year 1851 was sudly memorable.  This wis the fiest t
that this malady had visited the North Island, It had visited the South
Island as far baek as 1838, when, aceording to Maori necounts, n lay
proportion of the populition was eut off hy it, hut at that time it did not
cross Cook’s Strait.  Tn 1854 it is said to have been brought hy an
Ameriean vessel from smania to the Bay of Islands in Mareh, In a fow
weeks it had spread all over the island with deadly effect. Among the
Muoris there were vory few, if any, who eseaped it and, as it was o
prevalent notion aniong them thut the best thing to do when the rash mads
its appearance was to plunge into eold water, it is no wonder that the
disease itself or the after-cffects were in many cases fatal. Tt is said that
in some o8 it was followed by scarlet fever, but in the East €
distriet lurge numbers of those who had been attacked hy measles w
carriod off afterwards by dysentery,  Dr, Thomson, in ““The Story of New
Zealand,”? (Vol. 11, T. 214), says that ““divectly or indiveetly the disoass
carried off 4000 natives, and most of its vietims were selected from the
ranks of the young and the aged.”” Iis estimate of the death roll is
prolibly wweh wider the mark.

of measles

1t

The old Turga station comprised not wore i about vight aeres
which were held on o somewlat inseeure title; it wa v therefore,
that, if the propoxed sehools were (o b to any extent seltsupporting. an
adequate amount of land should be ol ol of
the station there was no laek of unoceupied rions
sections of the Rongowhaknata trilie, but there seer
1 procuring the consent of all concorned to the permanent appropristion
to cducational purposcs of the amonnt of land required.  While the matter
was under their considerntion an off v the Whanau-aTanparn
B

in elose proximity to their own settlement.  This block. which was

oEoxs

wd, In the neighbourl
Wl belonging to v
o {0 Lo great diffientty

¢ wiis made b

seetion of the Aitanga- nhaki tribe of a bloek of land at Waerenga-n-Rika

afterwards found on survey to confain 503 acros, scemed to he in every we

suitable, and the offer was aceepted.
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To move the station to Waerenga-a-hika was by no means a light
undertaking. The Jand was in its natural condition and, before any
of it could be utilised for the support of the schools, it was nceessary to
fence it, to elear off the natural growth, and, if ploughing was contemplated,
to dig out the roots of tutu and other shrubs. The distance it is true, was
only cight miles, but there were two rivers to eross, over neither of which
was there a bridge; there was nothing that could be ealled a road; and
the only vehicles that could be used were sledges drawn by bullocks. The
buildings on the station had to be pulled down and the materials trans-
ported in this way; and beforc any extra buildings eould be erceted the
timber must be sawn in the neighbouring forest. The most formidable
difficulty was perhaps the raising of the funds that would he needed. There
were advisers of influence who iy the di ics i ble,
but the event proved that beldly to face them was the wiser eourse. The Church
Missionary Socicty had already granted a sum of £500 from its Jubilee
Tund towards the crection of new buildings which wonld need very largely
supplementing, but there was nothing at all in hand for pulling down and
re-erceting the old buildings. It was deeided, however, to make a vigorous
effort to raisc the additional amount which would be required, and to
defer the actual move as long as it might be nceessary. In the meantime
it was possible to do ing in the way of ion. Steps wera
taken at once for enclosing and clearing a portion of the ground in readiness
for cropping. The boundaries of the land to be ceded were promptly
indieated, but before a satisfactery title could be obtained the services
of a competent surveyor were required, and he must be sent for from
Auckland. A deed of cession also had to be prepared and duly oxceuted.
In comnection with this a serious difficulty had to be surmounted which
had not heen anticipated. The owners were quite ready to execute, and did
exccute a deed of gift to Archdencon Williams as trustee, specifying the
purposes for which the land was to be held in trust. But the law would
not recognise any title as valid except ono conferred by the Crown. It
was neeessary, therefore, that the land should first be ceded by the owners
to the Crown that it might e granted by the Crown to the person or persons
who should be fixed upon as trustees. Nothing was further from the
thoughts of the natives than that the Crown should be allowed to get any
footing in the district. Much discussion consequently ensued, and it was
not till April, 1857, that the deed of cession to the Crown was actually
signed.

For the removal of the buildings and their contents it was found
expedient to have a punt built in which the freight might he conveyed up
the river as far us Matawhero. By this means a great saving was effected,
as the amount of sledge work was diminished by half. The working of
the punt was not without variety in the shape of misadventure. Among
the material to be conveyed was a quantity of wheat which was part of our
food supply. At the time when this was being dealt with the state of the
tide nceessitated an carly start in the morning; the punt therefore way
londed during the previous afternoon, and upon the wheat was placed a
square piano in the tinlined ease in whieh it had originally arrived from
England. The punt was then moored to the bank of the river ready for
the morning. The men who were to navigate the eraft were about
botimes, but, to their dismay, the punt had disappeared, and the piano
was floating in its casc some little distance away. The wheat formed a
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y in at fiest by

Eeavier 1oad than usual and the water, which Tound its
some unsuspected erack gradually flled the punt, which sank down with
tho wheat to the hottom of the river. The piauo wis soon resened Int nox
before: mueh water had got into it, seriously damaging the internal
meehanis, The wheat was recoveral by diving, anid after having been
spread oat 1o dry, was found to have sustained no real damage, The pingy
wis taken in hand by a very el and rendered good scrviee
afterwards, though it never recovered its original quality.

Juiner,

Some progress was made in the ereetion of new buildings in the
1856 and, by the end of the yeur, 160 aeres of the Land had
been enclosed and @ portion of this was under oy
s ulso had heen made with buidings, some of te

o 1 serve until others of u

tion.  Consiilo

eultiv

@ heing constrieted

progre
raupo in the Maori style of architectu
more permanent character should he provided.

s made in the following Fehruary

The move into the new quarters wi
and Mareh; the ald mission house, whieh up to that time hud been occupied
by the Arelidencon and his family, having still to ho taken down and
rebuilt o the new site. The buildings were not lusurious, but they were
weather-proof. One of the mew waoden buililings contained two lurg:
ooms, one of which s usod as u diningrooms for o natives ud the othee
hail to ¢ botl the students

10 (s o7 shiose wiistinl oeshyatione et 40k veRnzio e o v
of the alternate use. The building into which the Arehdescon and his
faniily now moved was intended to bo used for Maori girls as soon as the
old mission house should he re-built and fit for oceupation.

A specious attenipt was made about this time to beguile unwary
Christians by the revival of an old superstitions practice of spiritism. An
olderly woman named Muora, who lived near the old mission station,
elaimed to he in reedipt of important communicutions from the spirit of ;
man who had died 4 few years hefore, Taving leen a consistent Christian
and u mueh-respected teneher. Tt was doubitless thought that the mame of
such o man would give eredit to the business.  Some of the people were
very mueh strick by the alleged comuunications, and reported them 1
Archdeacon Williams, who, to satisfy them, aveoded (0 (heie urgent, reques:
that he should go Lo hear them Hinself; but as long as he was in the
mediun’s presence the reputed spirit could wat be indueed to make any
I discredited by (his vireumstance

ore this, however, the

hie medivm w

communication.
amd the fmposture was soon discontinued,  Be
infeetion had spread to Tolagn Bay and the neighbourhood, where varions

fomale medinms professed to he able to put peopls in communieation with

Oneman who kad lost @ young daughtr

some of their departed rolati
not lonis before assured we that be had had o communication with
s quite satisfied s to the

tirough one of these medinds, aud tat e we
rit beenuse it hod given q eorreet answer when

identity of the s
whit was the wood of which the eoffin was made in which the corpse ha
heen buried, 1t did not oecur to him that the medium was probahly
with all the i The spieits were said to indieate

their presence by whistling und were commonly spoken of as “atua kowhin
whio”? or whistling spirits.®
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CHAPTER IL

The Church Missionary Socicty had alrcady, under the pressure of
urgent calls from various parts of the non-Christian world, begun to speak
of the euthanasia of the New Zealand Mission, and to look forward to u
not very remote withdrawal from it, that advantage might speedily be
taken of the openings for missionary werk that were presenting themselves
clsewhere. There was somo reluetance, therefore on the part of the society
to send out additiona] missionaries who might take the place of those who
had been removed by death, or had been incapacitated by failing health.
The power of God had eertainly been signally manifested in the progress
of tho mission during the fow yoars proceding the arrival of Bishop
Selwyn, who, in his first sermon, gave utterance to the impression which
it had made upon bim in the words—‘/Christ has blessed the work of his
ministers in a wonderful manner. We see here o whole nation of Pagans
converted to the Faith. God bas given a mew acart and a mew spirit to

after of our fell in this aistant quarter of
the curth. A few faithful men, by the power of the spirit of God, have
heen the instruments of adding another Christian people to the family of
God.”” Some people soemed to think that the institution of an efficient
native pastorate must follow closely upon so remarkable a change in the
people, forgetting that this same people had, but a vory few yoars before,
been living in a stato of extreme barbarism. The notion however, had
obtained eurreney in England, and had been cntertained by some at least
of the committee of the Church Missionary Society, that thera had been
needless delay in bringing forward natives as candidates for ordination.
This delay was attributed to Bishop Sclwyn, who, it was thought, required
qualifications in Maori eandidates for Holy Orders which thoy could not
reasonably be expeetod ‘to possess, such us n good knowledge of English
and of Latin and Groek. The fact, on the contrary, was that the Bishop
was most anxious to sec native pastors at work among their own people;
that the standard of qualification required by him was no higher than was
deemed expedicnt by those of the missionarics who were best able to judge,
and that he hailed with satisfaction the prospeet that wus afforded by the
establishment of schools, the main ohject of which was the training of
candidates for tho ministry. Towards the cnd of the year 1857 the Rev.
C. Baker, who had been for nearly four yoars at Rangitukia, had been
compelled by failure of health to vacate that station and to go to Auckland
for medical troatment. As there was no English missionary to take his
place the ity was for i ing upon the people tha
importance of their making some provision for the maintenance of ministers
of their own race. The district was divided into sections, each of which
might, in the course of time, become the charge of a single clergyman.
The people of each of these scetions were urged to raise o sum of at least
£200 towards a Native Pastorate Fund, from the procceds of which they
might receive some help towards the support of their pastor. The
Ngatiporou of Waiapu promptly fell in with the suggestion and took steps,
by the cultivation of wheat and by other means, to raisc the amounts
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required. The proposed fund was strengthened by a grant of £1000 from
the Jubilee Fund of the Chureh Missiunary Socioty, and by various other
donations. In the eoursc of the next cight years six distriets had raised
th amount which qualificd them to participate in the benefits of tho fund.

The lust two official visits of Bishop Selwyn to this part of his lxrge
diocese were paid in February, 1856, and January, 1859, and on hoth of
these oceasions it foll to my lot to accompany him through the greater part
of this distrier. In carrying out a general visitation be did not spars
himself, Ilis first land journeys were, of neccssity, almost entirely on
foot; and in the later years, though he was glad to avail himself of a horse,
if possible, when a horsc was not available the journcy was continued on
foot.  His principal work on thesc journeys, was, of course, the adminis
tration of the rite of Confirmation. In enrrying this out he always made a
point of himself examining the candidates presented to him. This was
oeeasionally a little hard on some of the candidates, who, though well
instructod and passed by the missionaries presenting them, might perhaps
through nervousness or through a ding of the as
put by the Bishop, fail to give corrcet answers and comsequently he
rejected by him.  There were very few, however, as far as my experience
went, who were rejected by him in this district. As to vestments, the
Bishop did not always earry the usual Episcopal robes on these long
journcys, but only a black silk gown. Bofore starting on a long visitation
lie circulated a prited list of all the places which he intended to visit
with the date at which he expected to arrive at cach. As the places to be
visitod were so nunierous and the time available for cach so shert, it was
impossible to emsure that every cngagement should he punetually kept
without regard to weather or other easual hindrances, and the failuro ‘o
reach any particular place at the appointed time might involve the omission
of that engagemont in order that the engagoments following on the list
might he kept on the due dates. TIn those days there were no telephones
by which a speedy intimation could be given of an unavoidable change of
plans, and the postal service did not extend to any great distance from the
English scttlements.

On the latter of the two occasions referred to above, he left
Auckland in Novembor, 1858, and visited the Thames, Waikato, Tauranga.
Rotorun, Te Whaiti, and the coast sottlements in the Bay of Plenty,
proceeding thenee to Hicks Bay, Waiapu, Poverty Bay and Hawke’s Bay,
then taking the west coast scttlements on the way to Wellington, where
the first meeting of the newly constituted General Synod was to he helid
in the heginning of March. Ho was duc at Hicks Bay in January, 1859,
and I started to meot him there with a horse for himself and amother to
earry his luggage. The latter animal proved to he a great hindrance.
She was docile and used to harness, but she was so terrified hy obstacles
ou the rough road which all other horses made light of that, after having
enused more than a day’s delay, she had to be left hehind. The conscquence
of this was that I did not mect the Bishop quite so soon as T had intendeit

Confirmations wero held at all the prineipal scttlements as we eame along.
At Rangitukia a middle-aged man, To Wiremn Mangai. was rejeeted hy the
Bishop.  We nest came on to Te Horo, and then to Reporua. To this
place we were followed hy Te Wircmu, who begged that ho might be
confirmed notwithstanding his rejoetion at Rangitukia. The Bishop was
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8o much struck by his earnestness that he confirmed him along with the
Reporua candidatos.

The weather during those few days was not the mest favourable foe
travelling, showers being frequent and heavy. On our way from Tokomaru
to Tolaga Bay we stopped for a little time at Anaura, from whenee we took
an inland track in order to aveid some rocks that could only be passed at
low water, several natives travelling with us. As we began to aseend the
hill we dismounted to case our horses, the Bishop being a little in advance
of me. We had not gone far before I heard one of the natives call out
that the Bishop was hurt. I hurried to him and found him sitting nader a
treo looking very faint and having his face covered with blood. Afto-
a littlo while he was able to tell me what had happened. One of the
natives was leading his horse in the front, and the Bishop had allowed his
to follow, he him self being behind. Seeing that the other horse was
kicking at his, he stepped forward to hold his own back, and as he eauglt
hold of the bridle the other animal kicked out and struck him on the bridge
of the nose and under one cyebrow. It was a great merey that the blow
was not much more disastrous in its effect. After the application of a
little more water and a moderate rest the Bishop declared himself ready
to comtinue the journcy, though still fecling rather weak. Om our reaching
the river, which had to be crossed twice, we found it considerably swollen,
but we managed the first ford without difficulty. At the sccond the water
was too deep to ford and the eurrent swift. Onec of our party rode into
the stream and was near being drowned. Fortunately a canoe was found,
by means of which wo got across without further mishap.

On arriving at Tolaga Bay wo were hospitably emtortained by the
people, and Mr. Waddy, a trader, placed at our disposal an empty room in i
small wooden house which he had just got built. In this we made ourselves
as comfortable as we could for the night. We cach had a blanket and a
waterproof sheet which we spread on the floor, tho Bishop asking me-as we
lay down if I had found out the virtucs of angle 45. It was a umiatter of
regret that after the afternoon’s occurronces he could wot be provided with
more restful accommodation.

The difficulties of travel and the increase of the European population
of the colony were strong arguments for the division of the diocese, whicu
was one of the objects of Bishop Selwyn’s visit to England in 1854, The
size of the diocese was gradually reduced by the foundation of the Diocesa
of Christehurch in 1856 and of thoso of Wellington and Nelsou in 1858
The Royal Lotters Patent and other formal documents which were thon
considered to be necessary for the constitution of a mew diocese, were
brought from England in the case of the Dioceso of Wajapu by Bishop
Abraham, who had recently boen conscerated by the Archbishop of
Canterbury as Bishop of Welli . He arrived in Now Zealand at the
end of March, 1869, while the General Synod was still in session, and took
his seat in the Synod on March 31st, 1969, As the session was nearly over
6o timo was lost, and on the following Sunday, April 3rd, Archdeacon W.
Williams was conscerated Bishop of Waiapu. The part of the North

Island of which tho diocese was to consist is deseribed in the Letters
Patent as ‘‘all that part or portion of the Northern Island, otherwise ealled
Now Ulster, which is bounded on the south by the Province of Wellington
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and on the west by the one hundred and seventy-sixth degrec of eass
longitude together with the islands adj
constituted wus inbubited uwlmost entirely by Maoris, and with the
exception of the missionaries, the few Europeuns were or had been vither
traders or whalers.

eent thereto.”!  The diceese thus

The new dioeese took its nume from the Valley of the Waiupu, s
position in which might be thought to be a suitable centre from whiek
wetess might be had to the more distant settlements, but us o matter of
taer all other purts of the diocese could be much more eusily reachied fro
Wacrenga-whika, The Bishop was therefore under no necessity to ehange
placs of residence, but the enlarged sphere of work involved a much
greater amount of travelling.  He made the first visitation of the greater
purt of the diocese in the course of the following summer, going by way
of Auekland to Tuurungs and travelling thenee through all the priseipal
settiemeuts of the Bay of Plenty and so on through Waiapu back to
Waerengu-a-hika, the journcy occupying over three months, The means of
ation between distant parts of the ecountry were ut that time
ain that, if one had an important engagement in Auckland or

Wellington it might he neeessary to leave home a month or sis weeks
heforeland aceording as an opportunity might offer. A voyage in 4

cousting schooner to or from Aucklind might cecupy any tine from four
days to twenty-four, and then when the business was done it might he
neeessary to wait an indefinite time for an opportunity of getting home
aguin.t

In the course of this visitation Raniera Kawhia wus udmitted to
Deaeon’s Orders on Feliruary 17th, at Whareponga in the presonce of tha
people among whom he was to work.  He was not young, but he a
wan of sound judgment and had done 200 service as a native teacher for
w number of years, He was one of our first candidates for Holy Orders
und, affer a course at Wacrcnga-a-hika, had spent about w year af
3. Stephen’s, Pornell,  Later on in the same year the Rev. Rota Waiton
und the Rev. Charles Baker were admitted to the priestheod, and Mr. C. S
Volkner to the Diaconate.  Mr. Baker, who some tiwe before had heen
ubliged to leave Rangitukia on aceount of his health, was now fit for work
aggain, and had beea appointed to Tauranga to take charge of a central
school there. In this he was to be assisted by the Rev. E. B. Clarke, whn
had recently joined the mission.

hika

Phe Church Constitution which had been adopted in 1837 provided
that o governing body or Diocesun Synod should be formed in cach ligcuse,
milar in its constitution to the Genmeral Synod, and the first General
Synod which sat at Wellington in 1859 had Jaid down rules for the
urganisation of such Diocesan Synods. t was evident that, if such a
Synod was to be constituted in this diocese on the lines laid down, not only.
some of the elergy, but all the Synodsmen would necessarily be Maoris and,
us the Maoris knew little o no English, the proecedings would lave to bo
condueted in the Mdori Janguage. It felt that, if the Synod could
be brought into being it would help to impress upon Muori churehpeaplo
the fact that they were members of a larger body than the loeal
congregation, and that the welfare gnd progress not only of the dioccse
but of the chureh at large, were matters in which overy individual should
take a lively interest, and which he was bound to help forward as far as
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God might cnable him to do so. The Bishop, therefore in the spring of
1861 spent cight woeks on a visitation of the diveese with the speeial
ohject of explaining to the people the funetion of the Synod and of getting
Synodsmen elceted, that a meeting of the Synod might be held at as early
@ date as it could convemicntly be got together. The Synod met at
Waerenga-a-hika on December 3rd of the samc year. The number of
clergy in the diocese at that time was tem, six being pricsts and four
deacons. Only half of these were in attendanec at the Synod, the others
being prevented by sickness or some other urgent reason. Of the Maori
Synodsmen there were cighteen, by whom most parts of the diocese were
reprosented.  Two of those, Rapata Wahawaha and Pitihera Kopu, took
a prominent part afterwards on the side of the Goverument in the war
which followed the Huuhau invasion. Two others, Mohi Turei and Hoani
Te Wainohu did good scrvieo in after years as clergymen among their own
people.

Tho Bishop, in his opening address, emphasised the importance of
the raising up of a native ministry, and of provision being made by the
poople for the support of thoir pastors. A resolution was passed by the
Synod affirming the duty of supporting missions to the heathen, and on tho
following day a sum of £5 12s 6d was laid upon the table for this objeet,
£3 155 1d having been contributed by the Maori members of the Synmod
and the rest by the local people. A committee which had becn set up
to consider the question of providing for the support of elergy appended to
its report o list of contributions which had been made in various parts of
the diocese towards an gndowment fund, the total amount being £698 11s 4d,
to which was added the offertory collection made at the eonsceration of the
Bishop, viz., £48 10s 5d. Mention was made also of a sum of £257 10s Gd,
which had been collected on the occasion of the opening of a new chureh
at Kawakawa towards the endowment of the Bishopric.

Tho Maori membors of the Synod, though somewhat hampered a%
first by the rules which were adopted for the orderly eonduct of the
business, soon accommodated themselves to thom, and afterwards exprossed
great approval of the Pakeha mothod of conducting a moeting.

The mecting of this Synod attracted a good deal of interost even
beyond the limits of the diocese. Bishop Selwyn in his opening address at
tho meoting of the General Synod at Nelson in February, 1862, thus
referred to it: *‘With feclings of peculiar thankfulness the report tha:
a Synod has heen held in the diocese of Waiapu, which was attended by
three English clorgy, three native, and threo lay Synodsmen, natives, in
which all the proceedings were conducted in the New Zealand language.”

The next Synod was held at Waerenga-a-hika on the 5th of January,
1863, and was attended by soven clergy and ninoteen lay Synodsmen, nins
of the latter being from the Bay of Plenty. In the next two Synods the
northern portion of the diocese was not represented, that part being
already seriously affeeted by the war in tho Waikato,

The Ngatiporou at Waiapu had shown considerable aetivity in the
matter of church building, Within a year after the arrival of the first
aceredited native toachers in 1838, a large raupo building had been erceted
in cach of their principal settloments to serve as a chapel, in which many |
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of the people assembled regularly for Divine service. In 1838 they ser
about replacing these with buildings of a more snbstantial character, the
requisite tinber hoing hrought, in some cases, from o great distance with
very indiffercnt earriage. One at Knwakawn, which has already heen
alluded to was opencd in 1861, and others followed soon after at Rangitukin,
Tuparoa, Whareponga and Waipiro. Ahout the same time a movemenr
having for its ohjeet the completion of the chureh at Manntuke seemed
to indicate something of a reaetion from the indifferenca which had
provailed among the Rongowhaknaata during several years of great fomporal
prosperity,  The earved timbers which had heen ereeted as far hack o
1851 had not improved by long exposure to all weathers, but they wern stil
sound, The requisite timber was cut and the work was earried out unde=
the superintendence of Aperahuma  Matawhaiti, one of the old iative
teachers, who was a very earcful and competent workman, having learnt
carpentering at the Bay of Tslands. Before the building was finished (he
people were argent that it should be hrought into use, ns the large whare
which had served the purpose of a temporary church was gotting into vers
bad repair. The opening on April 10th, 1863, was made the oecasion of
great gathering. It was estimated that as many as twelve hundred people
erowdeil into the building, and still there was a very large number outside.
A colleetion was made which amounted to £327, and this, by the desire
of the people, was added to the fund for the endowment of the Bishopric.

The work at Waerenga-a-hika had been earried on for several years
ander ponditions of no little diffienlty. Before he heeame Bishop, Arch-
deacon Williams was the head of the establishment, and everything was
subjeet to his general direction, but this was only an additional burden
to what in previous years had hoen Lis ordinary responsibility. The whol
(distriet, from Hicks Bay to the northern portion of Hawke's Bay
inelusive, was under his supervision, and all the congregations were
dependant upon him far the eelebration of the Holy Communion inasmuch
as at no other place than at W hika was there a elergy in
Priest’s Orders; it was nccessary, {Herefore, tint:ovory place within theso
limits should he visited ns froquently as possible. In this arduous work
I was able to help him from time to time, hut as there was no one else to
fall haek upon it was neeessary that, during my absence, he should undor-

take my spocial daties in addition to the superintendence of work of every
kind that might bo in progress at the time, When we were both at home
there was ample oceupation for hoth from early morning till evening, hut
when either was absent some things had of neeessity to be left undene.
For a year and a half after Septemher, 1857, the hoys were under the
charge of Mr. C. P. Baker, who had previously oceupied a similar position
ot Otaki. After he left in /\[\ril 1859, qur offorts to AN the va
not sneeessful il Mr. C. § Volkuer, who had hoen keeping a school 4

ey were

Tauranga, eame in J:mu:\r}', 1860. During the interval some help was
given in this department by some of the moro advanced of our Maori

students.  The girls, who, owing to the seanty accommodation, were very

few in number, were very fortunate in that they were well looked after

with the assistanee of Mi

by mombers of the Archdeacon’s fami
Jones, whom, as an addition to the staff, the Arehdeacon had brought with
d in 1853,

him on bis return from Engle
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The need of a fuller staff was very keenly felt, and the more so
from the fact that there were other dutics, quite unconnceted with the
ordinary work of the station, and the surrounding district, which could
not be neglected. In 1857, Archdeacon Williams was summoned to Auck-
land to attend the conference whith drew up the Church Constitution, and
alse to act for some weeks on a committee which had been constituted for
the purposs of revising a portion of the Maori version of the Old
Testament, the transintion of which having some time previously been
completed by the Rey. R, Maunsell and circulnted smong the missionaries
for eriticism. This committee met again in 1858 and in 1860, cach session
deeupying two months, but on both these occasions it was arranged that
T should attend instead of him,

The health of our sottlement was unusually good, though cpidemics
of one kind snd another were unavoidable. In the winter of 1860 the
district was invaded by influenza of n severe type, from which both
English and Maori alike suffered. This was more keealy felt owing to the
inelemency of the season. The eold was exceptional, and at one time the
snow lay thickly upon the ground, which was an unheard of oecurrenee.
Three months later this malady was provalent again and bore rather
hardly upon some of those who had suffered from the previous visitation.
This had barely passed off before some of onr people were attacked by
typhoid fever. A party of natives from the Bay of Islands had come in
the spring to visit some of their friends in Poverty Bay, and some of them
on their arrival began to develop symptoms of the fever. The natives
were not alive to the necessity of sanitary procautions and consequently the
discaso soon spread to various localitics, causing many deaths. In
November it appearcd at Waerenga-a-hike and, as it was getting near the
time when all our pupils would be dismissed for their annual holiday, all
were sent away, excepting the sick, and somé of their relatives who were
roquired to help in mursing them. There were several fatal cases, One
of theso was that of a young man who, having nursed his wife threugh an
illness of many weeks duration, first influenza, then the fever, a8 soon as
she was convalescent took the fover himself and sank under it, Several of
the other cases were severe and required close attention during = long period
of convelescence. During the progress of this epidemic there was w
qualificd medical man within reach whom we were able to eall in
oeeasionslly. A suceession of fever eases continued well into the New
Year, so that the month of Mareh was well advaneed before our erdinary
work eould be resumed; and even then nothing could be done with the girls
heeause there was no one to look after them, two members of the Bishop’s
family having been prostrated with the fever, and being still unfit for
active work. One result of the fever cpidemic was that the Rev. C.
Volkner wss obliged to leave us. He had to go to Auekland for some
matter of business in November, and during his absence Mrs. Volkner ws
thrown into n state of sueh nervous exeitement on aceount of the fover
that she was for a eonsiderablo time quite beside herself, and needed very
close attention. On Mr, Volkner’s return he found her much hetter than
she had heen, though still not thoroughly rccovered, and as soon as
opportunity offered he took her to stay with friends in Auckland where she
could have the medical attendance which she needed. He returned to
Wacrenga-ahika himself for a time, but left finally in the following
August, and was stationed at Opotiki. As the Bishop had to leave carly
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for a wvisitation of the northern part of the diocese it was arranged that
Auring his absenee, I shonld have the assistance of the Rev. B, S. Clarke.
who was still at liberty as the buildings for the sehool at Tauranga were
not yet comploted,

CHAPTER I

‘The first formal notiee taken of this distriet hy the
the appointnient of a Resident Magistrate in the person of the late M,
ik S Wandell, who was a very efficient officer. The same gentleman e
appointed postmaster, and thus the distriet was for the first time hronghy
into vonmection with the postal service of the Colony. Vp to that tim
fetters had heen earried froe of eharge by the small trading coasting vessels,
which proved to be very trustworthy letter earriers, no complaints ever
heing made of non-delivery of letters whieli ind Leen entrasted to them.

vernment was

Several purchases of land had been made by early settlers hefore
1840, and after the formation of the Colony full particulars of the elai
liad heen promptly furnished to the proper authorities, lut for many y
no notice had been taken of them. Some small portions also had been
purchased at a later date, and the purchusers were all in undisturbed
possession. A1l the purchases when added together did not wmount to
many hundred aeres. At length in Deccmber, 1859, My, Dillon fiell came
a8 Commissioner to investigate the carlier elnims, hut did not make satis-
faotory progress, as there was an attempt, though an unsucecssful one,
on the part of several influential men to seeure the repudiation of every
sale, their wish heing to get all the land back ultimately into the hands
of the original owners.

It was unfortunate that the first Viee-regal visit to this part of the
Colony should have been timed to take place soon after this, when the
minds of the poople wete still somewhat perturhed by the rocent disenssions
on the Iand question. His Excelleney Governor Browne arrived in TLALS.
““Nigger’? on January 11th, 1860, a few days after Mr. Bell had left. The
pakeha population lad erccted a small marquee at Makaraka, near the
house which was oecupied by the Itesident Magistrate, to which T
Fxcellency was duly escorted on his landing. At the head of the European
residents was Mr. J. W. Harris, who had resided longer in the distriet than
anyone clse, and he read a respectful address of weleome, to which His
Execllency duly responded.  After this there were specehes made by the
Maori: There was no formal address in this case, hut one of the speakers,
Raharnhi Rukupo, was decidedly defieient in rospeet in the language whicl
he addressed to Mer Majesty’s representative, His Iixeelleney was not
favourahly impressod with the meeting, nor on the otlier hand were the
After the meeting was over it was our privilege to entertain the
Vieeregal party ot Waerengaa-hika, We save them the besi accommo-
Aation that it was in onr power to give, bt His Execlloney’s valet was
much distressed 1o find that he had omitted to Niring a supply of flea
powder. The want of this, however, as far as we eould gather, was not
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felt, notwi ing the elose proximity of the abori The official
visit to the distriet was not, perhaps, a pleasant one for His Excellency,
but in justice to Bim it may be said that his mind was probably much
ongrossed by the position of affairs at Waitara, of which the people fn
Poverty Bay were ignorant. Martial law was proelsimed at Waitara in
the following month.

The Waikato movement in 1857 for setting up a Maori king had noz
attructed much sympathy from the natives of the Bast Coast, most of whom
were content to go on as they had done for several years past, enjoying
the benefits of trade with Auckland without coming into eloser contact
with the Government than was involved in an oceasional resort to the
Court of the Resident Magistrate; but the reports which were brought
from time to time of the operations at Waitara evoked general expressions
of sympathy with Wiremu Kingi, and of condemnation of the Governor,
though mo disposition was manifested to take any active part in the
quarrel.

When Sir G. Grey arrived towards the end of 1861 to take up again
the reins of Government he promptly began to introduce the scheme for the
self-government of the Maoris, which he scems to have elaborated before
his arrival.  The North Island was to be divided into twenty distriets, cach
of which was to be presided over by a Commissioner with a *‘runanga’’ or
council, of twelve members and a staff of native assessors, togethor with a
eertain number of ‘‘karere,’’ or native police, each of these officials being
entitled to reccive o salary corresponding to his position. Mr, W. B
Baker, who was appointed Commissioner for Wainpu carly in 1862,
proceeded somewhat hastily to make various appointments without taking
any of the principal chiefs into his confidence. This procceding was the
ocension of a great disturbance among the people, many of whom regarded
the Governor’s scheme with great suspicion, speaking of the salaries as
money paid with a view to getting possession ultimately of the land. The
oxeitoment was so great that many of them adveeated sending the
Commissionor back to Auckland immediately, but mainly through the
infloence of the two Maori clergymen, more moderate councils prevailed.
About the same time a meeting, at whieh two of the Poverty Bay chiefs,
Raharshi Rukupo and Hirini Te Kani were prosent, was held at Pounwa.
a few miles to the north of Poverty Bay, when those who were present
pledged themselves never to have anything to do with the Government.
Objection also began abont this time to be taken to the usc of the prayer
for the Queen in Divine service. In these various ways was manifested the
stendy growth of antipathy to the Government as the natural result of
the treatment accorded to Wiremu Kingi at Waitara, the injustice of that
treatment having bheen plainly shown in Maori literature which was
cireulated by authority with the view of justifying it.}

In the ordinary eonrse of things thera had been very little inter-
conrse hetwoen the East Const and Waikato, but reports of the inereasing
tension in the Waikato and the possibility of dircet rupture with the
Government induced onc and another to visit that district so as to get
information at first hand. Ono result of these visits was that a seetion of
the Ngatiporou tribe at Waiapu deelared thomselves openly as adherents
of the Maori King, and signified the same to the world by fiying the King’s
flag in conspicnons positions. Others of the same tribe, under the leader-
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ship of Mokena Kohere, who desired to aveid auy conflict with the
Government, hoisted the British ensign as u token of their oyalty,  The
teibe was thus divided into two sharply distinguished partics,  Tn the
southern part of the distriet the inteusity of feeling was not so ohvions
Mr. Wardell, the Resident Magistrate, hal been removed from Poverty
Bay and o ove had been appointed in lis place, but if a Commissioner
Biad been sont to Poverty Ty to insugurate Sir (i, Grey’s runanga schems
with salaried assessors and other officinls, there is no doubt that it wonldl
liave proved as distasteful to the peaple there as it liad shown to he th
lurge seetion of the Ngatiporouw. That tlie Goverument was regarded by the
peaple with disfavour was increasingly evident, hut at the swne time thers
scemed to he a decided feeling that anything in the way of collision was
by all means to be avoided so loug as they and their lunds were not
dircetly interfered with.  The aunouncement was frequently made that,
whtever course other trihies might deeide upon, thoy had no intention of
breaking the peace.

At the time of the opening of the church at Manutuke in April,
1863, ns there was an unusually Jarge gathering of people, it was impossible
that the assembly shoull disporse withont sonte diseussion of maiters of
which peaple’s minds were full,  One subject which attracted much
attontion was a bond of union for the whole Maori people.  Among the
visitors were some from Waikata who had brought the Maori King's flag
with them, evidently in the hope of gaining adherents to the King’s cause
These promptly took the opportunity of urging the combination of all the
triies under « King of their own race. This suggestion was not favourally
received, lut Auaru Matete, the principal speaker of the loeal people, gave
expression to the wind of the great majority that, as regarded the strained
relations between the Waikato tribes and the Government, it was better ta
maintain an attitude of neutrality and that the best hand of union for the
Maori trihes was the Christian religion, which had already proved so great
 blessing to the Maori people. At this time there had heen ne fighting in
the Taranaki distriet since April 1861, hot so Jong as the Waitara question
was not sertled, it eonld not be said that peace had been attained.  Sir (¢
Grey had gone carefully into the matter and had satisied himsolf that
Wiremn Kingi had been treated with gross injustice, and that the Waitara
Block must be given up; but owing to differenees with his responsihls
alvisers the neecssary proclamation had not been issued.  He had visited
Waikata and had talked frecly to the people, employing troops at the s
time in making @ rond, which, in ease of need, world give ready aceess
to the principal Maori settlements in Waikato. There was no little truth
in the statement that “‘He sometimes deecived himself, so far as to hope
that the Maoris would accept his assuranee that his intentions were only
poaceful, whilst they saw elearly enough that, without desiring war, he was
systematically preparing for the possibility of it.”? Reports of what was

e

being said and done on the Waikafo River found their way through Maori
ageney to distant parts of the conntry, and kept up a feeling of unrest,

expeeially in tho Bay of Plenty and on the Faxt Const.  This unrest was
mueh inereased Ty the tidings of the shooting of Dr. Hope, Licutenane
Tragett, and others at Tataraimaka on the 4th of May, 1862, and of the
invasion of the Waikata hy crossing the Mangataiwhiri on July 12th. The
procluination of the alandenment of the Waitara Mock following, as it
id, elose vpon the disaster at Tataraimaki, gave maty of the Maoris the
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impression that the authorities were panie-stricken, and the fact that the
first blow in the Waikato War was struck by the British troops without
previous declaration of war had the offect of calling forth mueh sympathy
for the Waikato people.§ The Ngatiawa of Tauranga had always been the
frm allics of the Ngatihaua, whieh was Wiremu Tamihana’s tribe, and
when, at the commencement of hostilities, he appealed to them, they
immediately decided to throw in their lot with Waikato. The consequence
of this was that the school which had recently been cstablished at
Tauranga was broken up, and the Rtev. C. Baker, the Rev. E. B. Clarke,
and other European residents left for Auckland, Mr. Clarke soon afterwards
joining the staft at Waerenga-a-hika, Tauranga became the seat of war
in 1864, The Arawa tribe of Maketu and Rotorua, romembering their old
feuds with Waikato, showed them no sympathy; but the Whakatohea of
Gpotiki, who had held themselves aloof for some months, took up the cause
of Waikato early in 1864, upon which the Rev. C. 8. Volkner took his wife
1o Auckland, returning himself to his station to wateh the course of events.
Tho Tuhoe peaple in the interior sided with Waikato from the first, and
some of the people in the upper Hawke’s Bay district were drawn in with
them.  Of the Ngatiporou at Waiapu about 45 men loft in August, 1863, for
the seat of war in Waikato, and were followed Ly another contingent of
about seventy in the following Janvary.

The Diocesan Synod which met in January, 1865, at Te Kawakaws,
now generally known as Te Araroa, was not speeially remarkable exeept
for some of the attending circumstances. When travelling among the
Maoris in any part of the country, we had been accustomed to be received
with porfect courtesy and unfailing hospitality. It occasioned somewhat of
a shoek, thorefore, that we should find ourselves treated with very marked
jueivility hy a section of the Kawakawa people, who had ranged them-
selves on the side of the Maori King. On our visiting some of our dis-
sffected settloments in the Waiapu Valley the same unfriendly disposition
was manifested, and our presence evidently was not desired. At one place,
hewever, viz, Pukemaire, we succeeded in getting the people to give some
explanation of their attitude, The matter was summed up by one of the
speakers in a proverbinl saying, ‘‘E ngaki atn ana o mug; ¢ toto mai ana a
muri!’? i.e. ‘“The party in front is clearing the way; the party behind is
dragging along (the newly-shaped cance.’”) His meaning, of course was,
that the missionarics had come to New Zealand to clear the way for the
armed foree to follow, and take possession of their lands. After n gool
denl of discussion we parted on much better terms, and a strong wish was
expressed that, when visiting the district again, T should not fail to visit
Pukemaire.

This notion about the missionaries was found to be very prevalent
among the Maoris who were opposed to the Government, and this faet need
exeite little surprise when all the ci are taken into i
When the Treaty of Waitangi was first put before them the miss anailon
took an active part in explaining it to the chiefs in various parts of tho
country and in persuading them to sign it. They did this not without a
decp sense of the possibility of this action of theirs coming in the distant
future to he misunderstood by the Maoris, but in full confidence, at the
same time, that implicit reliance might he placed on the henour and good
faith of Her Majesty’s Government.] Tt might be thought that the
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apposition shown by the Bishop aud the mssionaries o the action o

Governor Browne and lis responsible advisors on the question of the
Waitara purehase would have made it quite elear to the Maoris that their
work was absolutely independent of any netion of the Governuent; hut
on tho other hand there were circun s whichi tended to produce a
different impression.  When the troops warehed into the Waikato, as thers
wore no regolar ehaplaing, Bishop Selwyn considerad it to be his duty to
attend them, Dr. Maunsell, too, who had heen obliged to leave his station
at Kohangn, assisted Bishop Solwyn in this work, and narrowly eseaped
heing shot by the Maoris while so engaged. At Tz aing under
similar eircumstances, Arehdeacon Brown undertook military

v chaplain’s
duty. To the Maori mind the inference seems to have heen irosistible
that the elergymen so aeting were ranging thonselves definitely on the sids
of their encuwies, Neligious ministrutions to the troops would Do looke
upon as analogous to the karakia or charms which wero recited in former
times by their tohungas, and had for their objoet the steengthening of tieir
own farces or the weakening of those of the enemy.

Up to the end of 1864 nothing had eccursed in this part of the island
which afforded ground to auticipate that the war was likely to came neare
to the Fast Const than Tauranga or possibly Opotiki. Some of the
Ngatiporou eertainly had sided with the Waikato, hut on the other hand
another seetion of the same tribe was decidedly on the side of the
Government.  In Poverty Bay also the great majority, while expres
hearty sympathy with Wiremn Kingi and Waikato, had frequently
announced their determination not to embiroil themselves with the Govern
ment about matters in whieh they had no immediate interest, and had
positively declined to aeeept the Maori King’s flag. It was only natural
that news from the scat of war should be eagerly listencd to by them and
that, when aeeounts were eondlicting, preference should be given to those
which had eome through Maori channels; but thoy reeognised that they
themselves had no real ground for a rupture with the authorities, Vague
rumours had been eurrent for same time that & new form of religion, ealled
““Painarire,”” had heen the subject 6f a Divide revelation made throngh
the Angel Gabriel to a Maori prophet named Horopapern Te Un at
Taranaki, and that emissaries of his, who were spoken of as ““Tiu’* (or
Jows), were going about the eountry to make the varions Maori trihes
aequainted with it.  Te Ua was an inofflensive old man shose miental
facultics were more or less deranged.  Whatever value he himself may have
attached to his rambling utterances, if he attached any value to them arn
all, they were eertainly turned 1o aecount by others who persunded many
thut they were intended by the Deity to do for the Maori all that
Christianity had done for the Pakeha. With this so-called religion we were
very soon to make an unweleome acquaintanec.

Ou the Ist of March, 1863, a messenger named Manihera arrived
from Opotiki, bringing word that u Taimarire had arrived there
from Taranaki, havimg come by way of Taupo, where they had eleared
verything out of the house of the Rev. T. 5 Grace at Pukawa, that on
1 at Opotiki they had ransacked the house of the Rew. 0, &

their arr
Volkner and put up to auction everything that they could lay their hands

on; thrt if Messrs. Grace and Volkner had been found at their stations

their lives would haye been taken, and that the Whakatohea tribe ar
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Opotiki kad all accepted the new religion.f There had been an epidemir
of typhoid fever at Opotiki, and Mr, Volkner was then on his way baek
from Auckland with medicines and other necessaries for the sick people.
Maniliera also hrought a letter from Mohi Tamatea at Opotiki, warning us
that this party was coming on to Peverty Bay, their objeet heing to pus
to death all Englishmen that they might fall in with, especially clergymen.
hut that no Jews would he molested.  Five days later Aperahama Kotuku
brought further intelligenee to the effeet that on the 1st of March a
schooner had arrived at Opotiki, bringing Messs, Grace and Volkner as
passengers; that on the following day Mr. Volkner had been hanged, but
that Mr. Grace was detained as a prisoner; that the Paimarire were
already on their way from Opotiki, bringing with them Mr. Grace and the
head of Mr. Volkner; and that it was their intention to deal with the
Bislop as they had dealt with Mr. Volkner. The news was soon very
widely spread abroad and on the following morning a large number of our
Maori friends eame to express their sympathy and to assure us that ws
need not fear as they would stand by us and protect us against any evil
desigus of the Paimarire fanatics. Some, however, of our mear neighbours
urged onr getting out of the way as soon as possible, 1In the evening of
this day we attended a large meeting in the large whare nearby, at which
hoth Manihera and Aperakama were present and rehenrsed their reports
of what had taken place at Opotiki, including all the revolting particulars
of Mr. Volkner’s last hours and death. After a great deal of discussion
the people decided to Jot the party eome on and, if possible, to rescue Mr.
Graee.

On the 11th the Paimarire, or Hau Haus, ns they eame to be more
frequently ealled, were reported to have come under the leadership of
Patara and Kercopa, hut withont Mr. Grace, as far as Waikohu, about 12
miles off, and on the following morning (Sunday), n large number of
people eame from the country round, many of them with arms in their
hands, to stand hy us in case of need. On Monday morning as our would
he defenders were drilling and practising old-fashioned war-danees, a shin
of war was reported to have arrived in the bay and soon afterwards Bishop
Selwyn and Captain Freemantle of HALS. ¢‘Eelipse’” rode up. News of what
had taken place at Opotiki had already reached Auckland and our friends
had come to render such assistanee as they might find to be neeessary. As
we did not appear to be in immediste danger, and as Mr. Graee was still
in the hands of the fanaties at Opotiki, the “*Eelipse®” left the next morning
for the Bay of Plenty in the hope of being able to reseue Mr. Grace,
taking also two of the local Maoris, Rawiri Tamairiao and Rutene Piwaka,
who, it was thought, might be able to render assistance hy sceuring the
zood offices of Hori Tupaca of Tauranga. In the meantime the Hauhaus
had come as far as Tanrcka, about three miles from us, and were met thera
by a large number of the local people who treated them with much more
courtesy than we had been lod to anticipate. It soon became cvident that
many of our local people were by no means proof against Patara’s
blandishments, We had been given to understand that Hirini Te Kani, for
whom Patarn expressed great defercnee, offering to recognise him as King,
would meet them at Taureka and order them to go back at onee to Opotiki.
This was not done, but they were allowed to proceced to Patutahi and thenco
to Manutuke, where they wonld come into contact with the majority i
the people of the district. Here, as the leaders laid claim to supernatural
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powers, professing umong other things o be able to draw ships ashire from
the open sea, they were challenged to give proof of Ui power by i
ashore the S8, Ladybind,”” shivh was then i in the bay. The oyjusur
wihiieh the attenpt to do this would have brought upr them was 4
by their return to Patutabi, where they were to be juined by another party
o come from Taramaki by way of Waikarenouhe e
leaders of this second purty disavowed any sueh nurderous in
were professed by Patura and Kercopa, As we were still assured that Hirin
sould order the Liauhaus to leave the districi, & went seross to Patutubi in
company with the Rev. S, B Clarke, Mr. 1L Willians, and two of the Muori
clorgy, hoping that we night be able to support those who, like oursclve
were auxious that the Hauliaus should be summarily dismissed.  The seeant
jurty had just wrrived and was met by Patara’s party in the open plaic
at somy little distanee from the pa, 5ot without mueh cercmony wlich
cmed to be under the dircetion of Kereops,  After @ aumber of forual
specelies frous both parties they all started up and rushed together in a
state of wild confusion with uplifted hands, giving loud utterance at the
sum time to unintelligible gibberish, and then, still jabbering, made for the
“oniu? or suered pole which had been crected in ome comer of the pa.
Arrived there they marehed several tiwes round the pole, und then standing
in & compuct budy commenced their karakin, This done, they, ull uuder
Putura’s ditection, broke out mto u most doloful tangi, This wus explained
1o the loval people by Patara, who was shedding tears most copiously, ws
being ““mio te iwd tu kiri kaw, motu to hawhe,”” i, “for the people who
are steipped nuked, und for the islands reduced by half.”  The tangi wa-
continued for some time aud some of the loeal prople were so worked ups
thit they could not vestrain themselves from joiming in it.  The karakin
wis the sume as what we bad already houd, and consisted of & mmiler
of traustiterated English words ts might have Leen chalked on a
Blackbourd by somcone who was teaching Muort ehildren Buglisn.  fle
usunl practive was that the leader would call out **Porini hoin’? (Fall i
). Then, when the people hud come together, he would sy
g (Attention,) Al would then bugin to chant such words
“Manteni; piki wauteni, rongo uwswuteni, teilama (Mountain, bis
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Patara and Kercopa were of little effect, we coneluded that we should be
wise to keep ourselves as far as possible out of their way,

On the following morning, March 24th, two of the Maori clergy went
alonie to Patutahi to watch proceedings. The Hauhaus performed some
extraordinary ceremonies about the head which Patara’s party had brought
from Tarauaki, after which the head was given to Hirini, The Hauhan
flags, called Riki and Rura, wero offered to him but were declined,  An
Englishman also, who had been brought over as a prisancr, by the second
party, was offered on the condition that he should be kept safely until the
Hauhaus should pay the district, but Hirini declined to reeeivo
him ou those terms.  After this Hirini told both parties that they
wust leave the distriet with all speed. Both left Pututahi on the following
day, hut they were in no hurry to go further afield, Patara spending much
time in visiting at the Maori settlements in company with Anaru Matete
and Raharuhi Rukupo, ingratiating himself with the people and behaving
in an offensive manuer to some of the English residents, The Aitanga-a-
Mahaki tribe who were our immediate neighbours and the Patutahi people
were the first to embrace Haubauism, and we soon beard of about thirty
Laving been, as Patara expressed it, made ‘“porewharewha,’” which in this
casc meant being hypnotised.  The method of treatment as deseribed to
me by one who witnessed it some time after Patara had left, was as
follows: The persons to he operated upon were placed in a cirele round
the niu and bidden to gaze steadily at the top of the pole until in due course
the atua should come into them. After a while one of the operators would
o round fo find out, by flapping a handkerchief in their faees, whether
their nerves had been duly affected.  This having beon aseertained, each
ane would be seized by the arms and whirled round until he was quite helpless.
After this he would obey any order which might be given by his leader.
The peaple had been told by Patara that it was not tho chicfs, but only tha
common people who should he operated upon, and that all who had thus
become porewharewha would he hrave soldiers, promptly obedient to every
word of command from their chiefs, and fearing nothing, heeause that, when
engaged with an enemy, the mere fact of holding up their hands would
cause the bullets aimed at them to fall harmless to the ground. This
ceremony of initiation was spoken of as ‘‘pooti.’’

The possibility of our having to leave Wacrenga-a-hika and to take
refuge clsewhere eould not but be recognised as soon as the local people
began o show o disposition to favour the Hauhaus, and preparations wero
made for our moving when it might appear to be neeessary. From March
16th, some of our Maori friends of their own aceord set wateh about our
promises at night to guard against surp Unmistakeable cvidence of
the progress of the fanaticism was afforded on the 23th by the performancs
of the Hauhan karakia within carshot from the pa, which was about 150
yards from us.

The ““Tawera’” schooner arrived fron Auckland on the 27th, bringing
the weleome news of the rescue of the Rev. T. S, Grace from Opotiki; and
the Government steamship ‘“St. Kilda’? also arrived from Napier on the
3lst bringing as passengers the Rev. S. Williams, Wi Tako, Matenc To
Whiwhi, Wirihana Toaton, and some other southern chiefs, who had been
invited by the Tauranga chiefs some time previously to discuss the
possibility of taking some steps for the promotion of poace between the
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contending partics at the seut of war. The artival of these ehivfs wa,

most opportune as they sere men of great influence and strougly opposcd

to the Haubou movement. The ** Tawera ' left again for Auekliond on April
inglish famili

twenty-soven passengers iu all.

Snd, taking away several
On the same day rumours werc current that the Hauhaus undor Patur
and Kereopa were contemplating misehief.  The rapid progress which hud
been made by them during the previous three weeks rendercd it nor

s strony cnough 1o @urry
L Thp

improbable that they might still think themsely:

out the threats which they made when coming over from Opoti
rumours, therefore, of their sinster intentions could mot be Hghtle
disregarded; so after consultation with our Muori friends it was decided
that we should leave Waerenga-a-hika for the present with the hope that
ht after s

through the Providence of God our misguided neighbours mi

time recover their reason, and so the way might he open for us to return
and resume our work.

(5
varly hour in the morning @ number of the people who had been dallying

.—Our deeision to leave svon heeame widely known, and at an

rious Kaingus 10 o

in from the v irie

with the Huuhaus hegan to come
ux, urging us to stay and trying to  defewd their own conduoet, but they
found it impossible to explain asay the fact (i the sueecss which Dutara

0w

and Kercopn lnd achicved was g to the cucourngement which they
themscives Bad given thenn  As there wivs nothing in what was suid
whicl tended fo restore eonfidenee, @ move was made as soon s possible

for Turangunui, and in the afternvon the Bishop and the Lev. B B

Clarke with the women and children of our Fumilies, eniburked on bourd

the “*St. Kilda,”” which sailed in the evening for Napier.

The soutliern eliefs stayed in the districr for alout three weel

durkug which tinie they visited all the prineipal settlements toid used theie

best enddevours to persunde il the people to have nothing to do with
Haubanisin as it would only hring thén into serious trogble. The Taranaki
Hiu

to the tribe of which Wi Tako wi

s generlly avoided weeting thenn tough Patars, who helssigl

5 ehief, e oue dag with o aumher of

armed followers to e Waerenga-ahikn pa, oxpeeting to meet i there.

amd was with sone difienlty persunded by those people of the place who

were not in sympathy with bin, to retur to Taurcka, Wi Tako, however,

Altery:

rds und gave him aosevero

Dppened to fall i with Nim w few day

fet as soon as possible. The

reprimand, bidding Wi leave the dist
Pt southern eliefs affo

vigorous action of ded el Cueougagzoment 1o

those who svere holding their ground agniust the Hauhavs, and hastened

Kerenpit wis reported G linve 1ot

the departure of the Turanuki fanaties,
the distriet hefore the 1ath of April, and Patarn followed him o few days

Willinms for

later. Wi Tako aud bis eompunions left with the les,

Napier on the 22nd.
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CHAPTER 1V

When Patara left for Opotiki he uunounced his intention of
returning «t no distant date, and suggested to those who had joined him
that large erops should be planted on the Mangatu, about 35 miles inland
from Turanganui, and at other places inland that there might be plenty
of food for thv support of his army when ho should come to make a
satisfactory scttlement of the relations hetween Maori and Pakeha, Ho
also recommended that, if the Pakeln should cause auy trouble in tho
meantime, they should keep quict until they had fetched him and his foree
from Opotiki. As time went on matters did not improve, ‘Nius’’ were
erected in various places and we heard from time to time of numbers of
people being initiated at those places with the pooti ceremony. Some, tas,
of the inland tribes expressed their intention to revert to all the disearded
practices of former generations, and as in old times the now estinet native
rat had been regarded as a very choice article of food, they proceeded
to emphasizo their rejection of pakeha innovations by adopting the common
lirown rat as a speeial delicaey, but the flavour was found mot to be such
as to a ition of the

On May 3rd, Captain Luce of H.M.S. ‘*Esk,”’ paid the distriet a
visit, hringing with him a letter from the Bishop addressed to the
Rongowhakaata tribe, pointing out to them the extreme folly of the courso
swhich they were pursuing and suggesting that, ns they were abandoning
the neutral position they had m.'um'\mcnl in the past, they would be wm
now to deelare them: s of the 1 i
Captain Luce to Manutuke, where he duly delivered the Yetter, giving them
at the same time a few words of sound adviee from himself, but ncither
the letter nor the captain’s words met with a favourable reeeption from
the majority of those who were present.

Soon after this some Jittle excitement was caused by the action of
Mokena Kohere, the Ngatiporou chiicf, who had come on a visit to Parateno
Turangi and his people. He had always been a strong opponent of the
Kingites at Waiaps, and on his arrival he began to use rather violent
language with reference to the Hauhaus, urging that, if they should refuse
to abandon Hauhauism when urged to o so, they should at once bo treated
as encmics and war should be declared against them. The Ngaitekete hapu
at Taruheru had brought ont of the forest a great spar which they talked
of creeting at Turanganui as a flagstaff on which the British Ensign
should be hoistod. Mokena proposed that a meoting of those who were
well disposed towards the Government should be held at Taruheru to
consider the expediency of erecting the flagstaff at once, and that tho
European residents should be invited to attend the meeting. The meeting
was held on May 18th, and the opinion of the majority of the speakers,
including Paratene, was that it would be well not to hurry the matter,
as it would eertainly give offence to many, but that the question should ba
further discussed at Turanganui on the following day. In the morning.
when most of the people had left for Turanganui, Mokena, with the help
of some of the young men manned a whale hoat, by means of which he
towed a moderate sized spar down the river and erceted it at once on the
river bank, near the mouth of the Waikanae ereek. Upon this the British
cosign was immediately boisted, and in the course of a day or two 1
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rough stockade was erceted round it, Ngnitckete taking eharge of it. The
hesitation whicl was shown at Taruhero was owing (o the apprefen
that trouble might be vansed by the Hauhnus, hut this apprebension was
ot reatised.  Mueh indignation was oxpriessed during the succeeding theee
or four weeks, especially by people who, if uot openly fawurable,
leust not strongly opposed to the Haubuus, hut as those who had ereciod
the flagstuft were on their own ground the exeitement gradually subsided.
One of the most strenuous opponents was Hirini Te Kani, who hud a share
in the title to the lund on wlhich the flagstaff wus crected, and vonsiderc
Bimselt aggricved beeause the Ngaitekote hud ignoved hiw and had doe
whitt T did not thoroughly approve. When Me. Donald MeLeau e in
the St Kilda, " on June 4th, and @ number of people took the oath of
alleginnee, Hirind refused to take it unless the ohnoxious flagstall should
he taken down.

i

were.

The gencral eoutse of events seemed 1o indicate that u consideralils
time must clapse hefore it would he possible to resume at Waerenga-ahika
the work which had heen earried on there during the previous cight years;
but there were matters of some importance to be attended to if possible,
hefure u general dispersion should take place. Our swheat erop, which was
reaped in January, wos still in the straw aud, as thix would not now le
required for our own consumiption, it would have to be threshed out and
sent mway for sale. Tt was considered desirable nlso that wheat should
he sown for a frosh erop, so that. if the way should be open for the
resumption of our work in the course of the coniing sunimer, there might
be something to begin wpon in the way of food supply. Amother work
whieh liad heen eontemplated was the ereetion of @ small huilding for our
own use at Turanganui, the timber for this having already been eut, All
these works were put in hund but, owing to the general state of exeitement,
interruptions were many and progress was slow.

When Mr, McLean eame in June the Bishop had eome with him and
brought word that Sir George Grey had offered to place at the disposal
of our schools the buildings at Kawau which lad heen erceted for the
Waikato prisoncrs in 1863, if it should suit us to oceupy them. A fow
woeks afterwards the Bishop wrote urging me to go us soon as possible
and fo fake with we a§ many of our pupils as would be willing th
wecompuny me. Preparations were aceordingly made for removal, and
woderate number of vnr pupils swere shipped off in the middle of August
Thoir destination, however, was changed from Kawan to (he Bay of
fslands, where buildings belonging to the Churels Missionary Soeioty wope
availalle at Horotutu, adjoining the old station at Puibin, where the Bishon
had already taken up his quarters in o small eottage, the Rov. E. B. Clark
being there also. The faithful remnant who had steadily resisted Patara s
plausible sophistry and Bad used their hest offorts fo provent othors from
heing influenced by it were entitled to all the help and eneouragement tha*
T could give them, and it did not scem fitting that T should leave them ut
this time.  As the little cottage near the month of the Turnnganui River
was now habitable T took possession of it, leaving Waerenga-a-hika in the
friends, v Wi Huronga, Pita Te Huln,
Toti, all of Te Aitanga-a-Mahaki trihe.

charge of four stanneh Maor
Paora Matunkore and Mateng:

Of the two faetions of the Ngatiporou which had already becu
alluded to, the Kingites, 15 they were called, oceupied separate pas, and
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iwere often offensive in their manner towards those who favoured the
Government.  As a result of Patara’s suceess at Opotiki and Poverty Bay,
and of the claims so confidently put forward as to what Hauhauism was
about to accomplish for the Maori race, the Kingites began to adopt a
more insolent attitude towards their opponents. The Rev. Rota Waitoa.
whose neighbours at Te Kawakawa were mostly Kingites, had found it
neeessary eurly in May to move to Matakaoa in Hicks Bay, where Tharaira
te Houkamau, who was a staunch adherent of the Government, had built
a pa which he called Makeronia. The relations between the two factions
from Hicks Bay to Tokomaru were daily becoming more severely strained.
The Kingites were expeeting & visit from Patara, but Te Houkamau had
said that he would not allow him to come through by the track from
Whangaparaoa, and the adherents of the Government in the Waiapu Valley
had warned their opponents that, if they should bring Patara into their
neighbourhood, they would take up arms if necessary to expel him, as they
cousidered him responsible for the murder of Mr, Volkner at Opotiki.

Early in June Patara contrived to evade the vigilanee of Te
Houkaman and found his way to Pukemaire on the Waiapu. Just at this
time Mr. D. MeLean landed at Tuparoa from the Government steamer
“St. Kilda,”” and, finding that the men of standing of the friendly section
were attending a meeting at Popoti, a fow miles up the Waiapu River, ho
sent for them. They eame at onee, and after a conferemee with him
expressed their readiness to attempt the capture of Patara. This a small
party of them started rather preeipitately to do on the 11th. Patara
apparently was apprehensive of trouble and had actually started from
Pukemaire on his way back to the Bay of Plenty, being attended by .
number of armed men. He was overtaken on a stream ealled Mangaone,
at no great distance from Pukemairc, and in the engagement whicl
followed the pursuers were driven back with the loss of five of their
number, and Patara went on his way. It was reported that there was o
similar number of casualtics on the other side. Other eollisions followed
soon afterwards in which the Kingites for the most part had the advantage.
The rupture botween the two parties was now ecomplete, with no prospecs
of a settlement until the resort to arms should deeide whieh should have
to give way. The Kingites had, for some time previously, turned their haeks
on the native clergy. These remained at their posts and when hostilities
commenced betook themselves to their pas with their people, ministering
regularly to them. At Tokomarn however, the Rev. Matiaha Pahews
continued to visit the Kingites as long as they were willing to aceept his
ministrations, and hy so doing incurred the wrath of the ehiof. Hemare
Potae, who looked upon his action as identifying himself in every way
with them. From this time the Kingites were spoken of generally as
Hauhaus.

To the north of the East Cape the Hauhau party was the mora
numerous, the other side being represented by Te Houkamau and his
following at Matakaoa.

On the left bank of the Wainpn again, where the Hauhaus were
in the majority, the adhcrents of the Government under Mokena Kohere
fortificd themselves at Te Ruaopango, at no great distance from the right
hank of the river, and on the coast line as far as Waipiro there was 1
majority on the side of law and order, with a large pa at Tuparoa, where u
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large numher of the women and ehildren were comgregated.  Av
“Tokomaru, Henare Potac and his following, who wore gutuumbered by th
Hanhans, built o pa at Te Mawhai, ar the neck of the peninsuln which
forms the south head of the bay. The Hauhaus, on the other hand, had two
pas o the left hank of the Waapu; one at Pakaicomirami, near Rangitukis,
aliout two miles fram Te Ruaopango, and the other at Pukemaire, ahout five
wmiles further up the river. At Tokona
papa, on the hill immediately at the back of the present township.  South
of Tokomuru, ax far as Turanganui, the people all declared themselves ais
Ble to the Government. Heports were brought from Waiap
. in which the Hauhaus were the

they coustracted u pi at Puke

lavou
from time to time of various encounte
aggressors and generally gained some little advantage over their opponents
who secined to he unequal to them in the matter of arms and ammunition
a5 well as in numbers, Tn the course of 4 few weeks, however, Mokena's
people were put in good heart by the arrival of a detachment of Porest
Rangers and others under Fraser, Westrupp and Riggs, with a plentiful
supply of war material, and the tide soon turned in their favour. Owing
to their having heen somewhat successful in the past and probably als
to their confidence in the magical virtue of *‘TPaimarire,’’ the Haunhaus
had grown very insolent, and they attacked Te Houkaman in his pa at
Matakaoa, but were driven off with some loss, In the middle of July
they had a similar experience at Te Ruaopango, hut about a fortmight
afterwards they were driven out of their own pa at Pakairomiromi with
the loss of nineteen killed, and were obliged to take refuge in Pukemaire.
whiel was in a very strong position and very effectively fortified, They
were now compelled to aet entircly on the defensive, and did not venture
to show themsclves outside of their pa. ‘They held their ground, however,
till about the Oth of October, when, heing hotly pressed. they evaeuated
the pa without ohseryation and a large number of them made their way
by an inland track in the dircetion of Hicks Bay to Hungahungatoroa. on
a spur of Pukeamarn mountain.  As soon as their flight beeame known.
their tracks were followed by Totene Porourangi and Rapata Wahawaha
with about one hnndred men and by Biggs with ahont thirty. Moken
with Fraser and Westrupp and their men went from Te Ruaopango by the
coast and reached the Hauhan rendezvous soon after the other party. In
response to i summons the Hauhavs then surrendercd to the number of
about 200, and delivered up their arms. Tt was now eut of the power of
the Wainpu Hauhaus to eause any further serious trouhlo.

The Tokomaru Hauhaus also, emboldened perhaps by the early
sucensses of their Waiapu fricnds, some of whom had come to kelp them,
made a vigorows attempt on August 17th to take Homare Patac's pa at
Mo Mawhai.  The defenders, though greatly inferior in numbers. wern
fairly well equipped for defence, and after two days fighting, the Hauhans
wero obliged o retire. A fow days afterwards, the Wainpa eontingont
haying apparently returned howe, Hemare Potac attacked them in their
pa at Pukepapa, drove them out and pursued them in the dircction uf
Tolagn Bay as far ax Tabutahupo and Mangatuna on the Hikuwai, wheer
ke took a number 0f them prisoners with thirty-seven stands of arms and a
quantity of gunpowder.  On his way hack to Te Mawhai, at Pakura,
Little way inland from Anaura. he mot and routed a small party of
Mavhrius from Kufune and W st their
friends at Talutabupo. In Poverty Bay it was becoming daily more

i
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evident that the Hauhaus would not be content until they had made an
attempt to expel the Pukeha, which, Patara had persusded them, would be
n matter of no great difficulty. They had begun to throw up defensive
works in various places, two of which were fortified with special care.
One of these was at Wacrenga-a-hika, on the bank of an old river bed.
from a swamp in which they could get water. The other was Pukeamionga
an isolated hill near Patutahi, where water was not very readily procurable.
Tho of the among the

as they were by defiant Hauhaus, were fecling themselves to be somewhat
insceure, and procceded therefore to ereet a pa in which they might take
refuge in case of cmergeney. This was at Oweta, on the right bank of
the Waipaoa River, about two miles from the mouth. The threatening
attitude of the Hauhaus had the effect also of stiffening our friend Hirini
Te Kani at Turangamui, who, though never actually a partisam of the
Hauhaus, had sometimes appeared very lukewarm in his opposition to
them. He now declared himself very decidedly on the side of tho
Government, and wrote te Mr. MeLean, the representative of the Gowern-
ment at Napier, requesting that his people might be supplied with arms
wherewith to defend themselves in case of need, and coneluding with
further request that for the sccurity of the comparatively fow supporters
of the Government, some armed men might be stationed by the Government
at Turanganui.  This request was promptly responded to and on September
15th a cutter arrived from Napier bringing thirty of the military settlers
under Licutenant Wilson and fifty additional stand of arms with a plentiful
supply of ammunition, These were followed about a fortnight afterwards
by thirty of the Colonial Defence Force under Captain La Serre. The
extra arms were carfully guarded under lock anmd key to the great
disappointment of the Maoris, but they were intended to be used only in
the case of actual neeossity.

As soon as possible after his arrival, Licutenant Wilson sct about
the construction of a redoubt at Turanganui. A number of the Maoris
gave ready help in this work, which, as soon as it was brought to
completion, was occupied by the military sottlers.

Most of the Hauhaus who were driven out of Pukepapa by Henare
Potae made their way by the middle of September to Waerenga-a-hika,
numbering, it was said, about 200, and met with o cordial reception. They
attributed their defeat to what they called ‘‘Pikirapu,’” ic., to an
unwitting transgression on their part of some requirement of ‘‘Paimarire.’”
In their absence no trouble was apprehended at Tokomary, and Henars
Potae therefore did not hesitate to pay a visit to Turanganui, his objeet
being to eonfer with Lientenant Wilson and also to ascertain how tha
Tokomaru Hauhaus were situated. After spending scveral days at
Tolaga Bay and Whangara, he arrived at Turanganui with forty of his
men on September 28th. On the following day word was brought to him
that, on the 27th, a half-caste hoy named Henry Henderson had been killed
by Hauhaus when out with two other boys from Te Mawhai looking for
horses; also that carly on the next morning, Te Mawhai had been attacked,
but had beon sueecssfully defended by the small garsison, three of whom
were wounded; one, whose wound was serious, being John Henderson, tho
father of the boy who was killed. The assailants, who left nino of their
number dead, were some of the refugees from Wacrenga-a-hika who had
returned to Tokomaru, and finding that the garrison of Te Mawhai was
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much redueed in number, expeeted to he able to eapture the plaee without
difficulty.  On the reecipt of this news Henare Potae returned at onee to
Te Mawhai.

The completion of Tamihana Ruatapn’s pa it Oweta was clehratod
by & geeat demonstrution on Octobor 11th, when n good flagstall was cree(od
and the British flag duly hononred,  Licntenant Wilson went avor for the
occasion.  Soon afterwards Hirini and his people throw up a defensive
earthwork round their two wharepuni at Toranganui.

Tn the meantime the Enropean rosidents could not but reeognise that
thoir position was becoming daily more eritical. A numbor of the women
and childron bad alroady been sont away. Of the adult males there wore
at this time forty, all of whom had heew living on good terms with their
Maori neihbours, but the Haukau fanaticism had alrendy begin 1o interfere
somewhat with their amicablo relations, and further wnpleasant develop
ments were to ho cspeefed.  Some of tho traders had heen selling
intaxicating liquor to the Hauhaus, which tended 1o make them more
aggressive than they wonld otherwise have been; Mr. Iarris therefare,
who was the oldest European resident in the district, eallod a meating in
the hope of putting a stop to the practice. Several of the traders
attended with athers, and all wha ware prosent pledged themselves not to
supply any intoxieating fiquor to any Maori or half-easte during the
ensuing sis months, and to forfeit a sum of £50 if they should violate this
pledgo. This had some little effoct in ehocking the illagal practice, it did
not end it.

On O¢toher 20th Henare Potac arrived again at Turangamui  from
Te Mawhai with thirty of his men, and his presence had the effect of
exasperating the Rongowhakaata Hauhans, who dared him to meddle with
the refugees from Tokomarn, and declar¢d fhat they should eome as far
as Makaraka by way of a ehallenge, and to show that they were not afraid
of him. Raharuhi and others nsed very violont language, referring not only
to Henare Potac, but to Europeans generally, advocating swar to the knife.
Tn cansequence of this there was a general move of most of the European
residents to Toranganui.  Several small buildings on sledges had heen
hronght ta the right hank of fhe river some days provieusly, but the
afforded very seant aceommodation. OF these refugees eleven were women
and eighteen ehildren, ten of whom took shelter for the night under my
small roof, Many of the Hauhaus. on hearing that the homes were
deserted, proceeded fo plunder them. wantonly destroying much of what
they could not earry awny. Anam Matete was with some of them, nor
taking part in the plunder, but making no offort to prevent it.  Affer
this Captain La Serre ordered that all the Furopeans should sleep om the
1eft bank of the river, where they conld he more easily proteeted in ease
of need, and as there were no buildings available, llm\' took up their
quartors temporarily in the chureh until huildings conld he hronght deros
for them.

On the following day there eame o lotter from Raharuhi to Ticutonant
Wilson to say that e strongly disapproved of what the Wauhans had dane
and thit if an assossment coull ho made of the mount of the damag
sustained by the Furopeans, he would make the enlprits pay the equivalent
The messenger was sent back witlout any definite veply, hut was bidden
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to inform Raharuhi that a report had already been despatehed to Napier,
that Mr. McLean was expeeted almost immediately, and that he would be
able to speak with authority on the subjeet.

The chicfs of Hawke’s Bay had shown decided disapproval of the
state of affairs in Poverty Bay, and espeeially of the conduct of Raharuhi.
In September Karaitiana Takamoana had come for the express purpose of
trying to induce Raharuhi to go with him to Napicr in the hope of being
able to persuade him to renounce i Now in the ing of
November Tarcha came on a similar errand. He brought Rararuhi to
Turanganui, and wished the offieers to meet him and discuss the position.
They, however, declared that they were without anthority, and that any
further communication must be made to Mr. McLean. On the 9th of
November HALS, “Fisk’? arrived from Waiapu, bringing Mr. MeLean with
260 of Ngatiporou, who were accompanied by the Rev. Mohi Turei. The
““Sturt?” followed soon after, bringing 100 Forest Rangers under Major
Fraser. On the following day Mr. MeLean took counsel with a number of
friendly chicfs and deeided to offer the Hauhaus the following terms, viz—
1. That malefactors should be delivered up; 2, that Hauhanism should be
renounced by all; and that they should take the oath of allogiance; 3, that
they should pay a penalty in land; and 4, that they should give up their
arms. On the 13th an answer came signed by most of the leading men
among the Hauhaus, stating that they were willing to come to terms, but
that they were very anxious that he (Mr. McLean), should go to visit them.
This he declined to do, and sent word that if they were willing to agree
to the terms he offered them, they had better come in at once, and he
wonld then know that they were sincore. A few Hauhaus came over i
boats from the further side of the bay, but the majority were evidently in
o hurry to surrender themselves.

The ““Esk’’ was leaving that cvening for Auckland, and as Captain
Luce kindly offered me n passage, T left with him, intending to join our
party at the Bay of Islands.

CHAPTER V.

After my arrival at the Bay of Islands Mr. J. W. Harris seut me
reports from Turanganui of which the following is the substancei—

The result of Mr. MeLean’s ultimatum of the 13th November was
that Raharuhi and another of the leading Haumhaus came to tell him
that Hauhaus to the number of 270 would come in on the following day
to express the aeceptanee of the terms offered to them. As nonc came in
in pursuance of this promise Mr. MeLean sent them word that he would
give them till noon of the 16th. The only responsc to this was that on
the morning of the 16th most of the buildings on the station at Waerenga
whika were burnt, the smoke of the burning buildings heing plainly visible
from Turanganui. Of our faithful Maori friends who had heen in charge
of the place, several had taken refuge at Oweta, but Wi Haronga, having
speeial permission from Captain La Serre, stayed on in the hopes of being
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ahle to save some at least of the property. He had taken np his quarters
in the Bishop's house with his wife and two ehildeen, and, as ke obstinately
refused to leave it when summoned by the Hauhaus, he was the means of
saving it from the gencral destruetion,

When the time indicated by Mr. McLean hiad expired without wry
further communieation from the Tauhaus, orders were given to Muj
Fraser, and all the availahle foree moved off in the conrse of the afternoon
48 far as Huiaton, in the dircetion of Pukeamionga. On the 17th the foreo
was soon on the move dgain, hut took the traek leading to Waerenga 5-hike.
The Hanhuus mude another attempt to get Wi Haronga out of the house,
but with no hetter suecess than before; some of them, however, havine
found that there was n little lead on the roof procceded to strip it off.
While they were so engaged they saw the forec coming up through the
puddocks snd hurried off into their pa. Wi Haronga had yoked up
bulloeks to a dray in the carly morning, and had put a number of things
in it to go towards Turanganui. As soon as the alarm was given, he
placed his two ehildren in the dray and started, he and his wife walking
by the side.  When he reached a position from which he could sce the
advancing amy ke expressed his satisfaction by waving a weleome, hut was
fired upon three several times, Fortunately none of them was hit, and
as the hullocks had heen frightened and had hurried off by a back way,
he and his wifo erept into a ditch where they were sercencd from view
by a crop of wheat, and made their way after the dray, taking it to
Taruhern,

Tho Bishop’s house with the adjoining bnilding which had been
acenpied by the girls! school was immediately taken posscssion of by the
foreo and from the roof and from the upper rooms a plunging fire was
directed into the pa.  The Forest Rangers took up a position on the south
ride of the pa, and on the following day Licutenant Wilson with his
Military Settlers, three Maoris, and three English voluntcers went roun:d
ta the roar of the pa before daylight and found a shelter about 20 or 40
yards from the pa, from which the water supply of the pa was commanded.
About 5 p.m. they were fired into from hehind by a party of HHaunhaus, who
had erept ont under shelter of thick serub. Two of the party foll dead
and several were wounded.  As there was no shelter there was nothing
for it but for the survivors to make the hest of their way towards the
Bishop’s house, running the gauntlet of a severc fire from the pa, in the
course of which three more were killed. Wilson himself regeived three
wounds, but none of them was serious. On the 19th the ITauhans were
reinforeed by n body of men under Anaru Matcte, and a number of them
came out of the pa towards the house in three bodics preceded by their
fighting flag, each of them holding up a hand, presumably to ward off
hostile bullets. Fire was opened on them from the house and from trenches
in tho garden, when thirty of them fell. On the n a flag of truce
was hoisted and an hour allowed for the hurial of the dead.  On the 22nd
most of the de s of the pa t E s and delivered up
their arms. Two days afterwards the force returned to Turanganui with
the defeated Hauhaus.

The Waerengn-n-hika stronghold and other piaces fortified hy the
Mavhans were at onee dismantled, and a number of the Roengowhakaata
Hauvhaus were placed in the charge of the friendly natives at Oweta,

Page 47



Anaru Matete did not surrender himself but made his eseape to Wairoa
Some of the prominent Hauhaus went off in the direction of Opotiki.

“This was the end of Haubauism in these parts; for, though the name
‘“Hauhan’’ has been in uso cver since to denoto those who have been
disaffeeted cither towards the or towards Chri , the
peeulinr qunsi-religions practices preseribed hy Patara were heard no more
of from this time. ‘‘Paimarire’” had been pot to & practical test with tho
result that it had brought defeat and disaster instead of vietory to those
who had been deluded into adopting it.

Among those who had been wounded was Dr. Ormond, who, soon
after the Bishop’s house was taken posscssion of, was standing beside
Biggs and looking on at a black-lotter book which the latter had picked
up from the Bishop’s library. He had his left hand in his trousers
pocket, and a bullet from a rifle in the pa pierced his hand and made a
flesh wound through both thighs, thus disabling him from rendering any
professional nssistance to other wounded. Another was Mr. Ross, an
officer of tho Forest Rangers. He was struck on the nose, the bullet taking
a eonrse below the brain and a little to one side, passing out towards the
hack of the meck. He was brought down to my cottnge, which was
oceupied during my absence of Messrs, Harris and Espie. He suffered a
good deal from hemorrhage, and his ease was for some time considered
to be hopeless, but he reeovered and ultimately settled on a farm near
Opotiki, whieh he oceupied for many years.

There was nothing now to prevent the European residents from
returning to their homes and they set to work at once to repair damages
and to take sueh stops as were possible to got their homesteads into order
again. Most of the Colonial forees were sent to Wairoa, where it was
thought that their serviees might be needed, but Westrupp, with his company
of Torest Rangers, was stationed at Kohanga-karearca, on the Arai River,
to guard against any possible incursion of Hauhaus from Wairoa. Wilson
and La Serre, with their respective contingents were left for the time
heing at Turanganui in charge of the Havhaus, but the Ngatiporou, under
Hotene and Rapata were taken back to Waiapu.

The forces that were sent to Wairoa soon had serious work to do.
It will bo remembered that the second party of the Hauhaus who visited
Poverty Bay in March, 1865, had come by way of Waikaremoana and the
Upper Wairoa, and most of tho people who oecupied those parts of tho
district had accepted what they were given to understand was the
rovelation made throngh the Angel Gabriel to Te Ua. The people on the
lower Wairoa, under their chiefs Pitihera Kopu and Paora Te Apatu, the
Nuhaka people under Thaka Whangn, and the Mohaka people under Hoani
Te Wainohu, showed the Hauhaus no favour, and when these hecame
aggressive, ranged themsclves on the side of the Government. The
opposing parties first came into collision on Christmas Day, 1865, on the
Mangnaruhe stream, about 15 miles from the mouth of the \'eron They
wore aftorwards followed up towards in swhich
hood they had taken up a strong position on the aseent towards the lake
riflo pits having heen constructed hehind a tall growth of fern, which
effectually coneealed them. The advaneing foree was met here on January
12th by a fieree fire from the rifle pits, Thaka Whanga, among othors, being,

Page 48



wounded in the thigh. The Hauhaus, however, wote soon driven out of
their position with the loss of over forty killed, the friendly natives ulso
losing twelve of their number. Among the Hauhuus engaged in theso
actions were many from other parts, including a number from Poverty
Bay.

1866.—On the 2nd of January I left the Bay of Islands on my return
to Turanganui, hut the means of communieation syere so irregular that,
though I took passage by a small steamer for Napier 1 did not reach my
destination till the 31st.  The Maori population of Turanganui wis now
estimated at about 1000, of whom the greater mumber were the Hanhaus,
The majority of these, now that Hauhauism was thoroughly diseredited.
were to all appearanee utterly indifferent in the matter of religion; but
there were some who were ready humbly to acknowledge their grievous
error in having associnted themselves with it, and seemed thankful to have
the oppartunity of joining again in the worship of God as members of a
Christinn eongregntion. These, it may fairly be supposed, had joined
what they considered to he the patriotic side without any intention of
renouncing Christianity, and without a thought of the inj which theg
might sustain by intimate fellowship with these who openly confessed
themselves to be anti-Christinn.

As Waerenga-a-hika was now aceessible I took an carly opportunity
of paying the place a visit of imspection, Licutenant Wilson kindly
accompanying me. The seenc was one of dreary desolation, chimneys
here ani there showing where some of the buildings had been, fences on all
sides were very much broken down. The Bishop’s house. though still
standing, was now not much more than o mere shell, the roof having heen
stripped in many places and the doors wrenehed off their hinges; much of
the interior lining heing torn down and taken away: the floor in soma
of the rooms strewed with fragments of books and papers whieh had heen
destroyed, it was said, in order that some of the people might have some-
thing less unyielding than bare boards to lic upon. Of the very few hooks
which had not leen destroyed or taken nway we found a eapy of the Latin
Vulgate and a copy of the New Testament in Greek, neither of w
probably owed its survival to any sentiment of reverence.
greatest part of this dumage the Haunhans were not responsible as they
had been kept at hay by Wi Haronga till the foree from Turanganui was
almost upon them.  About 150 yards from the house was what wags left
of the pa; of which all the heavy puriri posts of the palisade were thickly
pitted with bullet marks on the side facing the house, giving some
indication of the deadly character of the hail of lead which had heea

Qiselarged at the pa during those four terrible days. The pa had heon
demolished but enough remained to show what an enormous winownt of
lahour lad heen spent upon the fortifications and the skill with whieh it
had been devised, Talour and skill worthy of @ hetter eause and inadequati
saster of those who had put their trust in it

10 the securing from
Among the saddest objects wera the temporary graves in which the slaia

of both sides had been hastily buried where they had fallen. One small

enclosure was feneed in with door and tahle tops, and on one of the doors
was written a statement in Maori to the effeet that nine men were lying

holy, nod

in this grave. The speetacle altogether was indeed most mel
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it was impossible to avoid the thought that all this ruin and loss of lifo
had come about withont any adequate reason.

On ‘l‘ellrmm 20th the distriet was visited by Coloncl Haultain, who
was then ) er for Colonial Defence. He spoke of the deportation of
& number of the Hanhau prisoncrs to Chatham Island as o step which the
Government had under eonsideration, the object being to have them ont
of the way until the question of the confiscation of land should be settled,
as the people had been warned beforchand that they would he punished
in this way for taking up arms against the Government. It was contem-
pluted that, if they should he deported, they would be hrought hack again
in the course of about 12 months. The Colonel stated also that whatever
course the Government might decide upon, Mr. McLean would reecive full
instructions in due course.

As the Colonel was going on the ““Sturt’” to Waiapu, T was glad to
take the opportunity of revisiting the Ngatiporou, intending to return
overland. T found the Rev. Mohi Turei at Te Ruaopango where the late
defenders of ire were q under the charge of Mokena’s
people. Al wero living very amicably together as though their peaceful
relations had never been disturbed. There was o dotachment of the
Military Settlers stationed for the time being at Te Awanui. The people,
who in time of peace, were distributed along the coast from Reporua to
Waipiro, were still erowded together at Taparea in a pa which was proteeted
by a rough palisade only, the Rev. Raniera Kawhia heing with them. South
of Tokomaru very few people were met with, the majority heing at
Turanganui.

On the surrender of the pa at Wacrenga-a-hika some of the Hauhaos,
as aiready stated, wont off to Wairoa and others in the dircetion of Opotiki.
An ivcident, however, oceurred at this time which revealed the fact that
some of them were still Turking in the bush some miles back. At the time
of Pataru’s visit o German, named Beyer, had diseovered petroloum some
distance up the Waipnoa Valley. On my return from Waiapu I found that
Messrs. Fapie, senior and junior, with Sergeant Walsh of the Colonial
Defence Force and a Maori lad had gone on an exploring expedition with
the view of locating the petrolenm. In tho course of their journey they
came to a steep hill, which, after tying up their horses, they procecded
to climb on foot. While they were so engaged a party of Hauhaus,
consisting of six men and two women appeared. These first took possession
of what they found on the saddles and then followed the party up the hill.
Shots were exchanged with the result Walsh was hit in five places, thongh
not seriously, and Espic scnior was hit in the left arm.  Walsh then seized
one of the Hauhaus, and after a struggle took nway his gun and secured
him.  The other Tlauhaus then hurried away. After this adventure the
party roturned, bringing their prisoner with them, and reached Turanganui
the following morning.

On March 3rd JLMLS. ““Fsk’’ arrived bringing Sir George Groy with
the Flauhau prophet Te Us, whom he had heen taking to various places to let
the people see that in spite of his fame as a prophet there was nothing
awe-inspiring ahout lim, but that on the contrary he had the appearance
of an imhecile.

Page 50



The “St. Kilda’? had arrived on the same woening, Lringing Mr. Me-
Lean who had reecived full instritetions with reference to the deportation of
Hauhau prisoners to Chatham Island. Il to take counsel
with the friendly chiefs and to lay hefore them the decision at whick the
Government had arrived, viz, thut the prisoncrs should he deported to
Chatham Tsland for a period which might not he uch more than twelvs
months, during which arrangements might he made for the confiseation of
such Jand as the Government should deeids to take. The friendly ehinfs
all approved of the measure, and ninM\- porsons, of whom forty-four woro
men, were taken on hoard the ‘St Kilda'* as n first instalment. A goard
was sent with them from ,\npm consisting of thirtcen Furopeans il
twelve Maoris under Lieut. A, Tuke. Subsequent trips of the ¢St. Kilda '
raised the number to about 700, some heing taken from the Bay of Plenty.

The state of the country in 1866 could hardly be called one of peace,
though after the fighting at Waikaromoana and after General Chute’s
marel through the forest at the back of Mount Egmont during which
Te Au was eaptored there was a gene spension of hostilities. Tn the

‘aikato the ankati or interdict against any Pukeha entering the King
Country was still rigorously maintained. Tawhiao, the Maori King, issned
a proclamation in April, couched in very figurative lnnuu:lg(‘ and addressed
to all the Maori people, inviting all to W stanee (o the
Pakehas, success in which was ussured inasmuch a8 God was their refuge.
Anars Matete, who had taken a prominent part in the procecdings of the
Hauhans in Poverty Bay, 1 letter in purs of this procla
tion to the prineipal chiefs in Hawke’s Bay, in which he urged them to
join the King, as, in spite of the reverses which the Haubans had su.

the hlessing of the Almighty was resting on the Kings cause, giving full
assutance of vietory. The King cned to high ground on which the
people might tnke refuge from the Pakeha inundation. He
in a similar strain to the people of Toverty Bay, urging them to “‘taks
refuge on the dry ground.” Te Usa, he said, had disowned Hauhauism
and the work of Patata and Kercopa az thov, by their wrong doing, hal
bronght disaster on the eause of the Maori, This eanse was now commirted
hy him to Tawhino, who would he supported by Tohu, To Whiti and
Taikomako; the Hauhan methods were to he disearded. These letters met
with no favourable response, hut they clearly indicated that the time of
peace was not yet. Tn Junc the Hawke’s Bay ehiefs who had turned
deaf ear to Tawhiao’s proclamation, were threatencd with an attack from
peaple occupying the conntry between Hawke’s Bay and Taupo under
Paora Toki, but when they showed that they were prepared vigorously to
defend themselves, the would-be nilants withdrew. Mueh uncertainty,
Lowever, continued to be felt as to their nltimate intentions. A Jittle later
in the month of August, Anaru Matete appearcd at Te Poliue, on the Taupo
track, with 270 armed men colleeted from various trihes who were said
to be waiting for a signal from the Atua to attack Hawke'’s Bay; but they
came no further, Again, early in September he came to Petano with a
Diody of fram SO to 100 armed men professing o great desire that terms of
peace shonld bhe arranged, but goon returned again to Titiokura Theiz
subsequent movements seem to indieato that the ehjeet of his visit was to
obtain information as to the amount of resistance which they wonld he
likely to meet with if they shonld attempt to carry out the threat which
they had previously made of an armed raid o the distriet, and by their
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profession of an earnest desire for peace, to put both the friendly natives
and the English off their guard. Towards the end of the month an armed
party of about 140 eame again to Petane professing the same carncst desirg
for peace as on the previous visit. On the 4th October these moved on
swithout invitation to Omarunui, where there was a small pa whiteh they
occupied. The ecircumstances were such as might well have aroused
suspicion, hut it was not until some information as to their designs which
had been obtained by the Rev, 8. Williams had been communicated to the
authoritics and to the friendly chiefs that any steps were taken to guard
agninst surprise.  On the 8th, the Volunteers and tho Militia were ealled
out and n small body of the Defence Foree under Major Fraser and a foreo
of friendly natives were summoned from Wairon. The local friendly
natives, under Renata and Karaitiana, also prepared to defend themselves
at Te Pawhakairo. Mr. MeclLecan, who was superintendent of the Provines
and Government Agent, sent the Hauhaus a message requiring them to leave
the district, to which they replied that they would be guided as to their
movements by their atua. It scemed to be guite clear that they intended
mischicf, and therefore on the night of the 11th, the Volunteers, the
Ailitia and the friendly natives started for Omarunui, and Fraser and his
men were dirccted to proceed at onee to Petane to intercept a party from
Titiokura. Roth of these parties were summoned to surrender, but they
preferred to fight, with the result that some of them were killed and others
taken prisoners. It was afterwards ascertained from the prisoners that
their plan had been that the party from Titiokura should attack the Port,
and that, when the defending forec should be engaged with them, the party
from Omarunui should come down and make short work of Napier and the
neighbourhood. It was a cause for much thankfulness to Divine Providence
that the scheme was so completely frustrated.

Somo apprehension was felt also in regard to Hauhaus at Wairarapa,
hut any intended movement on their part was probably prevented hy what
took place at Omarunui. From all this it was evident that some time
must yet elapse hefore the occupations of a time of peace could he resumed
without the risk of disturbance. The people nevertheloss had bogun to
move away from the pas in which they had congregated themselves for
purposes of defence and to turn their attention to the cultivation of the soil.
At Waiapu the sharp antagonism between those who favonred the Maori
King and the adherents of the Government had passed away, though many
of the former were somewhat shy, still retaining, it may be supposed, the
notion that they had heen deceived by the missionaries.

The state of New Zealand at this time. suggested to the Committec
of the Chureh Missionary Soeicty the question whether the time had not
eome for preparation to he made for the discontinuance; at no very distant
date, of its work in this mission, in order that it might be the more free
to take advantage of openings for missionary work in other lands. Mission
stations in the Waikato, at Opotiki and at Waerengn-a-hika had heen
broken up, and many of the native tribes had been seattered. In distriets,
too, in which the population had been preponderintly Maori the propartion
of European to Maori would now be reversed. The Socicty did not eon-
ider that its work in the conntry had been so thoroughly done as to justify
s withdrawal, but wished to be guided by the knowledge and advice of
peaple an the spot. and therefore suggested that the older missionaries
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should meet in conference, together with Sir W. Martin and Dr. Maunsell
to discuss the future conduct of the missiou aml to report to the Sevicty,
The conference met in June and adyi that the Sod
draw, but that advantage should he taken of overy opportunily that wight
for the resumption of weork the distnrbed distriets, and that
special attention should e given to the training of native clorgy. 10w
never eontemplated that the residence of the Bishop of Wainpu a1 the
Buy of Istands should he of Tomg continuanes, and now that the sotthemnt s
on the coast were in comparutive tranquillity he was anxious to get biek
to his diocese as soon ax it might be practicable, As the reocenpation of
Waerengin-hika was-at that time out of the question aund Taoranga was,
on various grounds, quite aisuitabl stion was wnde that he should,
for @ time at least, reside nt Napicr, from whenee the divcese would e
mateh more aceessible than from the Bay of Islinds. This suggestion
commended itself very strongly to the Bishop of New Zealand and also (o
the Bishop of Wellington, both of whom were of opinion that the
Trovineial Distriet of Hawke’s Bay might well, under the eirenmst
then oy
of Wainpu; that the Bishop of Waiapy might hie commissioned to act for
the Bishop of Wellington in that portion of his diocese until the ehange
should he definitely cffected hy the goneral Svnod; and that edueationa!
and training work might be earried on at Te Aute, where there wa
elueationnl endowment. Acting on their adviee the Bishop of Wainpu
decided to dismiss the remnants of the schools from the Bay of Islands,
and moved his headquarters to Napier in January, 1867.

ety should wot witl

Sty

nees

sting, he taken from the diocese of Wellington and added to that

an

Tt was generally understood that it was the intention of those who
wore in authority to comfiseate all the land helonging to those who had
taken arms against the Government, hut that ont of the land so confiseated
muaple reserves would be made for their support. Tn order to earry this
aut a doed of cession was prepared to which the signatures were obtained
of the clicfs and other representative men in the distriet who had not
Borne arms ugainst the Government. By this deed was eeded to the Crown
all the land to the cast of a line taken from Lottin Point, in the north,
through speeified points to the north-cast of Waikaremoana Lake. and to
the morth of a line drawn from thenec to the Sen so ag to include the
distriet of Wairon, on the condition that each of the owners whose lanil
was 1ot to be confiseated should receive a Crown grant for his own portion
In the ensuing session of Purlinment *“The Bast Const Tand Titles Tivesti-
gation Act, 1866,%" was passed, the purport of which was to confiscate all
land within the speeified distriet which helonged to people ““who had been
engaged in the rehellion.”” Two of the judges of the Native Land Court
were appointed Commissioners to earry out the Act, and notiee was issued
that the C ission would sit at T in 1867, The Com-
wmis<ion was formally opened on the day appointed, and the poople, who had
heen brought together were, to thoir great disappointment, disamissod with
the announcement that, owing to a serions flaw in the Act, no husiness
eonld he done; and the Commission must he adjourncd sine die. The faer
was that tho Aet which had been passed contained a reference to *“Tho
New Zealand Settlements Act, 1863.7" which practieally identificd such
“natives or other persons as shall not have heen engaged in the rebellion?”
with those ““who have heen engaged in making or levying war or carrying
st Tor Mujesty the Quoen, ar Ier Mujosty’s forecs i New

arms
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Zealand.’” There was nothing for it, therefore, but to postpone the
proceedings for twelve months to give the Parliament wn opportunity of
roetifying its own blunder.* The delay which was thus caused inflicted
great hardship on the friendly natives within the district defined by the
Aet, many of whom had heen fighting on the side of the Government, and
moreover it was not uncounected with the disasters which befell the distriet
at a later period.

After the ( ission had been adj 1 Mr, MeLean ied
thie Hon. J. C. Richmond on a visit to Wairoa with the Heretaunga chiefs,
Karaitiana, Tarcha and Hapuku, Mr. Richmond was the Commissioner of
Customs in the Stafford Ministry, and the object of his visit was
presumably to arrive at a definito understanding with the friendly natives
a8 to the land in that district which was to be confiseated. The parts
ocenpied by the Hauhaus were Whataroa on the Mangaaruhe, Opouiti on the
Mangapouiki, Te Reinga and other places on the Runkituri, and places on
the south side of Waikaremoana Lake. A large meeting was held ou
April 3rd at Te Hatepe, the pa of Pitihera Kopu, who had been one of the
staunchest opponents of the Hauhaus, and had taken an active part in
the fighting at Waikaremoana in January, 1866. The block of land which
the Government proposed to take included a good deal on the Waiau and
on the left bank of the Wairoa as far as the site of Frasertown, in which
many of these who had heen fighting on the Government side were largely
interested. When the houndaries were indicated a good deal of opposition
was naturally aroused, but great pressure was put on the objectors, who wera
somewhat roughly told by the advocates of thé Government proposals that
they were taking sides with the Havhavs. Kopu and his wife, who were
among the prineipal owners of the land in dispute, had taken no part in
the discussion, but brought it to an end hy each of them suying, ““The
Jand belongs to me, and I consent to its being taken to make amends for
the delinquenees of the Havhaus,”” Their action was dignified and worthy
of the old Rangatira traditions, but it was not to the credit of those who
were in authority that ome who had rendered signal service to the
Government should have heen subjected to great pressurc to induce him
to consent to some of his land being confiseated.  Much sympathy however
was expressed when Kopu died a few days later after a short illness, and «
monument was subsequently erceted to his memory at the public expense.

The Parliament met in duc course and an amending Act was passed
which correctly defined the persons to whom the pemalty of land confiseation
was intended to apply. The Commission was advertised to sit again at
Turanganui in March, 1868, but it would have been impossible to ascertain
within a reasonable time what portions of land, as helonging to Hauhaus,
had been declared to be eonfiseated, Mr. MeLean made an attempt to
negotiate a compromise with the friendly chicfs, and to get a cortain
portion of the land defined which the might take as
the land belonging to the Hauhaus, it being understood that the Govern-
ment would waive its elaim to Hauhau land outside the defined block
in favor of the friendly natives; the attempt however, proved unsuccessful.
The people complained of the great delay which had taken place, and said
that the business would have been casily settled if it had been taken in
hand immediately on the conclusion of war. The various claims which had

been advertised were then brought before the Commission, and cach one
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was immediatoly withdrawn, so that no business could be done, Tt was,
however, arranged that a bloek at Turingauui, roughly estimated at wbout
1000 aeres, should be purehased by the Government for w sum nf £2000,
Upon this @ township was afterwards laid out, to whick the name of
Gishorne was given.

In the Waiapu disteiet the friendly chiofs had been informed thut,
in consideration of the valuable support which they had given to the
Govermment at Waiapy, Poverty Bay and Waikaremonna, it would he lett
to them to settle what land should be taken by the Government uder
o Eust Coast Land Titles [nvestigation Aet, 15667 They accordingly
marked off & hlock of cousiderable size, including the sites of the two
Hauhau strongholds of Rikemaire and Hungahungatoron, these two jlaces
helig about fourteon miles apart. After the abortive session of the
Comuiission at Turanganui, Major Biggs went to, Wainpu on bebalf of the
Govornment that the boundaries of this hloek might he pointed out to him.
Ou this being done ho oxpressed dissatisfaction on the ground that the
amount was ins t, and indi o extension of the
Lcu A ow i, Su (hfs opinsan, cwonld belai sEaeloy th Uhel Govecnionts
Much diseussion ensued throughout the district, and a great meeti
held, ut which Major Biggs received their auswer to his dewand,
was that the Ngatiporon acknowlodged thoie ndebtedness to the Goverr:
ment for the timely help which had been afforded them in thoir conflict
with their Tlauhau opponents, but that, on the other hand, they had fought
for the Gavernment at Poverty Bay and at Waikaremonns, for which they
lad reecived little or nothing in the way of remuneration; that, as requested
by the Government, they had sot apart a considerable hlock af land to b
taken by the Government s representing the land helonging to the Hauhaus,
and that, if the Government was not satisfied with that, they would give
none. At the same time they were quite willing to give up what they had
offered if the Government would aceept it.  Bizgs? aetion in (his matter
was flladvised and unfaic to the natives, inasmuch as it was @ violation
of o pledge nude to them by a superior officer. and tended in throw
diseredit an the pledged word of those who were in n position of anthority.
The difficolty thus enused was ultimately solved in o way which was
satisfactory to a1l partics, as will appear later on.

CHAPTER VL

The attention of hoth Pakeha and Maori was soon diverted from
questions connected with the  econfiseatic
inmiediste wrgeney.  On Sunday, July 1200, 4 repore ssas bronght (o
Tursnganui that the Haubiu prisovers haol been brought back from Chathio
Tnland and landed on the 100t Wharcougaouga, about cight miles
of Young Nitk’s Head.  As the day

of land to matters of morn

dvainea] the seport wis cout

with additioual particulars, The party was stated to be well supplied
with arus, ammunition and provisions, which they Lad brought from
Chatlon Tslnd, where they had overpowered the goard,  Soie wers

stated to have ridden over from Wharcougnonga, to lave inspected the




friendly natives® pa at Muriwai, and to have returned without holding any
communication with the residents, mot even answering when addressed.
This conduet was regarded by the Muriwai people as an indication of
hostile intent on the part of the visitors.

Captain Biggs had started that morwing for Wairea by way of
Muhia, aud had not proceeded very far bofore he learned what had oceurred.
He therefore turned back again and summoned the English Volunteers and
friendly natives to be ready to mareh towards Wharcongaonga in order
that he might be able to aseertain what was the actual position, and what
steps it might be necessary to take. The volunteers numbered thirty-one,
and were aceompanied by about fifty armed friendly natives. With this
little band Biggs procoeded to a spot some throe or four miles from
Wharcongaonga, and sent forward two messeagers with the demand that
the eseaped prisoners should deliver up their arms. As the messengors
advanced they encountered an outlying picket of about thirty men, armed
with rifles, on the top of the hill overlooking Wharcongaonga, and another
similarly armed, at the foot of tho hill. These escorted them to their
leader, who proved to be Te Kooti Rikirangi, and answered their message
Dy saying that God had given them their arms, and that they were not
going to deliver them up at any man’s bidding. Ho intimated also that
they wished to be allowed to go on their way unmolosted. During this
interview the women und children were standing by in silence, Te Koot
having given orders that they were not even to utter the familiar salutation,
“‘tonakoe.’” On the return of the messengers, Biggs decided that the only
thing he could do was to send to Wellington by the carliest opportunity »
report of what bad taken place. He therefore disbanded his force and
dirceted the Muriwai natives to keep an eye on the fugitives and to report
promptly to him any movement that they might make.

Te Kooti, who soon afterwards lhoeame so motorious, was a well-
known character in Poverty Bay; he had not previously shown any of the
qualitics of @ leader of men, The various traders knew him as being
somewhat lightfingercd, and generally as a troublesome follow. During
the time of the Waerenga-a-hika campaign he way among the supporters of
the Government, while his brother, Komere, associated himself with the
Mauliaus.  One day, before the capture of Wacrenga-a-hika, ho was placed
under arrest on a charge of having been in communication with the enemy,
and of having given ono of them some ammunition. He acknowledgol
that he had been in communication with his brother, but that the objoet
of his communication was to induce his brother, if possible, to abandon
the Hauhau side, and so to avoid disaster. At all events, nothing secms to
have been proved against him and he was sot at liberty. When the
Hauhau prisoners were being taken to Chatham Islnd, it is said that
someone suggested that if Te Kooti were to be deported along with the
Iauhaus, the distriet would be relieved for a time, at least, of a very
troublesome eharactor. This, as far as T have been able to lear, is how
it came about that he was taken to Chatham Island.  Moss, in his *“School
History of New Zealand,’” says that “‘at Napier he made three distinet
appeals, throngh Mr. Hamlin, to Mr. Donald MecLean to be tried, or at least
to be informed why he had been made prisoncr. No reply was given, but
Te Kooti was put on board ship with the rest and sent to the Chatham
Tslands.”’* He was by no means faultless, but he had not taken arms
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against the Governmeit nor had he ever joined the Mauhaus, and he rosontod
very keenly the grossly unfair treatment which e lud
who were in authority.  1n the course of bis enforeed
Island he had a severe illness, and during his time of convalescence be
togk to studying the Old Testament, especially the Books of Josbuw and
the Judges, together with the imprecatory pussages in the Psalter. Atter
his recovery he began to ussume the role of u prophet, basing his teuehing
on the stories of the lsraelites” victories,  He ulso began to Lold religious
services morning and evening, tewching kis fullow prisomers to recite
together certain passages from the Usalms, or a cento of verses taken
frow the Dsalms or from other portions of Seripture, after which ke
recited Biwsell a fow short prayers composed by hiwself in Seripturs!
language, und addressed to Jehovak, but without any referenee whatever
Jesus Christ, each prayer concluding with the words, “‘Gloty to Jehoval,
Auen.”” In supportof his elaim he is reported to huve exhibited Signs, vno
of which was that of light issuing from the skin of his hands, whien
unbelievers awong his follow-prisoners attributed to coutdct with the heads
of wax vestas.  One of the unbelievers way Keke, who told Cuptain Thomius
that Te Kooti was contemplating mischicf of some kind, but there may
liave been little in the way of evidence of which cognizanee could be tuken,
though the sequel showed that the majority of his fcllow-prisoncts had
come 10 look upon him as & leader whom they could trust, and were ready
to pluce themsclves implicitly under his dircetion. The opportunity for
action came with the arrival of the sehooner “‘Rifieman,’ of 82 tons, from
Wellington with supplics which it was the business of the prisoucrs to
convey to the redoubt. The number of the guard had by this time been
redueed to ning, of whow two only were on duty in the redoubt. T Kooti
seems to have laid his plans without exciting any suspicion, and on 4 given
signul  the redoubt was tuken possession of. One of the two sentries
resisted, and was iumediately felled with an axe, whereupon his ecompauiou
submitted to be tied up and so rendered belpless.  The killing of the
sentry was contrary to P Kooti’s expross orders, as waus also the uttenpt
(o strangle one of the settlers. Having got possession of the redoubt the
prisoners possessed themselves of arms and ammunition and had perfeet
command of the situation. Cuptain Thowns was bound in his own ofiee,
from which w considerable sum of money was obtained. The Captain of
the ““Rifleman’’ was on shore, but the chief oflicer und the scamen had no
choiee but to obey Te Kooti’s The number of those who erowdod
ot hourd the small schooner was 169 men with 86 stand of arms, 64 womcn
and 71 ¢hildren.  Two of the men, viz, Keke and Kuawerio, kept them-
selves out of Te Kooti’s way and were left behind,  Another, Wurili, who
incurred Te Kooti’s displeasure from his huving seen Te Kooti using the
mateh heads for the llmmination of his hands, hiad dnjured his foot with
an ase and was unable to walk, but Te Kooti ordered hin to he earried on
board,  After they had got under way on July dth the wind was ot
favourable and they came to nnchor off Waitangl.  The nest day they
started again with o fair wind and made good progress, but as the wind
wax foul again on the Sth Te Kooti ordered Wariki to he thrown vverbourd,
« about

ceived from

enee at Clinthan

orders.

this leing necessary, as he said, to propitiate his atux and to bri
u change in the wind.  The order was promptly enrried ont, ns no one

dared to disobey.  The poor nun elung at first to the iron work on the

side of the vessel, but, on the order being given, be was cast ndrift and

Page 57



left to drown. The fact that the wind changed soon afterwards to a
favourable quarter added greatly to the prophet’s prestige and inclined
his fellow voyagers to render unhesitating obedience to any orders which
he might give. They reached Wharcongaonga as above-stated on the 10th.

After all were landed at Wharcongaonga the “‘Rifieman’’ sailed
diroct to Wellington, and gave the first intimation to the outside world
of the prisoners’ escape.

On the 15th of July Captain Biggs was informed that Te Kooti was
moving wway from Wharcongaonga, taking o track over the ranges to the
westward. The friendly natives suggested thut his objeet might be to
make his way down the River Arai and so cause troubie in the distriet.
Biggs therefore assembled his little force of English and Maoris and,
guided by the natives, took up a position mear the spot where the track
:\kcn by Te Kooti would touch the Arai, and returmed on the 10th to

i to make for the y supplies to be sent
up to the camp, leaving Westrup in command. As he was returning to
the eamp on the 20th he saw H.M.S, ‘‘Rosaria’’ coming into the bay, and
came back to Turanganui to find that Colonel Whitmore had arrived to take
command, with 30 volunteers under Captains Carr and Herriek. The
““Waipara’’ also arrived the same day with a force of forty natives from
Napier.  On the following day the news was brought that the little army
which Biggs had taken up the Arai had encountered Te Kooti on the 20th
at Papara-tu; that they had been short of food, the supplies whick Biggs
had dispatehed on the 18th having reached them only that day about
8.0 am,, just when Te Kooti appeared; that after fighting all day, they
had been obliged to beat a hasty retreat during the night, leaving the
camp with about 80 horscs, saddles and bridles, and the fresh supply of
food in the hands of the cmemy; one Englishman and one Maori having
been killed, and seven wounded. The schoolroom at Matawhero was
brought into requisition as a hospital, and the wounded men were placed
under the charge of Dr. Watling who had recently arrived from Auckland.
After the fight at Papara-tu Te Kooti and his party proceeded towards
Te Reinga and on the 31st were met at Te Umu-pakake, where the track
deseended to the Hangaroa, by a small force from Wairoa under Captain
A. Tuke, which, after a skirmish, fell back towards Wairen, and Te Kooti
went on up the Ruakituri, where it would have been prudent to allow
him to go his own way.

Colonel Whitmore, soon ufter his mrrival, got his various forces
together and by July 30th had 140 English and 180 Maoris encamped a
short distance up the Arai River. After various delays caused by the
state of tho track and the weather, they reached Pukehinau, on the
Hangaroa, on August 5th, finding there the body of a half-caste youth
named Brown, who had been shot by Te Kaoti’s orders when on his way
to Wairon with despatehes. At Whenuakura, u little beyond Pukehinau.
Coloncl Whitmore dismissed the Poverty Bay contingent, reducing his foree
to 140, of whom 50 were Maoris from Hawke’s Bay, and formed a depos
for provisions there before going on up the Ruakituri. He overtook Te Kooti
towards evening on the Sth, and in the action whieh followed seven men
were killed, ineluding Mr. Canning and Captain Carr of the Volunteers.
The number of easualties on the other side was not aseertained, but To
Kooti wae reported to have been wounded in the instep. Both parties
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scem to have deawn off from the seene of action in the ovening, but the
pursuiug foree suffered much from want of food und from the
of the weather, and did not get back to Whennakura antil the oy
the 10th, being in o very mueh exhausted condition.  After a hrief
the force woved to Wairon, but the Colonel roturned to Turunganui
left on the 17th in the 8.8, ““Waipara’? for Wairon to take the torce from

nelemeny

g of

On August 20th Captuin Biggs roecived notice of his promotion 1
the rank of Major and was instrueted to enroll iu the ranks of the Militiy
all the ablebodied men who were not included among the: umounted
volunté These were duly sworn in ou the 26th amd 27th, forming
two compunics of thirty eacl.

The nest reports of Te Kooti were that he wus building a pu 1
Puketapy, on the Ruakituri, and that be hud been joined by the peopls

of the Te Keinga and by Te Waru and bis people at Whataror.

At the end of September four men, Karaitiana, Leweti, Abita and
Kuraurin were sent out from Wairow to get information as to Te Kooti's
whereabouts.  Nothing hud been heard of them for a fortnight when word
was hrought to Kopu's pa, Te Hatepe, that they
murdered by Te Waru’s orders,  They had been received ut Whataran
with every appearance of hospitality, and were tomubawked while they
were usleep.

ad heen treacherously

Military scttlers Bad already hegun to oceupy scetions at Marutiar
on the confiseated land, about twelve miles from the Wairou towuship, and
a hloekhouse had been erected at Te Kapn, afterwards called Frasertown.
Ou October 18th Marumuru was threatened by n purty from Whataroa
and Captain Tulke withdrew his men from the Dlockhouse, and with the
fow men from Marumarn fell hack on Wairon township.  As Wail cmed
to be in danger of attack o reinforeenent of 120 natives under connmand of
the ehicfx, Renata Tarchn and Henare Tomouni, wis Dmmediately sent up
from Nupier to strengthen Captain Tuke’s simall foree, and the “St. Kilda
was sent off to Waapn to feteh o contingent of the Ngatiporou,

rou 8

Bishop  Selwyn, who had gone to England to sttend the first
mheth Conference, and while there bad heen appointed to the See of
Litehfield, had just returned to puy a farewell visit to his old dioc
to preside over the triennd
open on October 5th,  As it wa
for my fuwily to stay at Napier during my absenee.  The
its work on October 17th, the 27th anniversury of Bishop Selwyn’s cons
erntion, and on the 20th he left for Syduey cu route for England, in the
M hlero.”! The first opportunity which offered for Turanganui ufter this
enabled me to hund there on the morning of the Gth of November. On
, the Sth, I rode over to Manutuke to hold serviee with the Muori
congregation theve, Just after the conclusion of the serviee the Maori
postman from Wairon appenred, carrying the mwail which was due at
Pirangaini on the following morning. Evervone was anviows to hewr
what the pestman might be able to tell ux of the happenings at Wairoa,
irom, conxistin had been placed under
the command of Colonel Lambert from Napier.  The postman's story wa2
that the force had gone on the previous Tutsduy to Whataron, which was

e and

sexsion of the general Synod, whieh wus to
sy duty o attend this Synod L arrauged
od conelusded

Rund;
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found practically deserted, therc being only one man'and one woman in the
place. The man, he said, had been shot. The woman, when asked “Where
was Te Waru?'’ said that she did not know. When asked again ““Where
was Te Kootit’’ sho answered, ““He has gone to Poverty Bay.’’ The
grave was found in which the four men had been buricd who had been
murdered there about three weeks before, und after burning all the whares.
the foreo returned to Wairos, which was reached on Thursday morning
some time before the postman left.

On my way back to Turanganui I stopped for an English service at
Matuwhero where Biggs was then living. I told him of the report which
the postman had brought, whercupon he exclaimed, saying that he had
dreamt the might before that tho force had gone to Whataron and had
found no cmemy. When I mentioned the report that Te Kooti was on
bis way to Poverty Bay he said that he had received letters a few days
proviously from Majors St. John and Mair, who wrote from Opotiki to
warn him that Te Kooti had been urging the Opotiki people to join him
in a raid upon the East Coast, and that he was reported also to have been
joined by  number of the Waikato and Tuhoe people. He said also that
he had got a few scouts under Captain Gascoigne, who were keeping a
constant watch on the variovs tracks leading from the Ruakituri or from
Wairos, and that a very short notice from them of impending danger
would cnable him and others to get away to Turanganui. These scouts
were maintained at the expense of some of the local settlers, the Govern-
ment having refused to make provision for any service of the kind, Those
who were in anthority secmed to be under the impression that the position
on the East Coast was not nearly so critical as those who were on the
spot deemed it to be.

The mail duly arrived at Turanganui on Monday morning, and among
my letters was one from the Rev. S. Williams, in which he said that he
had received information on autherity which he could not doubt, that Te
Kooti had started for Poverty Bay, and he urged that all settiers should
without delay got into as seeure a position as possible. Moreover, he had
informed Mr. McLean and the Hom. iJ. C. Richmond, who was then in
Napier, of what he had heard, that such action might be taken in the
matter us might scem to those who were in authority to be necessary. As
Biggs was holding the R Court in the redoubt that morning I went to
give him the news which T had received, expeeting, at the same time to find
that he had got full information from Colonel Lambert of what had been
done at Wairoa, and that he might possibly have had some dircetions from
Napier. It was much to my surprise therefore, that he told me that tha
mail had brought him no eommunication whatever, cither from Wairoa or
from Napicr. He was expeeting nevertheless to hear from his scouts at
uny time that Te Kooti might be somewhere in the neighbourhood, and ho
would be ready at a moment’s notice to come away to Turanganui. It is
due to Mr. MeLean to say that, though not out of the office, he had reason
to know that he did not enjoy the full coufidence of the Ministry, and
that under the circumstances, it was for the Minister, and not for tho
snbordinate officer, to take what action might be neeessary. It was, tu
say the lemst, extraordinary that there was no communication from Wairoa.
Had it oceurred to Colonel Lambert to send a small force over for Major
Biggs’ assistance some lives at least might possibly have been saved. In
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little more than twelve hours after my conversation with Major Biggs
lie and his wife and infant ehild were numbered among the dead.

To Kooti, as we learned afterwards, mule his nppearance with his
armed force some time after dark on the evening of the 9th, at Patutshi
where there was @ small party of natives, wone of whom was allowed 1o
g awny.  From them he ascertuined where various people were too Lo
found, nnd having laid his plans, sent out armed parties to cut off as many
roposin population.  The first vietims were jrobaiiy
cop tun in the innediats

s possible af the E
Alessrs, Dodd and Peppard, who had taken up o
neighhonrhood, and had armnged to commence shearing on the fallowine
morning.  Major Biggs and Captain Wilson were attacked soon affes
midnight, aud in the course of thoe next fow hours thirty of the European
population. of ages ranging from n fow weeks to near 70 yoars, wero strel
down, one of wham, though loft for dend, sucoumbed to hor wounds o fi
weoks afterwards, Of the survivors, those who were Hving on the sonth-
west side of the hay made their eseape to Te Mahia, and the rest t
Turanganui.  Several Maoris also were murdered in cold hlaod during the
early hours of that norning and others in the cousse of the nest few da
the whole number heing ahout thirty.

This day, November 10th, had its full burden of anxiety. T was
aronsed at 420 wom, by one of my Maori neighbonrs, who startled me witl
the announecment that hostile Hauhaus were at work in the neighhourhood
dealing destruction to life and praperty, the news having just hoen brought
by Maori refugees from Matawhero, where one at least had heen killed
and another wounded, Soon afterwards a party was seén coming across
the Waikanae ereek, which proved to be Mrs. Bloomficld and her family,
with Charles James, who had roused them ufter he had eseaped from Major
Biggs' honse. Refugees came in from time to time during the dny, some
of whom were able to inform us of the fate of some of their ncighbours,
QOnue of these, Dan Munn, had ridden out in the carly morning to ascertain
the truth of reports whieh he had heard, and was fired at by one of To
Kooti's men, the first shot taking effcet in his left shoulder and the mnoxt
fortunately missing him. Of some the fatc could only be guessed from
their non-appearance. The escape of some from the midst of the murder
region scemed to be due to the murderers having retired to refresh them-
selves after the slaughter of the morming.  Two schooners, the “‘Tawera’”
and the “*Succoss,”” had got under way in the early hours of the morning,
bound for Auckland and Tauranga: The wind fortunately did not favour
them so that they were still within reach Ly boat. Captain Read, after
some trouble in getting @ crew, followed thom in a whale-hoat and induced
them to return. The women and children, with two or three exeeptions,
were placed_ on board the sehooners, some being taken to Napier and the
others to Auckland.  The wounded man, Munn, also sent to Napier
that he might be attended to in the hospital.

In the ovening Onptain Guscoigne eame over in a heat from T
Muriwai, and, heing the enly commissioned officer present, took commaml
of the small mumboer of Valunteers and Militiamen, At wight we all retired
10 the redouht fo get as nueh sleep as the exeitement of the tine and the
extreme roughuess of the acconmmodation the redoubt offorded  wonld
shortened as all were kept on the alort

admit of. _ The time, toa, wa:

from 2 am, Gl daylight s a precaution against surprise.

Page 61



About 8 wm. on the 11th we were relieved of much anxiety by the
arrival of Messrs. Kempthorne, Poynter and Scott, who, with cight others,
had come from beyond Kaiteratahi, having kept to the hills to avoid coming
into contact with any of Te Kooti’s murderous bands. We were still further
relieved by the arrival of the 8.8. ““St. Kilda’’ in the evening. She had
left Napier before the news of our troubles had travelled so far. Captain
Fox, therefore, as soon as he beeame aware of what had happened, weighed
anchor and returned to Napier.

Early on the 12th the lookout party on the hill announced that there
was an armed party at Makaraka apparently on the way to Turanganui.
This caused some little excitement, which, however soon passed off when it
was found that the ememy came no unearer, but retired after discharging
their rifles.  We lcarned afterwards that it had been Te Kooti’s intention
to make an early attack on Turanganui, but the arrival of the ‘‘St. Kilda’”
prohably caused him to change his plan. After this, numerous columns
of smoke rising up in sucecssion indicated the destruction of various
honiesteads.

Te Kooti’s next move was to mareh on the fricndly natives’ pa at
Oweta,  As the occupants were not in a position to offer him any effeetive
resistance the fow men with arms left the pa before he arrived. Own his
arrival he told those he found there that he did not mean to fight them,
but that they must join him and go with him. As they hesitated he said
that if they would not join him he would have them all shot, this heing
his usual method of sceuring obedience to his orders. It was well kuown
that such a threat from Te Kooti could not safely he disregarded, and the
consent of all promptly followed.  After food had been served he placed
five of them under guard of Te Waru’s men and took off all the rest across
the Arai, prosumably on their way to Puketapu, on the Ruakituri. When
all were out of sight and hearing, the five men, in aceordance with Te
Kooti’s orders, were all shot. Their names were Paratene Turangi, Traia
Riki, Renata Whakaari, Thimacra Hokopu, and Hira Te Kni. Their offence
apparently was that they were known to he friendly to the Government.
The corpses of four were buried at Oweta on the 16th, by people from
Muriwsi, but Hira Te Kai was found to be still alive, though iie had
reccived four bullet wounds aud three bayonet thrusts. He was takon firsy
to Te Muriwai, and three days later he was lrought to Turanganu:, wnere
he was placed under the doctor’s eare, but he died on December 6th.

Te Kooti went oft with his captives up the Okahuatiu Valley, and on
the 16th, a small party rode out from Turanganui to reconnoitre. They
had not proeceded far hefore they fell in with Captain Wilson’s eldest son,
a hoy of cight years, coming with a message written on a eard, from his
mother, who was still alive. He was brought in at omee by one of the
horsemen and Dr. Gibbs promptly started off with a party to bring Mrs.
Wilson down.

The story of Mrs. Wilson’s sufferings and of her son’s escape may
here be briefly told. When the armed band eame to the house in the small
hours of the morning of the 10th, Captain Wilson had not gone to bed.,
laving been husy with correspandence for the outgoing mail.  The door,
after incffectual attempts to induce him to open it, was hroken down with
a heavy piece of timber, but even so the assailants did not dare to go in.
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After sowe time shots were fired into the house, but without effeet. At
Inst the house was set on fire at hoth ends and the fumily was this driven
sut. The party eonsisted of Captain and Mrs. Wilson, four children, oo
being an infaut in arms, wnd Edward Moran. They had not gone fae in
the dirction of their ncarest neighbour, Goldsmith, before they were
stabbed with buyanets, all hut the cldest boy, Jumes, who was with his
father, When his futher o)l ho serambled awny and wis not pirsucd
He made his way to the house of Captain Bloomficld, which was whout huif
 mile off, and Iay down on the verandah, This would scem to have heon
about the time that the Bloomfield family were roused by Clarles Tanios
and hurriedly loft the house, but he did not see anything of them. For
o days ho wandered about finding a little food in one ar othier of the
ampty houses and hidig at times under o briar hush, but he siw no one.
The fiest night he oceupied an empty hed i the Bloomfield’s house, hut nx
be heard people about the house after e had gone to hed he hetook himscir
on tho secand night to his hiding place under the briat bush, having o
little dog, ¢“Flo,”* as his companion. As he bay quictdy thore in the early
morning he saw a large mumiber of people come to the house, who, after
they hind carried off many things out of the house, set it on fire as woll ax
other buildings in the ncighbourhood, and went wway. Whon the pluce
was quict again, and there scemed to be no one about, he ventured our
from his hiding place, and wandered towards the site of his okl home.
He went first to the House of & Maoti who gave hini a little food, and then
strolled ound to the old premises.  There he found his mother in a small
building which had not been burnt.

Mrs. Wilson, when she was struek down with a bayonet thrust through
har hody, roceived several wounds in hor arms whilo trying to sereon hor
infant danghter. She lay there is n helpless condition mntil the following
ting of a shawl over her wightdress.  The shawl,
a Maori mau who lived n

day, ler clothing cons
howover, was taken away from her b
wha supposed her to he dead. On Wednesdny she managed to rais
sufliciently o sec the several carpses and missed her ldost oy, She then with
muek Tabowr erawled to the site of the hurnt house and quenchied hor thirst
with water from the tank.  She found a small kettle which she filled with
water and Ly persevering offorts, conveyed if, togethor with i hroken Tottle
from which sho might drink, to the Imilding in which er son found her
on the next day.  She had had no food for throe days and the hoy’s first
business was to find her something to cat.  Ho found some eggs which ho
managed to cook under Ler dircetion, and lie also got potatoes from the
Maori man who had given him food. The boy had on a cont of his father’s
over his nightshirt, and in the pocket of the cont was & eard case in which
wore w few cards and a small Jead pencil.  After several unsuecessful
attempts Mrs, Wilson suceoeded in writing u logible message on one of the
ards which James might bring to Turangausi. the distanee heing nearly
five miles.  On two occagion (he Loy started, lut wissod (he track near
Makaraka and went hack again.  Mis third uttempt was suceesstul and he
was met by the reconnoitering party and bronght in by one of the horsemen
to Turanganni as stated above, The journcy ta Turtnganui st have
heen rather a severe frial to Mrs. Wilson in her weak state, but as soon
as she arrived she was eavried across the river under the docter’s
direetion and placed in a room in my little cottago, where she was earefully
tended by Mrs, Jeanings. the wife of one of the militiry settlers.  Ter




relatives were communicated with as soon as possible and on the 27th her
sister, Mrs Lowry, arrived from Napicr, to (o what she conld for her, The
doctor having strongly urged the move, she was taken to Napier on
December 14th, but serious symptoms set in soon after she arrived, and she
passed awny on the 17th. Dr. Spencer, who attended her during the last
three days, expressed great surprise that she had lived so long after
sustaining such scvere internal injuries.

Help was not long in coming after the return of the “‘St. Kilda’’
to Napicr.  On the 13th a foree arrived of 160 natives from Hawke's Bay,
who were followed shortly afterwards hy a fow English volunteers and
another detachment of 180 matives with 30 of the Ngatiporou from Hicks
Bay. On the 18th, an armed party went ont to bury the vietims of the
massaere.  Two days afterwards the Hawke’s Bay natives started to
follow up Te Kooti and overtook him on the 23rd at Te Karctu, on the
Wharckopae, where his foree had entrenched themselves on the further
side of the valley, the people who had been carried off from Oweta having
already been semt on in the dircetion of Ngatapa. Provisions and
ammunition were taken up hy bullock drays to a spot about two miles
beyond Patutahi to be taken on to the front from thence by pack-horses.
While the two hostile parties were facing onc another at Te Karetu, n
party of To Kooti’s men, whose object probably was to get hold of some
war material which had been secreted at onc of the old Maori settlements,
como by a circuitous route upon the depot and, having driven off the few
men whom they found there, loaded themsclves with ammunition and
destroyed most of what they were unable to carry away, together with a
large quantity of foodstuff. After this it was not surprising to hear that
there was a shortness of food at the front, and that horse-flesh and fern-
root were being resorted to to cke out the supply.

On the 29th Rapata and Hotene with about 370 of the Ngatiporou,
who had been under the command of Colonel Lambert, at Wairca, arrived
on the seene, having travelled overland, and three days afterwards Te
Kooti was driven out of his position at Te Karotu and fell back ahout
three miles to Ngatapa, whither he was immediately followed by the
Ngatiporou and the Hawke’s Bay poople, but, a differenee having occurred
hetween the leaders of the twa partics about the dispesal of a prisoner,
the chiefs of the latter hrought away all their men to the number of about
250. Ngatapa was found to be & very strong position, aceessible on one
side only, on which it was fortified by carthworks, the approach moreover
heing commanded by two rifle pits. On December 5th the Ngatiporon
made a vigorous attack on the place, and took possession of ono of the
protecting rifie pits, but they were unable to follow up this advantage
owing to inadequate supplies of food and ammunition, and as Rapata
himself was suffering from a severc cold and as Hotene also was out of
condition, they withdrew with their whole foree to Te Karctu on their way
to Turanganui. Te Kooti’s loss in these engagements was over 65, that
mumher having heen actually eounted.

When Te Kooti was heing hard pressed at Te Karetu, the
Rongowhakaata people whom he had deported from Oweta took tha
opportunity of making their eseape, following the course of the Wharekopaa
and Waikohu Rivers,
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The operations so. far had boen conducted by Maoris iwith tho
assistanee of o small numbicr of English volunteers,  On Deceniber 1st, 61
mounted voluntoers under Captain Tanmer, arrived from Nupier and
rendered good serviee as un escort for the Transport Corps. On the
moming of the 4th the Hon. J. €. Kichmond arrived and was followed luter
in the day by Colonel Whitmore aud Major Fraser with u detachucnt of
troops from Whanganui, Major Frascr was sent at once with lis men tn
support the Ngatiporow.  He wet them a little way heyond Patutaii, and
endenvoured to persunde them to return to Ngatapa, but they preferred to
wait till hetter arrangements for transport should he made.

On the Sth Colonel Whitmore announced that the campaign was over
He had gone with Major Fraser and 50 men the previous day in the dircetion
of Ngatapa, and had returned under the impression that Ngatupa was
evaeuated and that Te Koot had gone off to Puketapu. The Hawke'’s Bay
natives were seut buck at once to Napicr, and urrangements were mada
for sending Fraser and his men back to Whanganui, notwithstanding that
Maori reports stated that Te Kooti was still at Ngatapa, On the 12th ahout
150 men were put on board the 1S, ¢“Sturt”” to g to Whanganui, the boat
having to eall at Napier on the way in order to land Mrs. Wilson. Shortly
after leaving the river the hoat touehed on @ reef with the result that the
water hegan to come freely into ome of the several watertight compart-
ments, The hoat was therefore taken back into the river that the leak
might he stopped, sand the men were sent on shore again.

Considerable excitement was eaused late in the afternoon Ly a report
thut Te Kooti was at Patutabi with a considerable force and also thar
atwout 20 refugees who had made their eseape from Te Kooti were at a
place about five miles up the Taruhery River. On making enquiries T was
told by Iotene that a party of Ngatiporou was under orders to go aml
shoot all the party of refugees. I immediately reported the matter to
Mr. Richmond, who spoke at once to Rapata and Iotene, telling them that a
party which waus told off fer this service might escort the refugecs to
Turanganui without using any nnnecessary violenee, The men who were
preparing to go were evidently much relieved by Mr. Riehmond’s version
of the order, Seonts were sent out to ascertain the truth or falsehood of
the report that Te Kooti was at Patutahi. These hrought werd that they
hadl advaneed far enough to satisfy themselves that the report was correct,
amil Colonel Whitmore started off carly in the morning to Patutahi to find
that the enemy was in the neighbourhood of Opou, on the Arai, whero
Finlty Ferguson, Willim Wyllie and a4 Muaori had already been killed
A mumber of men were sent over with Major Roberts in the “*Sturt?? 10 the
Waipaoa with a supply of ammunition, to the support of Thaka Whanga,
who had his men at Oweta. Te Kooti was then followed up and was
brought to buy on Januiry Ist at Ngatapa, from which, when thoroughly
invested, there seemed to be no pessible way of eseape, but during the
night of the 4th the greater part of the earrison made their way down the
face of a ¢liff which had heen left unguarded.  As soon asz day dawned
<eovered and they were fmmediately porsued and many

their eseape was d
of them were killed, Fourte

( men were taken alive in the pa and about

ol ta the terrible

66 women and ehildren.
havoe made hy the shells from the cohorn mortar.  Their total loss during
125 killed

ty-eight dead hodies tes

those few days was said to have heen at le while the
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casualties on the other side were eleven killed and five seriously wounded.
Te Kooti himself eseaped, though not withont s wound in the shoulder,
\which eannot have heen of a serious eharacter. He was now a fugitive, but
as he was known to have so many sympathisers in various parts of the
country it was impossible to feel confident that he wonld give no further
trouble in this distriet.

CHAPTER VII.

1869.—After the fall of Ngatapa Colonel Whitmore with most of the
English traops left for the scone of operations on the west const. He also
tried to persuade Rapata and Hotenc to join him there with their men.
but this they declined to do as they did not think it right that the East
Coast should be left in a comparatively defenecless position. The
i i by the Ngati of the of further
trouble on the East Coast did not seem at all to be shared by those who
were in authority, for it was proposed to leave sixty only of the armed
at T i, to be by an equal number of

Ngatiporou, if they eould be persuaded to undertake the duty.

On Januvary 21st, 1869, Mr. W. Atkinson arrived in the capacity of
Resident Magistrate for Poverty Bay, and Representative of the Govern-
ment for the whole of the East Coast. From him we learned that the
notorious Patara, who was, to say the least, accessory to the murder of
Mr. Volkner at Opotiki, and had been largely instrumental in bhringing
about the recent troubles in this part of New Zealand, was then holding a
saluried office under the Government at Taranaki, being regarded as a most
useful and loyal subjeet of Ier Majesty Queen Vietoria. We could not
hut admire Pagara’s astuteness in seeuring such an agreeable requital of his
wisdeeds from the authorities of the Pakeha, whom, a short time hefore,
he had been doing his best to exterminate or to drive out of the country;
we were amazed at the same time at the fatuity of the authorities which
could he so casily imposed mpon by the plausibility of a erafty rogue.
Patara’s doings in 1865 at Opotiki and in Poverty Bay were matters of
common notoriety and they had led to the loss of a great many lives as well
as to the expenditore of a large sum of public moncy. There could be na
excuse for ignorance of these facts on the part of any Government officer.

Indications were not wanting at this time of the presenec of some
of Te Kooti’s followers at no very great distanee in the back country, and
as in the uncertainty as to their numbers they were the cause of more or
less anxioty, Captain Newland used his best efforts to got hold of them and
bring them in to Turanganui. On March 5th some of the friendly matives,
who had been neting under his direction, sent him word that they had
brought in a party of 16, including seven women, to a place near Patutahi.
He went at onee to see them and as the day was far advanced he directed
that they should stay where they were until the following morning, when ha
would he propared to reecive them formally at Turanganui. Some one who
saw the party from a distance coneluded hastily that it was an armed
force invading the distriet, which must have been about 500 strong. Word
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to this effcet, at all events, was brought to Turanganui, together with a

statement that the lives of Mossrs. Poynter, Evans, Scott and Kempthorne,
and of others who were with them at Ruangarehu were in imminen:
danger. AN anxiety, however, was soon alluyed by the arrival of uo
authentic report of what had actually taken plaee. At a lute hour on thar
same evening two Furopeuns to the place where the party was
cneamped and, standing a little distance away, ealled out two of the men,
Hemi Te Thonriki and Nikora,  As xoon as they ecame out they were fired
upon.  Te Thoariki was killed, hut Nikora, though wounded, got away
hetook himself to the hush,  Two persons were vommonly wientioned
namo as the perpetrators of this outrage, but, as 1 eannot voueh for thelr
identity, the names are omitted. One of the persons named was in the
emplay of the Government.  Mr. Atkinson had gone to Waiapu when thi<
oceurred, and after his roturn an inquest was held, hut no one was ever
cnlled to account for the erime.  Nikora probably knew where some of his
friends were still in hiding, and it would have been no matter of surprise
if the life of gue or more Europeans had heen taken hy way of retaliation.

It ow not long hefore Te Keoti again assumed the offensive.
Major Mair, in a letter to Mr. Atkinson fram Opotiki, dated Mareh Jrd,
reported that he had been staying for some weeks at Waioweka with 13
or 140  men, and that he had been trying his hest to persuade the Tuliga
people to join him in an attack upon Opotiki or some other scttlement in
the Bay of Plenty. The proximity of Te Kooti and his threatening
attitude inereased the reluetance of the leaders of the Ngatiporoun to allow
any of their men to leave the district. Mr. Atkinson had heen instructed
to enlist ag many as possible for at least o year’s serviee in the Whanganui
distriet, and with the aid of Mr, C. Ferris he had already engaged about
80 or 90, who were then on their way on hoard the <“St, Kilda.’” Rapata
accompanied them s far as Napier that he might shtain #he optic oF
Mr. MeLean, in whose judgment he had perfeet confideneo. Finding that
Mr. MeLean's opinion sgreed with his own he positively refused to go to
Patea or to cumeonrage any of his people to go. His resolution was
strengthened by a report which was hrought soon afterwards from Opotiki
to the effeet that a surveyor, named Viteairn, had heen murdered on an
island in the Ohiwa estnary.

1869.—On April 0th Te Kooti suddenly appeared with a considerable
faree on the Mohaka River and slaughtored the Lavin family among others,
as well as a numher of natives.  The Mahaka people had creeted a fairly
strong pn on the terraco, whieh is about 150ft. abave the present hed of
the river. One of the chiefs, Paora Rerepu, proferred another site on the
cdge of the ¢liff immediately overhanging the river where he huilt another
small pa. At the time of Te Kooti’s raid most of the availahle men were
in the neighhourkood of Waikaremoana with Thaks Whanga and the Wairoa
farce whose ohject was to intercept any invading foree that might come
ncross the lake, the pas at Mohaka heing occupied by the older men with
the women and children. “Te Kooti surprised some of the peaple at Te
Arakamihi, a few miles up the river.  Ouve of theso was killed and the

rest, some of whom were wounded, eame down the river in a eanoe and

toak refuge in the Jarger pa. When Te Kooti renched the pas he demanded

admittance, which was steadily refused. Paora Rerepu’s pa was not well

situated inasmuch as the palisade ar one corner was over a hollow in which
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the hescigers were able to ohtain complete shelter while trying to under-
mine it.  After digging at the foundation for some time, they threw a
rope oser the corner post that they might pull it over.  An old man in the
a jumped up with a hatehet and cut the rope, receciving at the same time
a bullet in his thigh. On the rope beimg thrown up & second time he cut
it again, hut then was struck by a bullet in the head which killed him,
Some of the defenders after this thonght that their ease was hopeless and
that they would he wise to admit Te Kooti and to make the hest terms
with him that the eircumstances would admit of. One man, Heta Te
Wainohn, strongly opposed the suggestion, but after some time he was
overruled and Te Kooti was admitted. The defences of the pa consisted
of a strong palisade, inside which was a good earthwork. The only building
was o large whare, at the front of which the defenders were assembled
with Heta at their head. Te Kooti stood facing them with a number of
his own men behind him, and demanded their rifles.  On Hota refusing to
give up his, Te Kooti drew a revolver whercapon Heta raised his rifle ani
fired at him. Te Kooti was said to have had his side seorched by the
flash from the rifle and fell in trying to avoid the shot. His men then
fired at the people of the pa, killing Heta and wounding some of the others,
who immediately serambled away and made for the other pa, heing fired
upon as they ran, Tn the meantime the mews had reached the foree in
the neighhourhood of Waikaremoana, and a hurried march was made to
relieve Mohaka. A small foree also, under Major Richardson, was promptly
sent up from Napier, arriving about the same time as the foree from
Wairoa, and Te Kooti was compelled to retire, making his way to tho
country of the Tuhoe, to the north of Waikaremoana,

Tt was currently reported after this that Te Kooti had heen Killed
by Heta, and as a boat had heen scen to put off from the shore, and what
appeared to be a corpse committed to the deep, it was assumed that Te
Kooti’s hody had heen disposed of in this wity that it might not come into
the hands of his cnemies. That he had not been killed, a party of
volunteers who were seonting on the Rangitaiki River soon afterwards
found out to their cost, some of their numher losing their lives.

Great efforts were now made to cffcet the outlaw’s capture. Colonel
Whitmore took a considerable force to a place on the Rangitaiki River
to which the name of Galatea was given. Maori contingents also came in
from all sides, from Rotorua, from the East Coast, from Hawke’s Bay, and
from Whanganui, making it to all appearances impossible that he should
eseape. For nearly two years after this he was hunted by columns eon-
sisting mainly of Maoris under Mair, McDonnell and Porter, but though at
times he was so hedged round that his capture secmed certain, he always
contrived to clude his pursuers, turning up soon afterwards in some place
where his presence was altogether unexpeeted. After being driven ant by
Mair from Rotoiti in 1870, he attacked a pa occupied by friendly natives
at Whakatane, from which he was repulsed with considerable loss. Then
he made a deseent from the hack eonntry on Omarmmutn. a few miles anat
of Opotiki, and in the following July he dashed aeross the mountains with
akiont forty mon to Tolaga Bay, his ohject in all these eases heing to

replenish his stock of arms and ammunition. Twice he was rofused an
asylum in Waikato hy the Muori King, but on his secking it a third time
he was allowed to romain, and as his pursuers had boen strictly charged
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not oo any aceount to enter the King Country, the pursuit was abandoned
and ‘Te Kooti was permitted to rest in peace ut Te Kuiti.

After Te Kooti’s raid on Mohuk it was thought espedient o i
sume further provision for defemee at Turangamui. A blockhouse was
erceted on the township bioek near to  large building belonghig to Captain
Iead, which wis known ay the Courthouse. The two buildings were won
nected hy a deep diteh with high banks and the Courthouse was survounded
by ““eievaux de frise’”  The old redoubt on the wther side of the river
was then Geeupicd by some of the Muoris,

Messrs, Munre und Logun, judges of the Native Lands Court, hud
heen appoiuted  Commissioners uuder the “*Eust Coust Land  Titles
Tuyestigation Aet,” and opened pr under the Comuission v
June 27th. Mr. Atkinson had been suceessful in inducing the priucipul
chiie ree fo & comprowise i order to avoid the neeessity of
unravelling the intrie s of title as between friendly natives and Haubius,
By thix conipromise, aecording to a rough estinate, the Goverument was
to tuke about 5000 acres of lund inland of Waerengu-a-hika; whout 5000 on
the Patutahi side, und about 40,000 weres of the hilly country, it heing
understood that all the Maori land outside the houndaries of these blocks
should he regarded as the property of the friendly natives. This served
to vxpedite the business of the commission. At an carly stuge fn U
ceedings the Repongaere block cume under investigation, When (s
names were read out of the persons who claimed to be regarded as the
, Mr. Atkinson, who was watching the procecdings on behalf of the
ment, was axked whethior he objected to any of these numices ws
heing those of Hauhaus, As he ghjected to none, Mr, W, A, Graham, who
o ealled his atteation

5L 4

was acting on hehalf of some of the friendly nativ
to the name of Hoera Kapuarou, who helonged to Patotahi and had Teen
the first to turn Hauling in 1865, Mr. Atkinson during the
previeus few months had coneeived a great vegard for this man Hoer,
il would not hear of his heing disyu:
« view of the vase that Hoern had not sided with Te Kooti during the
milidous time t followed on the return of the prisonees from Chatham
Islaind, e altogether igmored the faet that the Net of Parliament which
set up the Commission had no referesce whatever to any of Te Kootis
proveedings, saying that the confiscation of Juid was aot to he enforeed
a v who had no et of rehellion lnid (o their eharge sobsequent
to 1866, Mueh of the time of the Comuission was devoted to the
investigntion of the question whether Hoera hid I himself in nny
wiy with Te Kooti, and it owas setthed that e had not, Bis name was
allowed to stanid,  After this i
names of those who had taken an aetive part against the
1865, wnd titles to the rest of the hloeks were settled without any question.
I Leen Hunhaus,  Muost of the
oy the Government had been

HTEIR jgning ax the grownd of

st

wits vonsidered v loss to abject o athes

vernment in

s to whethier or not any of the cliimants |
original owners of the hlocks of ol
Hauhaus, hut some few albso of those who had stro
B Tl S P L A AR S RO A sy s
whiat was thus taken fron them. Aeeording to the letter of the law the

¥ upposed the ¥

Hanhans wore landloss, and reserves were tn bie made Dy the Government
ated land.  As o amatter of faet tha

for theie support out af the coufis

fou Of the blucks agreed upon in the comprouiise,

Governnient ook posses
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and left the Hauhaus in possession of all land which they had possessed
ountside the confiseated blocks which, according to the compromise, hal
become the property of the friendly natives.

The di of the Ce ission were on July 2nd for
the foneral nf the English vietims of the massacre of November 10th, 1868,
The bodies hiad been temporarily buried where they foll a fow days after
the massacre. The remains were now colleeted into twelve coffins, one
coffin serving in several cases for father, mother and infant, and in two
cases the coffin contained the remains of four. Of the thirty English
victims Mrs. Wilson had been huried at Napicr, and the remains of
Tathbone, who had been employed as cook by Mossrs. Dodd and Peppard,
had not then been found. Tho coffins were hrought to the piece of ground
which had been recently set aside by the Government as a cemetery, and
the funeral was attended by a large number of the English population and
by a considerable number of natives. To some of us the service brought
vividly to mind the painful experiences of November 10th, 1868.

The extraordinary success of Patara’s Hauhau propaganda at Opotiki
and Poverty Bay in 1865 made so great an impression upon many people
that in English seftlements one might not infrequently hear it asserted
as though it were an acknowledged faet that the mission to the Maori had
entirely collapsed, and that those of the Maoris who had embraced
Christianity in the past had now apostatized to o man. Reports of this
unature, of course, reached England, where it was seriously suggested by
some who were not very well informed on the subjeet that the missionaries
having been deserted by those among whom they had been working,
would do well to Teave the country and scek work clsewhere. 1In 1868 the
British and Foreign Bible Socicty brought out the first complete edition of
the Bible in the Maori language, and at the annual meeting of the Auckland
Bible Association, 1869, this fact occupied a prominent place in the annual
report. I was present at this meeting and took the oppertunity of saying
that, though it was a sad fact that many of the Maori people had been
induced to abandon Christianity for havi it would ne be
4 great mistake to consider that the money spent by the Bible Society
on this edition of the Bible had heen practically wasted, because the great
majority of the Maoris had not embraced Hauhauism, and T could testify
that in the part of the country with which T was specially conversant, and
in which the apostles of Hauhanism might he said to have achieved great
success, there were at least four thousand of the people who were strongly
opposed to i This was much eriticised by some who
thonght they knew the state of the ease better than T did; but they over-
Jooked the fact that, even in Poverty Bay, there was a considerable number
who opposcd” the Hauhaus, while a great number of the Ngatiporou of
Waiapu and of the Ngatikahungunu of Wairoa and Heretaunga had been
fighting the Hankaus in co-operation with the Govesament, as also had largs
numhers of the Arawa in the Bay of Plenty, and of the Whanganui people,
while the tribes to the north of Auckland had not been at all affected by
Hauhanism.

Tt was only to be expeeted that the state of unsettlement which had
prevailed for so long on the East Coast should have a prejudicial effect
upon the morals of many of the Maori Christians. There were gricvens
falls in the case of some who took part in the expeditions in pursnit of
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Te Kooti, not o few of them, when they had reccived their pay, giving
wiy to the temptation to indulge in stramg drink. It i spite of the
indiffercnec exhibited by very many of the people, there wits by uo meuns
an inconsideralble number who valwed thefr religions privilege
fife was o continual protest against the lasity aud viee whicl was all roun-!
them. Tn illustration of this it may be mentioned that, in the course of
journeys through the distriet in 1870, at thirteen plices nt which the Holy
Communion was celehrated, a  tof of muni et e,
prepuratory elass of instruetion at which their names were gi
sweording to our usual practice, heen held in caeli ease.

and whose

en in ha

The Bishop was now contemplating at this time the admission
Deacon’s Orders of two men who had in the past been with us as students,
and of two Deacons at the same time to Priest’s Orders. It was intended
ahiat the ordination should take place at Tuparoa, where the candidates anid
the two elergy who were in Priest’s Orders should meet for a little time
beforchand for some speeial instruetion. The day fixed for the ordination
was Mareh 13th, tho Bishop expecting to be landed on the coast by ons
of the small steawess then plying between Nupier and Auckland.  The
elorgy and candidates spent three weeks with we at Tuparon, hut the
coisting steamers were a0t accommodating, and the Bishop was not able
to join us,  The ordination was therefore put off to some date to he fixed
later on.

The General Synod had mude provision in 1868 for the constitution

of Nutive Chureh Boure
A
various Maori parochial districts, under the presidency

consisting of the clergy, whether Euglish or

ri winistering to the native population, and Ja

v

reprosenting the
of the Dishop or of

s commissary. Arraugements were made for a Native Chureh Board

representing the eastern portion of the Dioeese to he lield at Turanganui
on Octoher 31st, 1870, and as the clorgy would he coming together for this
20t

ined were to be placed, one at Ta

purpose, the Bishop decided to hold the ordination on Suudiy, October

The two Deacons who were then o

Kawakawa to sueeced the lte Tev. Rotw Waiton, who had dicd in 1866,

amd the other st Nukutauroa, on the M in supeossion to the

in Peninsy

Kev. Watene Mocke, who died in 1865, The two who were admitted tn

the Priesthood had beon ordained Doue

shortly hefore the troubles of

1865, which rendered neecssary the alamdonment of Waerenga-n-hika, and

bl been doing good work. the Kev, 1 e Tawha at Turanganui and the

This ordination

Rov. Mohi Turei at Rangitukin, in the Wainpu distrie

brought up the number of Maoris in Priest’s Orders to four.

Thes Native Chureli Bonrd sat on Octohor 3150 aud the two following
w There were cight elorgy proseut, of whom seven were Maotis,  OF
the Taywen there should have been twenty, hat several of these wers
absent from one ciuse or another. Various matters conneeted with the
work of the church in the distriet were subijeets of intellig
The Tively nterost which wis tuken iu procecdings by outsiders ws well as
fon from the

g

it diseussion.

by members of the Bourd encourtiged the hope that @
stolid indifference which Lad, prevailed for some time past might et in
Defore long.
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CHAPTER VIIL

In November, 1871, the notorious Kereopa, who took the leading part
in the murder of the Rev. C. 8. Volkner, was captured by a body of
Ngatiporou near Waioweka, in the Opotiki district. He was delivered up
to the Government and was lodged in the gaol at Napior, where he was
afterwards tried for tho murder, and was esecuted on January 5th, 1872
While in the gaol he was frequently visited by the Bishop and the Rev. S
Williams. At first he denied his guilt, but afterwards he confessed to the
full the actual part he had taken in the tragedy.

The pursuit of Te Kooti having been discontinued after he had been
allowed to take refuge at Te Kuiti, in the Maori King’s country, there
was 1o occasion for any further warlike expeditiens, and the land had rest
from war. During the previous seven ycars the people in the East Const
from Hicks Bay to Mohaka had had much expericnce of the gencral
unsettlement which is the unavoidable aecompaniment of a time of war.
It is true that there had been no actual fighting in the district sinee 1869,
but the tidings of Te Kooti’s sudden deseents upon one place after another
in the Bay of Plenty maintained on every part of the coust a feeling of
insecurity which was fully justificd by his sudden appearance at Tolagn Bay
in July, 1870; and the orgamisation from time to time of expeditions to
go in pursunit of the outlaw, with the offer of a reward of £5000 fer his
eapture, had not been ive to the steady jon of the arts of
peaec. It was a great relief, thercfore, to feel that there was at length a
reasonable prospect of the people being able to follow their agricultural and
other peaceful occupations without fear of disturbance.

The question of land confiseation at Waiapu still remained in the
position in which it had been left by the illadvised netion of Major Biggs
i 1867; but after the capture of Kereopn Mr. McLean, who was the Native
Minister and Minister for Colonial Defence, took an carly opportunity of
visiting the Ngatiporou with the view of getting the matter settled. He
told them that the Government had heen vory greatly indebted to them
for the ready and cfficient help they had given throughout the period of
the disturbances on the East Coast, and that, in reeognition of their hearty
co-operation, the Government would forgo any elaim to land which had
been considered to he forfeited by those of their tribe who had taken an
nctive part with the Hauhaus. Mokena, Rapata and other chiefs replied
that they had always told the Hauhaus that their support of Putara would
have to be atoned for by confiscation of land, and that they considered
it right that the land within the boundaries which they had pointed our
to Major Biggs should be taken by the Govermment in order that the
Hauhaus might Have before their eyes the consequences of the course which
they had persisted in. Mr. McLean, however, refused to make nny
alteration in what ho had stated as the deeision of the Government, and
added that as Te Awanui was the safest landing place for boats on this
part of the coast, he would purchase the land ndjoining it at a fair price
and have it made u public resorve. This was readily agreod to, and the

between the iporou and the was
sottled to the satisfaction of all pacties.
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As a large number of the peaple had heen diverted from theie usual
cecupations to tuke part i the expeditions whieh bl hees organised foe
the putsait of Kooti, and ws some montl
ulll get biek to their old method
ment found some work for wany of thew in making muchone
inprovenient

Surveyors wer
and the work w
those nati

woulil elapse hefore the
¢

of eniployiig themselves, the Gove

o the traeks lowding from place to phue along the coast.

direeted to lay off what would be pussuble hridie tracks,
Tet wut at a fuit rate of remwncration is swall seetions o
o were willing to undertake it To many of them this
proved o he & great boom, it it not only provided thom with @ Hvelik
for the tine heing, but tendod also o bring them haek to settled Liubits
ol work.

s wi

From the timo of Sir G. Grey's first period of office us Governor,
stance had been given from public funds to sehools for Maoris which
were carried on by missionaries of tho Chureh of England, of the Wesleyan
hody, and of the Roman Chureh, the Governor himself manifosting grout
interest in the work. After the inauguration of responsible Government
a sum of £7000 had been voted annually for the purpose of giving greater
efficiency o the sehools of the various missions, regard being Nad to the
uumber of pupils wnd the character of the work done.  One of the fruits
of the Waitnrm war was that several of these schools had been ultogethor
cxtinguished, und that there was no nemr prospect of their being
resuseitated, hut now that peace had heen restored a new depmrture was
mude by the Government.  Schaols were to he set up in Muori settlenents,
o stipulation being made that the Muaorix in each ease should set apart
site of about two aeres and be responsible for half of the cost of th
buildings and of the teacher’s suwlary. The Hon, Colonel Russell was
appointed to take 1y to bring the seheme into
operation.  He travelled through all parts of the North Island in which
there was aiy probubility of his meeting with a favonrable reeeptions an
though Nis efforts did not achieve the suecess which had |een wanticipated,
4 heginuing was made and mueh valunble espericnec wis gained, whieh
was afterwards turned to good aceount.  The seheme had Dheen somewhat
erudely  devised, and wi in need of considerable wodification  al
development before it coulil he expected to work smoothly,  Oue instanee
will serve to illastrate thi At Paremati. in Tolaga Bay, on the right hunk
of the river (the place which is now ealled Iawniti), Apirunn Topi, 8 man
who had had very seanty edueational sdvantages, but could remd and write
own Linguige. and koew something of simple aritbmetic, was m
concerned that the children of hi should bo growing up in absolite
ignomnee, and, in the absenee of any one hetter qualificd than himself,
got the ehildren together to the mumber of about G660, and procecded to give
thew popular instruetion on week vs to the extent of hiv

own wequirenients. This had been goiug on for some time hofore Qolonel

s

such steps as were nee

Di;

Russell enme an the seene, and this cirenmstance was 1 good omen for the

suceessful faauguration of the new scheme.  The prospeet of a good sehoo®
with n qualified tencher wax vory aeceptable to the people, but they were
somewhat disappointed when they were tolil that they most hold themselves
responsible for hulf the cost of the necessary buildings and for half of the
teaghier’s salury, ns there wis no fmmediate prospeet of theie becoming

possessed of the funds that woull he needed.  They had recently spent
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what moncy they had at command in the ercetion of a weatherboard
chureh, and some of thew suggested that possibly the church might be used
also as a schoolroom. The Colonel hastily fell in with this suggestion and
told them that the department would provide n residence for the teacher
on the understanding that the church should be used as a schoolroom. The
majority, lowever, were not agreeable to this arrangement and wrote
shortly afterwards to the Department to say that the chureh would not bo
available, and to ask that a schoolroom should be built as well as a teacher’s
residence, but this request was not granted. A small two-roomed huildini
was ereeted for the teacher, and Mr. Purker, a young man who had heen
cuployed in a printing office in Napicr, was appointed to the post. Mr.
Parker began his work bravely, but under great diffinlties. The only
building available was a badly-lighted whare which would hardly accommo-
date the childron seated on the opposite sides of two long tables. After u
fow months the little cottage took fire, owing to the faulty construetion of
the fireplace, and was burnt to the ground. Mr, Parker and his wife took
rofuge in a room on the opposite side of the river, and the school was much
disorganised. The pcople on the left bank of the river, who up to this time
had ignored the school, now began to profess interest it in, and were urgent
that new buildings should be erected on their side of the river. The
question was loft to the decision of a loeal officer who did wot consider the
convenience of the majority of the children, and for whose benefit the
school was to be erceted, and as the people on the left bank had some
money in hand and were prepared to contribute £50 towards the cost of
the buildings, he decided the question in their favour. After the new
buildings were creeted the attendance rapidly fell off owing to the diffieulty
of getting the children ferried across the river, and the community which
had been most cager to have the school were thus to a great extent deprived
of the benefit of it. Schools were opencd in other parts of the district,
but the condition that the Maoris should be responsible for half of the
cost, was not always, I belicve, insisted upon, and at a later period it was
altogether abandoned.

The state of unscttlemient which had so long prevailed had been very
unfavourable for chureh work among the people, though the native clergy
had on the whole used their hest endeavours to eope with the difficulties hy
which they wore beset.  On the diseontinuance of military service drunken-
ness and other forms of i ity became di i vi some
of the leading men being conspicuous for their flngrant disregard of moral
restraint.  This trouble, moreover, was aggravated by the reckless way in
which licencos for the sale of spirituous liguor were issued to Maoris as
well as Europeans. In 1873 there were no fewer than eleven licensed
touses on the coast from Hicks Buy to Tolaga Buy inclusive. 'The
Enropeans resident within these limits at that tune did not number more
than 50 or 60, and the lquors, which wero of questionable quality, were
sold in many other places bosides the houses actunlly leensed. There was
very little demand on the eoast at that time for accommodation for
travellers, and only three or four of tho louses licensed made any attempt
to provide for it. The immediate responsibility for this state of things
rested with the Resident Magistrate of the distriet, who was prepared ty

sue u license to anyone who would pay tho regulation fee, ulleging as his
reason for this that the trade could mot be shut out, and that therefore
he considered it better thut the trade should be earried on under license
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than by stealth. At @ meeting of the Native Clureh Board in that sear
held at Whareponga this wies the principal subject of diseussion, witli th:
resalt it numerously signed petition was forwarded do the Minister of
wtive MTairs, who remarked, on the reeeipt of it, thit @ petition wis wot
of wmueh value heeanse it wis @ matter of no great dificulty (o @ any
number of people to sign a petition for or against wiything,

When  the  NReverend  Sumuel  Willin
e Aute chiofly at the instunce of Sir George Grey, u promise was mide by
RS Fixeellency thiat, in addition to the ol which was set apart for the
support of  schoob for Muoris, & substs At wou
Governient for the crection of the moeessary bnildings and for the
purehiase of stock.  Sir Go Grey returned to Bnglind shortly
and the promise wis nover fulfilled,  The seliool was therefore praetie
in aheyance until the ite Williams had greatly improved the property
and was wble to horraw woney on ix own tesponsibility for the erceti
of huiliings.  The buildings were ready for vceupation in the course of the
yeur 1872, aud the schaol was opened for boys in the beginning of the
tollowing year. Tupils attended th s
Const.  The Bishop had long heen ansions that something should he dons
for the cducation of Maori girls.  The
Wacrenga-a-hika seemed unlikely to be possible for muny yeurs, but by
the wid of personal friends in England he was enabled to raise sufl
a building on @ site which he hud aequired iy Napier. Phe
opened in this building in 1875, Tn
estate was det hy the trastees untit
ting 10

was moved from Otuki to

1t

school From all parts of the

opening of schools at

ient

TOHey Lo or
now wellbknown Hukarere Sehool
the meantime the Waerenga-a-hik
the aceumulation of the rents reeeived should justi
build and open @ sehool.

v their proco

The changes in the district which were consequent upon (e revent
troubles soon heeame very evident,  The land tuken by the Government
at Wairon in 1867 wa
alrendy stated, were wwarded to militas,
following year by Te Koot appeara
also Laid off at Te Kapu, whiel was named Praserfown aiito
nd on the Jeft hank of the Waiay extending some distanee towards
Waikaremoann had been awarded to the friendly wntives of Nufinku,
Maolaka, Wairow wnd Heretwunga, who afte i
in licw of it and it was then opened up iy the Govemnment for settlemeat.
i an 1867 the tow 5
s Lok placd in IST0. Sites at o
id boilt upon.  Militn

surveyed at onee, and scetions at Muruniry, @
« distosbed in th
A villige was
‘raser,

settlers who w

nee in the dist

-

After the purchase of land at Turing
wis surveyed and the fiest sale of
great distance from the riv
settlers
the village settlement of Ormond wis Jbd off neaeby, Up to the time or

upicd

T WCLC moon o

achike and

wore awarded seetions on the ulaud side of Wieren,

the disturbanee very little of the land in Poverty Bay bl Deen paried

with by the natives awd it had Jwen oomatter of sone difliculty to induce

them to give any Pakehan 50, though there were indieations in 1865

of a likelihood of this reluetance being overcome, at least in some parts

Some of the confiseated land abont Patut

i was wwarded o the friondly
natives who had assisted the Government in the wilitary operations on this

const, but A compensation in money was afterwands substituted for the

Tand, which w then made av hle for settlement.
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In 1870 Dr. Nesbitt, who had been Resident Magistrate at Maketu,
came to Gishurne in the place of Mr. Atkinson, who had returned to New
Plymouth, 1t was a boon to the smail community to have in the place o
medical mau, who, though largely occupied with Magisterial duties, was
not unwilling to give professional help in cases of seripus sickness,

Among carly needs was a school for the children, and the committee
which was appointed to take the neceessary steps for the erection of 4
sehool-room (for which in those days the local residents were responsible),
considered the site of the present main school in Derby Street ‘‘too far
out of town,”” and preferred an cducation reserve ut the interscetion of
Childers Road aud Lowe Street. On this site an unpretentious building
was creeted and Mr. W. D, Lysnar having been appointed teacher with the
concurrence of the inspector of the Aucklaud Education Board, the school
was opened in February, 1872, The scale of fees to be paid by the parents
was one shilling a weck for the younger children up to eight years of age,
and two shillings for those who were above that age, some reduction being
provided for in the case of parents who should be able to satisfy thy
committee that they were unable to pay the prescribed fee.

The census which was taken in Mareh, 1874, gave the European
population of Gisborne us 552, and that of the surrounding country as far
as it was then occupicd as 615. On the plan of the township a section was
marked as a reserve for o hospital, but, in order that it should be utilised,
it devolved upon the small community to take such steps as they might
find to be possible. The nced was emphasised in 1875 by the fact that two
01d men without means were struck down with paraly It was necessary
that something should be done without delay to provide aceommodation
for the two men. On one of the public reserves tem small cottages had
been erceted by the Government for the reeeption of emigrants, and these °
were then unoceupied. The two paralyties wero placed in one of thess
cottages with an able-bodied man to attend to them. Soon afferwards
a second of the cottages was moved up and the twa were added to in sueh
a way as to make provision for a small number of patients. Subsequently,
as the population increased, more up-to-date accommodation was provided.

As Charitable Aid Boards had not then been instituted a Benevolent.
Society was formed with a working committee of a few ladies, who were
assisted by the several ministers of religion resident in the town. Needy
cases were thus provided for.

In November, 1875, Gishorne was brought iuto elose contact with
the outside world by the completion of the telegraph line from Napier.

Permanent provision for the spiritual needs of the rapidly-increasing
Europoan population was a matter which involved more difficulty. My
own duties ineluded frequent visits to Waiapu and Hicks Bay on the north
and to Wairoa and Mohaka on the south, so that my work in Gisborne and
the nci was very i ittent; the Bishop, however, made 1
point of spending as much time in the district as his other duties allowed,
and Mr. Lysnar was appointed by him to hold services as lay reader when-
cver there was no clergyman uvailable. Towards the end of 1372 a Roman
Catholic priest, whose name T am not able to recall, eame to take charge
of the members of his own church, and in 1873 the Rev. W. Hevingham
Root camo to be pastor of the Prosbyterian members of the community.
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There had heen some delay in the procuring of sites for churches
owing 10 the dispute etween the General nnd Provineil Governments as
to which of the twa had the right to dispose of the soetions in the town
ship.  Under ardinary eireumstances lind acquired by pnrohase for the
Crown was under the control of the Provineinl Government, The site of
Gishorne, thongh not confiseated, had heen aequired during the disturhed
time and while disenssion was in progress as to the houndaries of land
which was to Lo ronfiseated. THe General Govornment, heing short of
funds, took charge of Gishorne as though it had heon part of the

: land, while the Provineinl G very naturally maintuined
its claim.  The question was ultimatcly deeided in favour of the Provinee
of AucKland, The praeticc in the provinee then was that, in the ease of 4
new township, sontions were set apart in suitable positions and applications
were invited from the various religions hadics to be sent in by « definite
date, when priority of choice would he deeided hy lot. The site having
heen settled i was not till November, 1872, that the Anglican commuunity
taok definite steps for the creetion of a ehureh.  Mr, Kells, architeet, of
Auekiand, was instrueted to prejare plans, but before thesn wore ready he
was prostrated hy a serious illness, from which his recovery swus slow.
Owing to the dolay thus eaused the work was nat taken in hand till Augnst,
1874, bt the boilding was finished early in the follawing year, s
conscorated on Aprl 11¢h, as the Chareh of (he Toly Trinity.
diffieulty was oxperionced i ohtaining elergy for the newly-sottled distriets,
hut in Angust, 1874, the Rev. T. Murphy undertook the duty at G
for three months, apd afterwards for a further period, hut ha rosigned the
post hefore ke had held it for six months. Shortly after his departure the
Rav. Bdward Williams was liecnsed to the eurc. Tn the same year, 1875,
the Rev. William Lamhert was Tieensed to the eharge of the Wairoa district.
but the eure beeame vacant again at the clase of 1876,

Tp to 1863 the population of the Diocose of Wainpu comprised very
few Turopeans, the provineial distriet of Tawke’s Bay not then having
formed part of it. There then had heen four annual sessions of the
Dioeesan Synod in which the proecedings had all heen eanducted in the
Maori language, all the Synodsmen and several of the elergy heing Maoria,
and possessed of vory little knowledgo of English. Subsoquent to that date
great changes had taken place. The Provincial Distriet of Hawke's Ba
in which there was already o considerable Eurapean popmlation, wi
transferred from the Dioeese of Wellington to that of Waiapu, and Enropean
settlers in no small numbers were taking up seetions of the lands of which
the (Govornment had taken pessession nt Tauranga. Opotiki, Povecty Bay
and Wairon. Tt was evident that the Furopean population would soon he
largely predominant, and that the English element must prevail in the
Synod. though the Jieensed native elorgy would nocessarily he memhers of
it. The cirenmstanees in which the Diacese was placed and the irregularity
and uneertainty of the means of eonveyanee from distant parts, mado the
srembling of a legitimate meeting of the Syiod o matter of eansidorable
difficnlty.  The Bishop. however, did summon the Senod to meet at i
on 15th of Angnst. 1872, The lieensed elorgy in the Diecese then o
sixteen, of whom nine were Maeris, and of the seleeted Synodsmen there
were thirteen.  For a valid mesting of the 1 it was necessary that.
hesides the Rishop, there should o a quarter of the lieensed lorgs but not
fewer than fonr, and one quarter of the Lay Synadsmen, hat not fewer than

nhered
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seven. The Synod met on the appointed day, five of the clergy and cight
or nine of the laity heing prescnt. None of the elergy from the northern
part of the diocese attended, and the one representative of the Bay of
Plenty was o Napier layman.  Meetings of the Diocesan Synad were held
in the three following years, but without any of the clerieal members
from the northern part of the Diocese, though luymen resident in Napier
had heen elected to represent the northern laity.

The Bishop was disabled by a paralytie stroke on Lady Day, 1876, the
fiftieth anniversary of his first landing at the Bay of Islands in 1826
Two months afterwards, as there seemed to he no prospeet of his recovery,
he forwarded his resignation to the Primate.

At this time the Rev. E. C. Stuart, who, after twenty-five years of
missionary work in India, had been obliged to leave that missian on the
score of health mnd was then on a visit to his brother in Sydney, was
requested by the committee of the Church Missionary Society to visit the
New Zealand Mission and to report to them on its conditions and prospeets.
After going the round of the various stations in which work was still being
carried on, he settled at Auckland, the work having been assigned to him of
training Maori candidates for the ministry,

The Diocesan Synod was summoned to meet in the following
September.  The faet that a elergyman had to be elected to be Bishop of
the Diocese assured a good attendance of memhers, The number of licensed
elergy in the Diocese was now twonty-five, and of these seventeon attonded,
incloding five of the Maori clergy. The lay members numbered eighteen,
and of these only one was absent. The election of n Bishop, however, was
not accomplished until tho following year, when the Rev. B. C. Stnart
reeeived the unanimous vote of the Synod, and was conseerated at Napier
on Sunday, the 9th of Decemher, 1877, Bishop Williams had been: confined
to his hed for about & month hefore the consecration of his successor, and
had been snffering a great deal from neuralgin. On Monday he was able
ta seo the now Bishop and to express his gratifiention nt what had now
taken place, giving him at the same time his blessing and presenting him
with @ Maori Bible. On Friday the visiting Bishops paid him a farewell
visit, all being much affoeted. His mind being now at rest the nearalgia,
which had been so troublesome, had now altogether left him, and his
strongth failed gradually until he passed to his rest on February Oth, 1878.

'CHAPTER IX.

When Te Kooti was allowed by Tawhine to remain in the King
country where his pursuers were forbidden to follow him, he settled down
quietly at Te Kuiti, and, inasmuch as anywhere outside the King country
he would he absolutely defenceless with a reward of £3000 offered for his
capture, he was under no inducement to venture heyond the boundaries of
his nsylum. To the Maori King and his immediate followers he seemed to
he an ohjeet of pity rather than of direct sympathy, though Rewi Maniapoto
was inclined to treat him as @ friend, and, as Kis residence among them
brought them no cmharrassment, they were content to leave him very much
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to himsolf, and to the attentions of any of his friends from othor parts,
who might chanse to visit him. OF these there were not a fow, and though
he had now no armed following he still exereisod sin extrmordinary influence
on th A supported hin i the past, inelnding the Ngaiterangi, of
Tauranga, the Whakatohea of Opotiki, the Tuloe people hotween Whikata,

and Waikaremonuz, hesides somo smaller sootions of the people in other
parts. Dy those ho was frequently consulted on questions of all kinds, the
greatest deference heing paid to his opinion and his adviee wonid ho
implicitly followed whatever ineanyvenioneq it might oceasion to those to
whom it was given. On one aceasion, whon visiting the section of 1ho
Tuhoe peaple living to the sonth of Waikaromoana, T found that they wers

se who ha

all seattered about the country nv from their ordinary hahitations and
apparently withont any speeinl object, the omly roason assigned for tho
movement heing that Te Kooti had advised it; nor did they seem to have
any dofinite notion of anything untoward that might have hoen apprehended
it they had ignored the adviee given to them. Soon after Dishop Stuar
assumed the charge of the diocese T aeccompanied him on a visit which he
paid to these parts which had been most disastrously affected hy the late
war, with the view of aseertaining at first hand the religions condition of
the natives, We fravelled throngh most of the settlements in the Buy of
Plenty, then visited Tanupo, and afterwards T went through the Tuhoe
rountry on the headwaters of the Whakatane and Waimana Rivers. The
Whannu-a-Apanui tribe at Rankokore and Te Kaha and the Ngaitai at Torere
in the enstern part of the Bay of Tlenty, the Arawa at Maketn and
Rotorna, as well as the Ngati Tuwhareton on the north and east of Taupo
Take. wero found to he for the most part maintaining their profession of
Christianity, though with much laxity of practice on the part of the
majority. On the other hand. the Whakatohea at Opotiki. the Tuhoe at
Tnatabuna and Maungapowhatu, the Ngaiterangi at Tauranga, who had all
Boen opposed to the Government in the war, and on whose mind the notion
scemed to bave token a firm hold that the missionaries had aeted a
deecitful part towards them, had all, with very fow exeeptions, adopted
Te Kooti’s form of worship. By Te Kooti’s direction they ignored the
TLord’s Day and ohserved Saturday as a day of resy from ordinary works,
but apparently withont any speeinl religions observances hesides their nsual
morning and cvening devotions. The usual practice for morning and
cvening was that after ane who acted as leader had said, ““Let us sing to
Jehovah,”” a ecnto of verses from the Old Testament was ehanfed in wnison
by the whole assembly. This being conelnded the leader rocited a fow short
prayers addressed to ‘“Tehovah.’? to which the peaple Tesponded sith a
Toud and somewhat prolonged ““Amen.”” As the prayers and the passages
of Seripture which were used, were fived in the memory of all hy constant
ropetition, the office of leader required mo spocial qualifications.  When
travelling through the Tuhoe country we brought up one evening at a place
ealled Tawhana, where there was one good-sized whare ocenpind b

of three generations, viz., an clderly conple, a young conple,
infant. Though these were Ringatu they trented us hospitably.
me and my companions to oceupy the onter end of the building.  As soon

nel aliowed

as day dawned the infant disturbed the grandmother. and while she wis
paying attention to it the old man was ronsed. 1o imediately sat ip aml
hegan to recite (he ‘‘karakia.’” This roused the ofher tywn gl the o
adults chanted the Seripture verses in wnison. after which the old man
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recited the prayers, the other three responding with the '‘Amen.’’ My -
companions were still sound asleep and my hosts did not know that T was
awake. We had our prayers soon afterwards in which our hosts did mot
join us. The promptuess with which these Ringatu began their devotions
as the very first husiness of the day was very striking and very com-
mendable.

Though the Sabbath was not marked by any speeial religious
exercises Te Kooti laid great cmphasis on the twelfth day of the month,
and it has been the usual practice of the Ringatu in any district to meet
together on that day at ome or other of their settlements for speeial
observances. Whether or not Te Kooti assigned any particular reason for
this regulation, it is enough for those who observe the day that Te Kooti
ordered it.

In most of the Rimgatu settlements we were treated with civility,
and in some with genuine old-fashioned Maori hospitality, though, so far
from showing any disposition to return to the practice of Christianity as
they had heen taught hy the Missionaries, they were rather inelined to Jay
stress on the points wherein they differed from us. At Tuwharua and
Te Koingo, on the Waimana, where we wore delayed two days by tho
weather and were hospitably entertained by the chiefs Rakuraku and
Tamaikowha, we were asked to sit by while the Ringatu recited their

3 5, it being app that we should not he able to
make any serious objection m them. Their manner was reverent and the
petitions contained in the prayers were framed in language taken from the
Old Tostament, but the obvious objection to the whole system was that it
was anti-Christian, being a deliberate rejeetion of all that the love of God
has provided for sinners in Jesus Christ.

The only place where we were received with discourtesy was
Kokohinau, near Te Teko. We had been unexpectedly delayed at Matata
and were rather late in arriving at Te Teko, where we were accommodatol
at the hotel. After getting some refreshment we walked down to the pa
at Kokohinau, where we found the people assembled in a large whare and
possibly engaged in some speeial business which was interrupted hy our
arrival.  As soon as we were seated we were addressed by their leader.
Tiopira in tones which scemed to make it quite clear that our presence was
not desired.  He hegan hy saying, ‘“You have not visited us for years, and
now that you have come to us again you find that we have given up the
way of the Son and have adopted instead the way of the Father’’; by
which he would have us to understand that they had renounced Christianity
though they professed to regard Jehovah as their father. As Tiopira was
their chicf spokesman, and was disinclined to listen to amything that we
had to say, our visit was not prolonged.

At Tokaanu on the southern shore of Lake Tanpo, where thero was
A Roman Catholic mission, not far from the Rev. T. S. Grace’s old station,
most of the people scemed to be indifferent or to consider themselves to be
ndherents of the Maori King not only in politics, but also in matters of
religion.  In the course of our visit to this place one man remarked that
the people conneeted with the Roman Catholic mission had mo good reason
for negleeting their religion, but that the ease was very different with
those who had been in conneetion with the Church of England mission.
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On being asked for an explanation he adiduced Bishop Selwyn's presence
at Rangiahoin at the time of the fighting there in 1864, when some women
and ehildeen were said to have lost their Tives in o whire whick burns
by the troops. When he was asked what part the Bishop took in the
proceedings at Rangiahoia, ho montioned the nume of a man whom he hal
mot an the road who, ho said, could testify that the Bishop was there, s
that he heard him eall ent after the ficing hn
wounded come (o me,'"  They could not nnderstand his presence there as
liaving any other meaning than that he hiud mnged himself distinetly on the
side of their enemies, though it necded no arguinent 1o prove th
id nothing but succour their wounded eould not be their enemy. This
explanation was promptly given, but did not necessarily carry convietion.

1 ¢eased, “any who are

At Marumohue, on the Waiotahe, near Opotiki, we found Te Warn
and his people, who helonged properly to Whataroa, on the River Wairos,
in Hawke’s Bay. After the conelusion of the war it was not considered
that Te Waru’s life would he safe if he were to roturn to Whataroa or to
any place in that neighbourhood, s there was very hitter fooling against
him in that district on account of his complicity in the treacherons murdes
of Karnitiana and three others at Whataroa in 1568 The Government
therefare, had placed him and his peaple on this portion of the land which
had heen confiseated that he might be out of harm’s way. Ie had been
a very strong supporter of Te Kooti, but whatever he may have heen in
the past he now diselaimed conneetion with the Ringaty and made no
profession of religion of any kind.

The information ohbtaincd on these journeys showed plainly th
character of the work which lay hefore the ehureh in this part of the
diocese. The older missionarics were far advanced in years, and the Rev.
Grorge Maunsell, who had been placed at Tanranga in 1875, was the only
roally able-hodied missionary in the district.

There was urgent need of reinforeements, hut these were not
immediately available.  Thyo reernits had just arrived from Faogland, one
of whom was to have been placed at Taupo, but proved to be unspited for
Maori work. The other, Me. W. Goodyear, was not in Holy Orders and had
been sent out to help in the work on the East Coast.

As far as the general public was concerned Te Kooti had for years
been little more than a historiesl character. He was known to be at Te
Kuiti, but his name was seldom mentioned until the Act of Amnesty was
passed in August, 1882, After this hie eame to he very much in evidence.
and whereas a few yoars hefore ie had heen hunted as an outlaw, he now
eame to he treated by those who were in nuthority with very special
cansideration,  After the passing of the Aet the Native Minister took an
early opportunity of paying a speeial visit to Te Kuifi for the yurpose of
shaking hands with Te Kooti: hut the roasom why, among all the people
to whom the Aet applied, Te Kooti shoull have been selected as the objeet
of this particular compliment, is not very obvions. Te eertainly had hoen
grievously sinned against hy the Govermment, and that faet might well he
held ta justify the condoning of the atroeitics whiel he had vommitied by
way of avenging himself, and to aecount for his not having been exchided
from the operation of the Act of Amnesty. hut there was at Feast one
ne of which he was guilty which had nothing of a politieal character

e
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about it. This was the cruel murder of Warihi whom he ordered to be
thrown overboard from the ‘‘Rifieman’’ on the voyage from Chatham
Island, A further mark of Miuisterial rogard was the appropriation of a
sum of £600 of the public funds to the purchase of land for his henefit.

Having now been assured of the hearty goodwill of the Government

Te Kooti soon hegan to visit his Maori friends in various parts of the
country, travelling gemerally with a band of 150 or 200 followers. In
March, 1884, he announced his intention of paying a visit to Poverty Bay
in the following summer. As his route would most probahly lie through
Mohaka and Wairon the announcement eaused no little exeitement among
the relatives of the victims of the massacres of 1868 and 1809, espeeinlly
as it was stated that he would be aceompanied by a large number of people
of the Waikato, Tuhoe and other tribes. Represeatations were made to the
Native Minister that, if he should earry out his intention there would
probably be trouble and possibly bloodshed, and it was suggested that, if
possible, the visit should be forbidden on the ground that it might lead
to a breach of the peace. The people at Mohaka who had been staunch
of the rnment during the di on the Enst Coast,

and fifty-seven of whom had been eut off by Te Kooti in his raid in 1869,
had always said that if he should come near the place agmin he should
forfeit his life.  As soon as they heard of the proposed visit they proceeded
at onee to build o strong pa, so as to be ready against all emergencics.
Mr. Ballance, the Native Minister, opened communication with Te Kooti
and ho was persunded to relinquish the projeet. TIn the fallowing year, it
wag announced that he intended to visit Wairoa on the invitation of some
of his friends in that district. As in order to do this he must necessarily
pass through Mohaka the people of that place were much disturbed, and n
deputation of them in company with Renata Kawepo and other Horetaunga
chicfs waited upon Captain Preece, then Resident Magistrate at Napier,
hegging him to urge the Government to prevent Te Kooti from coming and
0 obviate the possibility of a disturbance of the peaec. The only answer
that they eould get from the Native Minister, was that Te Kooti had now
heen pardoned, and therefore was at liberty to use the usual highways Jike
any other man. and Captain Precce was dirceted to reason with the
deputation and to persuade them, if possible, to offer no opposition to To
Kooti. After mueh discussion an agreement was come to through the
influence of the Rev. Hoani Te Wainohu, the Native clergyman at Mohaka,
that Te Kooti should be allowed to go along the high rond, but that if ha
#hould venture off the road in the neighbourhood of their pa, he would do
so at his peril. The case would have been different if Te Kooti had been
intending to travel with two or three eompanions only, but what especially
hurt the feelings of the Mohaka people was that he was intending to eome
through the seene of his former atrocities as a hero in a kind of triumphal
procession with a whole army of followers. The visit took place towards
the end of 1885. The took the ion of sending
extra police to Wairoa, directed the ferryman at Mohaka to put Te Kooti’s
party of about 200 aeross the river without charge, and gave him £10 for
his trouble. The pa stood about thirty yards oft the main road, and as
Te Kooti passed escorted by a half-caste policeman several men within the
pa kept him covered with loaded rifies ready to shoot him if he should
leave the road and go towards the pa. When opposite the pa Te Kooti
ealled ont to the peaple within, but getting no rosponse procceded on his way.
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As he passed on bis return a week aftorwards the yeople in the 1
tained the same attitude.  These ple Nl always borwe o vers high
wharacter, but that the Government should exvoursye amd assist To b
A they didy in by quasi-trinmpd pr
their loyalty snd sense of duly 10 0 Very severe strain. L0 was main
uawing to the influence of the Rev. 1o ainohu, that no disturt
Lok pli ot the
wotion eime to he entertained by oy that the risk o
Isppening: b , bt sueh knew wothing of the
iutensity of feeling on the part of the Mokaka people nor uf tie
cireumstaneos which w ot it.
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e, As the visit passed off withour any bre

A been grossly exagperate

A the following summier e Kooti prssed throngh Nipier on his way
o Porangabian, bt his proecedings attmeted litle attention exeept froum
the small party who had invited o, e wis still hoping 1o pay a0 visit
to Poverty Bay notwithstanding that the Rongowhakaatn tribe il
prossed w0 strong objection to Iis ddeing so. s supporters there wers
e Nitaugin-Muhaki teibe, dving ehicfly in the neighbouchood of To
Karukat, who had creeted a lirge whare for his reception. In Januury,
1580, snnouneed  definitely Bis intention to pay his proposed. visit
Early in Febrary he went to Auekland and while he was there he saw ki
Tton. . Mitehelson, who wasx then Native Minister, and who tricd 1
dissawde him from going to Vovorty Bay, alleging as the reason the great
Gpposition to Nim which had alrcads hoen manifested there,  Te Kaoti,
however, had made np bis o wind and refused 1o alter bis plos. On
February 28nd ho passed through Opotiki to Omaramuty with seme 200
s joincd there by shout 100 more. In the metivge
i progress in Poverty Bay for opposing his entrs

followers and w

preparations wore alreidy
into the distriet. A oceting of settlers had been held at Makaraka on the
I5th, at whieh an influential committee wis appointed to take sueh steps
fe ary, 160 valunteers were cnrolled nd o
bed ut wnee towards any ospenses that niight have
to Do incurred. The first reports of the loeal opposition to Te Knuti's
visit were made Tight of at Wellington, where it seened to b thonghit 1h

nothing extraordinary was likely to happen, inasiuel as nothing i
happened under similar circumstances at Molaka three yoars hefore. But
when the people hegan to take the law fito their own hands wnd o show
ey were in real varnest the Promicr, Sie 1. Atkioson,
t Gishorue, and seut an urgent message to Te Kooti at Omarauntn twlling
lim not to come on. this mi
deeidod that Te Kooti should he arr
o result inon disturbanee of the e
wropesns wml Maoris was dispatebed from G
Qi slterwards To Kontl wits trested ot Wa
the Resident Muagistrate at Opotil
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Al awd returued o Waikata, The

it e deeniod 1o e nee
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over to Te Karaka from Wairon and other places. This fact alone would
have served to increase the tension of feeliug and a breach of the peaes
would have been a by no means remote contingeney.

Te Kooti made no further attempt after this to visit Poverty Bay,
und he dicd at Ohiwa on April 17th, 1893.

In 1881, a conference of missionaries was held in Auckland to
consider what steps it might bo possible to take for the furtheranee of the
work of the church among the Maoris, espeeially in the disaffected districts.
The Church Missionary Socicty was already contemplating its withdrawal
from New Zealand, and no additional help therefore could be locked for
from that quarter. In order that a supply of the nceessary agents should
he provided for it was deeided that a eeutral training institution should be
sct on foot as soon as possible at Gisborne, which could be supported by the
procceds of property which had been acquired by the C.AL Society in past
years for the purposes of the mission,

In the following year arrangements were made by the C.M. Socicty
for transferring the management of the mission to a board, to be called
the New Zealand Mission Trust Board, which should consist of three
Angliecan Bishops in the North Island, ex officio, and of one elergyman and
one layman representing cach of the three North Island Dioceses, the
Society engaging to continue its help, but at a steadily deereasing rate,
for twenty years, after which it would be responsible for nothing more thaw
the support of sueh of the old European ordained missionaries as should
be still on its roll. It was antieipated at the same time that the Church
in New Zealand would aceept responsibility for missionary work among the
Maoris. The property whieh had been aequired by the Socicty for the
purposes of the mission was conveyed to the New Zealand Mission Trust
Board, which took over the superintendence of the work in January, 1883,

Among the first proceedings of the beard was the placing of the Rev.
W. Goodyear, who had then been ordained to the Pricsthood, at Maketu,
in the Bay of Plenty. Since that time native elergymen bave been
stationed at various places in that district, with the result, under the
Dlessing of God, that mueh improvement is now cvident among those who
had maintained their ion of Christianity, while work among tho
Ringatu has met with considerable encourngement, notably at Tauranga and
at Ruatoki, on the Whakatane River. But those in the Waiapu, Poverty
Bay and Wairoa distriets still hold themselves very much aloof from
Christian instruction. In aceordance with Te Kooti’s instructions they
have avoided all intercourse with Mormon teachers, but they have no formal
ereed, and their religious observances comsist simply in the recital of the
forms taught them by Te Kootl, combined with the revival of some of their
old superstitions. The faet that they address their devotions to Jehovah
and that they have introduced the Saviour’s Name into some of their
prayers tends to make the task of winning them over to Christianity mora
difficult inasmuch as they claim that their prayers are addressed to the God
whom the Christians worship, and that there is mo necessity for doing
what, from their point of view, would be merely altering the method of
their worship. The sehools which have been planted by the Government in
all tho Maori distriets have had a beneficial cffect in making the younger
generations more accessible than their fathers and grandfathers who were
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aetively opposed to the Government in the war time and there is therefore
u brighter prospect opening for working among them,

After the capture of the Hauhau pa at Waerenga-ahiks the selool
estate remained for some time unoceupicd, except that ene building which

wis weather proof was inbabited at times hy « detachment of the Armed
Canstabil :

y. 'The of stich occupations s were in progress
hefore the Haubiu invasion were out of the question. There was no money
available for the restoration of buildings and fences, und the only covrse
open to the trustees was to let the property and allow the funds to
accumulate until sueh time as it might be possible to creet the necessary
huildings and 10 carvy on such work as thut for whicli the propesty wae
held in trust.  Owing to the troubles of 1868 no tenunt could be induced to
geetpy it until 1869, and additional delay in the resumption of cduentionil
work was eaused by the fact that in the original oecupation of the estate
it had been neeessary to horrow money in order to make sueh occupation
possible, and the repayment of this monoy hecame a firs
income of the ostate. In 188!

charge on the
the necessary buildings were tuken in hand
and a sehool for Maori boys was opened in the following July so that the
estate is now being used again for the purpose for which it was originally
set apart.




APPENDIX.

Page 4.
BXTRACTS FROM THE JOURNAL OF THE REV. 8. MARSDEN.

“August 27, 1819, I shall here mention nn instance of retaliation,
some of the eireumstances of which eame within my own knowledge.

About 15 or 16 years ago a vessel belonging to Campbell and Co., of
Port Jackson, ealled the ‘‘Vemus,”’ was taken by the conviets at Port
Dalrymple. When the pirates had possession of the Venus they sailed for
New' Zealand and touched at the Buy of Tslands, from whenee they took
the sister of a chief named Temaraugha, and afterwards sold her at an
island near the East Cape for some muts. Two of the natives afterwards

about her, in of which she was killed.

Some time afterwards some natives arrived from the East Cape at
the Bay of Islands and gave information relative to Temarangha’s sister.
Temarangha’s father was alive, and provious to his death, caused
Temarangha to swear that he would revenge the death of his sister.

Tn 1815 Temarangha accompunied me to Paramatta, and, two years
after his return he mustered his tribe and set off to the hnst Cape ty
perform the oath which he had sworn to his father. He killed the chicf
of the island where his sister had been murdered, and brought away the
chiet’s wifo us prisoner, and gave hor to his brother, with whom she now
ives.

September 15, 1819. On my return through the village (Ranguhoo)
in company with Mr. Kendall, T obscrved the heads of four chiefs stuck
on four poles at one of the huts. T requested Mr, Kendall to aecompany
me to the hut in order to ascertain the cause of the death of thesc chiefs
and from whence the heads had been brought. On making enquirics of the
people we received the following aceount:—

Some years ago a vessel from Port Jackson touched at the Bay of
Tslands, from whenee the erew took a woman belonging to Shungee’s tribe
and afterwards landed her at or mear the East Cape on the mainland.
After Temarangha had heard of the fate of his sister (who was taken at
the same time), he sent up spies to nsccrtmn the particulars and the
situation of the people who Had killed hor. Temarangha’s spies travelled
as traders all along the coast; and when they returned they brought
information of what had become of these two women. One had been killed
and caten on an island, and the other on the main at a greater distanes.
Temarangha set off to avenge the death of his sister, as alrcady stated,
and Shungee followed when he was ready. They both returned without
meeting after taking vengeance on the respective people who had committed
the above murders; and the heads which I saw were of four chiefs whom
Shungee had killed in battle. He also brought with him two chicfs ns
prisoncrs and many more heads. Mr. Kendall told me that Shungee was
cleven months on his voyage, and returned cight months ago with many
prisoners of war who were shared between him and his subordinate chiefs.

Previous to elosing this day’s observations I met with Shungee and
Temarangha. Wishing to know every particular relating to their expedition
towards the East Cape I requested them to accompany me to Mr. Kendall’s
that T might, with his assistance, exumine them very minutely. After a
conversation of nearly two hours I callected the following particulars
relative to their expedition and eustoms.

Temarangha went chiefly to aveuge the death of his sistor as already
stated.  He took with him 400 fighting men, snd after attaining his o
returned with a few prisoners of war. He went on his expedition previous
to Shungee, but they never met on any part of the coast, Shungee had two
ubjeets in view: The one was to avenge the murder of the woman belonging
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ta his tribe, who bad beon taken away by the Vemus, as alro
1he othor to n wehiof at the River Thames, (o avenge (hreo
murders which had committod on his tribe seviral fore.
Houpah had long solicited Shungee to aid Kim i puishing the teibe who
had cut off his people. Shumgee left e Bay of Islands on the 7
Pelirmary, 1818, with his fighting men to join Houpah on the RBiver Thame
When they sniled from the River Thames their forees aniounted 1o 500
men. On their arrival at the rlidrit-l where they intended to mike war
suel of the natives as were able fled into the intorior, leaving their
habitations.  Shungee says that they harmt 500 \'ilhmnx The inhabitnnts
woere very numerous hetween the IRiver Thumes and the East Cape. M
of them were taken by snrprise and had not time to muster, and theretore
wero obliged to fly for safety to the country as Shungee advanced. A
number of people wore killed eithor by surprise or in defending theic fowns
or peoplo; and many of “their heads hrought away by the conquering party.
Fhe settlors infornied me that abont 70 heads were hronght to Kiugihon
in ome eamoe. They also took 2000 prisoners of wir whom they brought
hack with them as their spoils, rnn.w sting of men, women and ehildren.
Theso prisoners were shared snong the ohiofs and their officers sl made
staves. (Prom Procecdings of CALS., 1870/1).
Page 4.

EXTRACT FROM REPORT OF COMLS, 1822,

il

PAGE 153).

On the 5th September, after the most formidable propnrations (he
largest party of natives which ever 1oft tho Bay set forward to the Thanes
with Shungoe at its head to murder and ravage without pity.

From the Journal of the Rev. john Futler.

April 10, 1821, We were visited by a chief named Showrncke,
T A s the siver, fowatde fhe mouth of thHs
harhour.  He has been a ng time on @ war expedition towards th

£ituth Cape f Now: Zonland,| THig @hio? plics of Retion st £ Kave hon

At u distriet callod Enama-Teora, about 900 milos from the Bay of Isinds,
He has brought away 40 prisoncrs of war ns slives, several of whom wern
in his canoc; they were men of noble stature; they appeared dejoetor.
Several women that he had taken were also in his eanoc. one of whon, «
chief*s daughter, he had made his wife. Her father had been slain in
litttle, and Ris head was in the canoe with several others.  When it was hell
up a5 trophy the poor erenture luy down in the canoo covering herself
with her mat.

Page 8.

Orakaiapn was the prineipal pa in the Poverty Bay district, anl ns
the larger pas of old-time had many fentures in common, o shart deseriptios
of this one may be of interest. The pa was situated on the bank (about
20ft. high), of the Kopututen River, just helow the juuction wf the
Waipaon and Arai, the arca being about three acres, The fortifientions
consisted of a strong palisade about fifteen or twenty foet high, with inner
fences and a ditch and bank of considerable dimensious, some of the remains
of which are still visihle, though @ large portion of the site of the pa has
heen earied away hy the river before it changed its conrse in 1876, The
interior of the pa was irregularly divided by foncos of light construeiion
into.a number of small enelosures, which were rendered aceessible hy unrros
passages intersecting the pa in various direetions. Within thise small
enclosnres stood the whares or huts. These were all huilt of ane patieen.
the entrance being at one end and generally facing the portheast. A
doorway about three feet high and a small aperture which served as o
window were plaecd on either side of the post whicl supported the ridzess
pole. the dovrsway on one's leftas one approached the hat aml the windmy on
tho right. Though the dimensions were small the huts were always woll
contrueted and ueatly finished, the doorway amil  window  heine anatly
framed in wood and the thateh of toe-too grass heing wrely fastend anid
proteeted from damage by awind with $he wirelike =(oms of ake or
metrosideros seandens. The interior awas lined with reels of the toetoe,
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Jeakapo or arondo conspicua.  Besides the ordinary huts there were several
buildings of considerably larger dimensions, cach the property of one of the
subdivisions of the tribe. These were used for gatherings of the people on
special oceasions or for the entertainment of visitors. These larger con-
strueted buildings, though on the same general plan, were more claborately
eonstrueted and more freely with most

carving. One of these, which stood formerly in the Orakaiapu pa, is now
in the Dominion Museum at Wellington. The uprights in the walls of this
building were all earved, and spaces between the nprights were ornamented
with strips of phormium tenax or other plants ingeniously worked into
patterns in black, white and yellow, producing a very pleasing effect. This
building is worthy of better treatment than it has received at the hands
of the museum authorities.  Another of these huildings, ealled Hamokorau,
was used for a mumher of years as a temporary church after the chureh
was wrecked by tho wind in 1842,
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*The late Dr. in *“Tradi and itions of the New

Zealanders,?” Chapter IV, gives an account of a seance at which he himself
was present. Tarapipipi, of Matamata, who wished to eonvinee Shortlamd
of the reality of communications which were said to have been made by
““atua,’” or spirits of departed chiefs and warriors to their survivors, took
. him to the abode of an old woman, at whose bidding the ‘‘atua’’ of the
tribe had becn in the habit of appearing, with the object of asking her to
call them up. After some preliminary conversation which was **interrupted
by a sound as if something heavy had fallen on the roof of the hut, and
then a rustling noise such as might he made by a rat, erept along the thateh
until it stopped just over our heads. The old woman covered her head and
faco in her blanket and bent herself nearly double, her head resting on her
knees, and immediately from the spot where the rustling noise had ceased
issned sounds imitative of a voice, but whistled instead of being articulated
in ordinary tomes. The moment it was heard Tukaraina and the others
who were present recognised the voiec of Te Wn)mrna, Tarapipipi’s father.””
After a hint given to the spirit by i
316 Huii waloanmiil e KOAE Ehe miansel of Ak Aiibes - o Terayiind.
though outside the hut, was still very close to me, and, leaning towards me
he said in a whisper; ‘put your hand over the old woman’s mouth quiekly!”
T no sooncr did as he hade me than the same voice demanded ‘Who has put
his hand to touch me?’ This seemed sufficient proof that the voice eame
from the mouth of the old woman; and I also noticed that, whenever the
whistling voice was heard, I conld not distinguish her breathing; but
immediately on its censing the breathing was heard as if accelorated after
an oxertion.’’

Tage 27.

1The following may serve as an illustration of the difficulty of
travelling from one part of the country to another in early days. In 1856
1 was directed by Bishop Selwyn to meet him at Wellington that I mighi
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e admitted to Priest’s

Orders,  Oppartunitics 6f gmng south were then

very rare so, in order to make sure of renching W ellington in time. [
availed myself of an opportunity of a passage lo. Nap ¢ small cutier
which sailed from Poverty Bay on November Gth. At \n,,.v.— T hat to wai

till Novemlhor 25th for a sehooner suiling to Wellington, which aceamplistied
the vovage in ecight days. At Wellington T found o miessuge from the
Bishop dirceting me to proceed to Lyttelton where he was wwvaiting the
arrival of Rishop Harper, who was then due from England. After a delay
of ten days an opportunity offcred for Lyttelton by the small stemer
Zingari, which pnrrnrmm the voyage in fine woather in 26 hou Nz
on December h. T was free to return after Christmas, hut T eould noz
reckon on gotting back to Poverty Bay by any definite date, therefare 1
gladly neecpted the suggestion of the Bishop thut T should necompany him
to Chatham Tsland in the sehooner Sonthern Cross and he landed at Poverts
Bay an the way back to Aneklamd. T reached home an Fobruary Gth,
having heen away exnctly three months. Under modern conditions T
should have been back in less than two weeks. No letters which T had
written after I left Napier arrived watil after T myself had returned home.

Page 4.
*The ‘“Fast Coast Land Titles Tnvestigation Aet, 1866°* eontained the
following clauser—

{¢Such patives or other persons as shall not have been engaged in the
rehellion shall inelude all persons appearing to he entitled to land within
the suid distriet who shall come within the dot('rxphrvn contained in the fifth
¢lanse of The New Zealnnd Settlement Net. 1867 o fifth elausc rends
ns follow:

\V.—Compensation shall be granted to all persons who shall have
any title, interest or elaim to any Innd taken wnder this Aet.  Provided
always that no compensation shall he granted to any of the persons
follawing, that is to say to any personi—

1. Who =hall sinee the Ist of January. 18 have bern engaged
in loyving or making war or earrying arms against Her Majesty the Queen
and IMer Majesty’s forees in Now Zealand.

2. Wha shall have adhered to, sided or assisted or eomforted any
sueh persons,

Page ?
dpoted frow i the

1The paper “‘Te Manuhiri Tuarangi,’’ which
o His Grace th:

following disputch from His Exccllency Sir Georgo G
Duke of Neweastle, was widely cireulated among the Maors
Government House,
Auekhnd.
11th Angust, 186

My Lord Duke,

I have the honour to eall your Graee’s attention to my prodecessor’s
dispatch, No, 10, of th0 25th January, 1860, which contains as an enclosuie
u letter from Mr, Parris, the District Land Purchase Commissioner at New
Plymouth, dated tho i Dacember, in which the following paragiaph
Geenursi—

€W, King avowed his 4lrlunmxmlmn to oppese the sale withuur
advaneing any reason for so doing, upon which I put a serics of questions
to him, whick I callod upon the Rev. M. \Hul(l\- 1o witne Vi

Q. Docs the land l)clonz to Te Teira and party

A. Yes, the land is theirs, but I will not ot Illr‘m sell it.

Q. Why will you oppose them sclling what is theic own !

A. Because 1 do not wish that the land be rlhrurlu- Loand thoust

they have floated it, I will not lot it go to sew.’
< 2, It is understood here that a great deal of imporianee his teon
attached in England and elsewhere to this apparent wli; the par:
of W. King, that the land claimed by the Governmeat ns o
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purchase from the ehief Taylor, belonged to the ehief Taylor and to Ais party.
alone, and that no other person had any elaim to

3. It has therefore been thought advisable that I should call Your
Grace's attention to the fact that the Government published two distines
statements of what passed between Mr. Parris and W. King at the interview
alluded to in Mr, Parris’s letter of the 4th December, 1830,

4. One of these statements is that which I have quoted above, Lt
is a summary given in English of a conversation which passed in the Maor
language. The other is a statement published in the Native Gazette,
which is published by the Government under the title of ‘“Te Manuhiri
Tuarangi.”’ This paper is printed in two columns, the one in the English
Ianguage, the other in the Maori. In this newspaper the following state-

ment is given in the native language of the question proposed by Mr.
Paerin to WV, King, and of that chief’s replics

Mr. Parsis enquired:—‘Does not  Ka pa
that plece of land belong to
Taylor?’? Ho replied, ‘‘It belongs
to Taylor and all of us, but as he is
satting it adrift to sea, I shall soize
upon it and drag it inshore again.””

ai atu a Parete:—'Ehara
ko ia i u Te Teira tana wahi?’’
Ka ki zke, No Te Teira ano, no ma
tou katoa hoki, otiia nana 1 tuka
ki te moana, naku i rere ki runga,
maku e to ki uta.’?

The statement hore mnde by W, King is stronger in the nativo language
than it appears to be in the annexed English translation, tho real meaning
o the pative words used by him being, ‘It belongs to Taylor together
with all of us.’
I have, ete,,
G. GREY.
His Grace the Duke of Neweastle.

Page 34
FROM APPENDIX TO JOURNALS OF HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
1863,

§'It was necessary to declare some cause for the intended attack,
not so much with the view of producing an effect on the Maoris themselyes
as of justifying the war in the oyes of the British public. General
Cameron was ehout to advance, ud thara was not uch time loft for the
moreover, proved os

fleult to Eomposﬁ ag the celebmted one announcing the surrender of
Waitara, and like that was not finally issued till too Jate for the purpose
for swhich it was nominally designed. No Deelaration of War reached the
Waikatos until after blood had been shed.”* (Gorst’s ‘“The Maori King.’”
Page 377).

I met the messenger earrying the first capies printed in the native
language, on the evening of July 14th, at dusk. He was then on the road
between Auckland and Otahuhu, and did not reach the Waikato until after
the Battle of Koheros, whieh was fought on the 15th.”” (The samg p. 380).

Page 34

|Wken forwarding a copy of the Treaty of Waitangi with signatures
of Waikato chiefs attached, to Licut.-Governor Hobson, the Rev. R. Maunsell
wrote:—

““In forwarding the accompanying decument I would beg to observe
in reference to oursclyes that, cordially as we desire to eo-operate with
Governor Habson in all measures consistent with our principles, we cannot
but state that we feel strongly the responsibility in the eyes of the natives
by the steps we are now adopting.

1 would bog therefore, with all deference, to add that, having put
ocurselves thus pmmmem)y forward in obtaining an acknowledgment of the
sovercign power of the Queen on the part of the natives, so we trust that
that aekaowledgment will never be made, even apparently, the basis of any
measure that may hereafter result in their prejudice.
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Phe stejis we have taken liave heen takvn i rull dependense un tho
well known levity and lonoor of the

that we Shall never f
aken.?*

L anil we

THE FOLLOWING IS PATARA 'S 1

ch 25th, 18G5
Patuinni

~ avrival

Pl fuln\\m;, i the aeeount which was gic
a1 Opotiki by Mr. SUA, Levy, who kept u store theto in 156

sururday, lchrlmr' 2thi A letter has just arrived to say that
Patara wis thew on the heach some three miles fron Lere.  The natives are
I coming in from every village there is neur to sce what the gicat man
an do. | should say there the some SUU Batives on the plaiy in front of
the churely some ereeting tents, puttig o flags, carrying firewood, and
all those things ready for d barge v'nb.tm]uucn(. At Jast about & pan, atary
artived, the whole of the woumen ) being formed in a doutle line for
his seec)tion, when, ns he drew neat, Fha ling e0 whan upened sind he passed
through thon awmidst the greatest rejoicings and weleomes, Paturs in
advinee of his forty followers with u lurge horse-pistol in his hands, hel!
across his broust. After passing throngh the women thoro was a goneral
revivw which lsted for some three hours, the natives going througl svery
wmanoeavie known to them iu W rmn», and likewise several sorts of stuy
hunts pne after auother. Previous to the arrival the natives had erceted
i very high flag-post near v.hg chun.h and, as soon as the party came in,
the Paimarire flags were hoisted on it . . .. The females were all now
getting the kapura maoris ready i grand feed when, shortly after, therc
arrived some five carts laden with five di en and sowe hondreds off
kits of potatoes; likewise several loads of water melons. When all the
eurts were got together they were taken before Patarn, who went througt
several forms of grace, holding u picet in his right hand, and throwing it
wway after oneh prayer. After these ceremonjey the earts wont to the
different fires 1o get their contents cooked, which ns svon as done griee
wiis snid and then eame the grand feed . ... 1 then went toosee Patar
who seemed very mueh pleascd, mentioning t the sume time that ho w
very glad that 1 wits o Jew, he being very fond of them, giving, as his
reason that the Jews were onee @ vety grand punplL but were now redupod
to a very smull one thiough the persecutions had gone througl, thy
Maoris helieving themselves to be undergoing bhe-dhmats  Mhejeichuatives
were having u grand feed Patara walked to my house und had tea with
me, Tiwai being prosent. Patara was telling Tiwal in my prosence wh
his intentions were from the time of his leaving Taranaki, which took on
month and 24 days to rc'l(_h Opotiki. Th intended 1o tuke the hesds
of all ministers, sol and Englishmen, ta earry as trophivs to th
great prophet llmu[npu.l at Taraniki. 1 told him 1 did not like to sce so
many guns knocking sbout, there beiny soue 500, when he wld e 1 gake
myself quite casy as to their doings, that he would wive we o writtea
protection for iy safety during his abseney, Patata prowiising w come Luck
and sleep with we, and meutioning to me that had My, Volkner teen
Opotiki on bis drrival it was his fall intention to titke his head o Tarunak
and thut he intended taking possession of his zouds nud house.
3 o’clock Kercopn the propliet came amongsty lln‘m with the b
soldier and plncu] it at the foot of the worslip post. iving the en aiou
side; whicl on it **70th Megiment." This cansed gre et
among the nanu<, Kercopa coming iu front of the skull (o give a loctooe
which Jasted some hour aud a half, the wholy Jvctote heing on rehigiv
stating that, up to the present time, they had been ring winder @
mistake, and the whole of the ministeis ud been robhing
tands, moncy and biood through the Fes the iers
and advising them strongly to take to the wew faith which there s ver:
Jittle trouble toido, when under the intuence of It Hes st i shl
dintourse by bringing forward the soldier’s kead o the nifives, telins el
it would speak nr subset, whieh I waited o Bear oxpadiing @b

ot ',Lx 5
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ventriloguism, but was disappointed. _Several of the natives put their ears
to the skull’s mouth and, fancying it spoke, would start off like mad running
over the plain. Patars ow went through the new form of religion, the
whole of the natives forming in single line and passing under Patara’s
ight arm, and so into the chureh where they again formed into double
line, back to back, the forty Taranaki’s who had arrived with Patara
continually runmng round them shouting, hallooing and going through
many old-fashioned forms of i one of the
each individually to see if they werg affected by his influence. Finding
they were completely under his influenee, they were then singly taken ol
of by the sheulders by three or four of the principals and well shaken
until they spoke or gesticulated some of their mad peculiar tongue. They
were then taken by the hand and swung round until so insensible they
could not stand and then taken out on the green, where they remained ou
the ground in a state of stupidity for seme da)s, some of them actually
going for four or five days without touching meat or drink, The natives
remained in both churches all night, going through their worship and
ringing the bells, I mysel s]u,"pmg in the church with them. The most
fearful scenes of were enacted during
the night.

Sunday. February 26th: Everybody, men, women and children in the
village converted to the new faith. Daybreak, ehureh bells ring for prayer,
the usual service, there being no Sunday observed in their religion, all days:
in the week bmng alike. Before entering the church and after coming out
again the natives all went round the post several times muttering their
gibberish and asking me if I understood them, as they said it was a
Ianguage of their own given them by God, end that no one else but them-
selves could speak it. After service Patara sent for mo to go with him to
Rev. Mr. Volkner’s house, where he intended selling everything off by
nuetion, and wished me to buy the fowls, which I declined. He then went
up and ransacked the house, selling everything to the natives for a mere
nothing, even horses, and some fine ones among them, fetching 5. each.
The books, medicines and bedstead were the only things they loft, and
Patara told me that anything I wished for in the house I could have for
the asking, but I declined the offer. The natives then went back to their
prayers, Kereopa leeturing to them the greater part of the day, earrying
the soldier’s head about with him under his arm. During his lceture the
newly-converted natives were again put under Patara’s infuence ou
aceount of fresh natives arriving. They only ext onee a day, and that at
sunset. The feast was now commeneed and was gone through the same as
on the previous day. They then returned to their worship, somo remaining
in the church all night, a1d others walking round the sacred post, but the
greater part lying all night on the plains in the open air in a state of
stupidity and nudity. 'The principal portion of these were women.

Page 37.
4Dear friends being informed that you are afraid of the natives who
have lately come here i vrite you these few lines to inform you that you
need not have the slightest of fear in your hearts for they do not intend
you the slightest of harm. There is only one person implieated in the
murder of the minister and i dare say you know his name so you must
rot blame & whole flock beeause thére is one seabby sheep in it. Iam
desired by the natives to inform you that if to-morrow is a fine day they the
natives wish to see you all at cight o’clock preeisely do not be afraid bus
come boldly forward for if there was the slightest of danger i would be
sure and warn you of it.
So no more at prosent but remain,
Your friend,
W'ILLIA‘M BUTLER.

This letter is for all the Furopeans at Turanga.

Herald Print, Gishorne.
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